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REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
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Cayman Islands
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Room 1111, No.5 Wangjiang Second Street
Huangge Town, Nansha District
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PRC
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135 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong
Kowloon

Hong Kong
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Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
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Hong Kong
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CORE FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL DATA
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REVENUE FROM INNOVATIVEBUSINESS  Unit: RMB  Thousand Unit: RMB  Thousand R R Unit: RMB  Thousand
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AVERAGE DIVIDENDS PER SHARE IN 2024
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HK$16.83 cents
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PAYOUT RATIO
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In 2024, the Company made two dividend payments, totaling HK$76.03 million
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CORE FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL DATA
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LEADING DATA GOVERNANCE
AHIBIRAE

EFFICIENT DATA PROCESSING CAPACITY
B BIRERELED

38 health industy master data base, Covering pharmaceutical retail,
industry supervision, medicine, pharmacy and life sciences

SBERBITRERBA FEBRTE - TREE - B2 - WENLHNE

The Company’s machine automatic cleaning rate exceeds 97%, accuracy
rate exceeds 99%, and response speed reaches T+1

DERE A BEERBIBOTY - HERBBO% - RREMEEZRITH

'ACCURATE DATA VALUE MINING ABILITY

RENBIREEEZEED
“Tiangong No.1" commercial data smart middleware +"Woodpecker” smart
health and medical mi e have si

our data value realisation.
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Extensive Network of Industry Collaborat

RiZEENERSERLE
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Over 170,000 118,000

O Pharmacies sic
1 7+"‘ 11.8u=x
sic
Retail 250,000 100,000
Pharmacy Network o] Clerks Under Mangement  Monthly Active Clerks
25a4 10mA
maes T 2u 00
282 Million 2.5 Million

Members Under Mangement  Monthly Active Members

L o 2.82mx 250m4
EERR REEA

160 Hospitals

CORE COMPETENCE #Z 1) &

THE WOODPECKER MEDICAL LARGE MODEL DRIVEN BY Al TECHNOLOGY, STIMULATING CORE POTEN
Al 515 [ AR BRAREE

—o 160x
B
Health Management . P
Collaborative Network 65%:;’:“ D s
femEE rers
BE@E

o Over 5 Million Served Patients

00-+aA
RIEEE
M a::‘gi:::em 273,800 Served Patients
FX5 27.38mA
Medical Collaboration vl
Network 13,400 Connected Doctors
BRAFES 18.4us
IMDT Over 17,000 Registered Doctors
1.7+aA
BfEE

—

HONOURS AND CERTIFICATIONS

REHERE

7 F

» BB ERE

ABUNDANT APPLICATION SERVICE SUPPORT
LENEAREXE

Health
assistant for
individual
customers

Cife =B F

Business
decision-making

BAREER

Retail Medical record
pharmacy quality control

SERELR RERRER

Physical Medical record
examination management

WSS REGEER

All-round Ecological Empowerment System

2HAAEREBEERER

MEDIA MATRIX

fi2%E
BH

CONFERENCE PLATFORM
EHEFE

RN E

1o AN o
EHO EJEEH N 7 <
GoxBe  REEN O YREA  FEER
/
Qi RSE ~ R G
TOERICRE  SERRL  mmkvieh  eRETRh

h, sncnan
B Phy:
@ SRS i e

R Yiipel

The Group has established a portfolio of healthcare industry conferences/exhibition events and

media services to build a valuable ecological chain for industry participants. It is also the main

scene of the Group's product marketing and “traffic monetisation”.

AREBRNREEXTR/ FREDNENRIBES - 5h¥$§%ﬂ§ﬁf§$
s,

R ARtEAKEERTHER "REER" NIRSR

CPEO held successfully for 17 sessions, has become a forward-looking industry conference with
leading position in China's healthcare industry in terms of scale and i There
were 8,000 official participants and more than 60,000 participants, reaching a new high in scale.

BEEFCANENR+LE  RERSTERRERRIEES - REER  HEHE
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Industrial Ecological Platform had reached to a total of nearly one million industry professionals.
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The first member units of the Guangdong Data Element Industry Association (EE& SR EEE£HE),;
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Certified by the Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong Province as the Guangdong Province Big Health Pharmaceutical Data Engineering Technology Research Center (/&5 4 A fif (2 28 S8 TIZ R Hiif s ).
Selected as one of the “First Batch of Data Element Enterprises in Guangzhou (/I & #t 8% £ =1 %)" as a “Data Technology Service Enterprise (B iR 5)";
Self-developed medical large model, “Woodpecker Medical Large Model”, secured the top position on the CMB evaluation list;

“Woodpecker Medical Large Model” stood out in the Medbench ranking, achieving remarkable results of ranking 5th in the comprehensive list and 3rd in the complex medical reasoning sub-category. * ’ *
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O

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



The following is a summary of the Group's published results
and assets and liabilities for the past five financial years. The
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 is extracted from the consolidated financial
statements of 2022, 2023 and this annual report, and the
financial information for the years ended 31 December 2020,
2021 is extracted from the Prospectus.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 7

8§58 2

UTEAEEREZRENBRFEENE A HME
BEREERBEME - #E£20224F - 2023F
M2024F 12 A3MBIEEFENFBEREB
2022F 2023 F G B M BFHRR R AFER - &
£20204 2021512 A3 BILEENTBE
BB RRER -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 20234 20224 20214 2020
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue PN 403,728 396,194 356,668 324,166 202,073
Cost of sales 35 E AR (170,527)  (172,722)  (197,560)  (131,527) (71,867)
Gross profit EH 233,201 223,472 159,108 192,639 130,206
Net profit S F 111,823 100,940 54,213 71,978 65,329
Profit Attributable to BAREEA
Owners of the Parent P4 R F 110,649 102,032 55,758 78,813 67,926
Non-Current Assets FEREBEE 142,797 188,477 94,285 16,609 35,046
Current Assets MEVEE 668,099 609,264 702,188 500,414 507,161
Current Liabilities MEBE 92,345 84,261 97,789 96,138 55,282
Net Current Assets mMEEEFE 575,754 525,003 604,399 404,276 451,879
Non-Current Liabilities FEREBAE 9,744 13,026 5,448 4,974 22,300
Total Equity REREEE 708,807 700,454 693,236 415,911 464,625
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SERHE

In 2024, despite the complex and variable global economy
situation, the healthcare industry showed strong resilience
and vitality due to support from national policies and the
promotion of the Al technology revolution. According to the
"Chinese Medical Terminal Market Blue Book (2023)" ( {#
B BE 24X im T 35 85 7 #£(2023)) ) published by the Sinohealth
Industry Research Institute, although the growth rate was
slightly slowed down, the pharmaceutical industry above
designated size showed an overall upward trend. The total
health expenditure of China in 2023 only accounted for 7.2%
of the total GDP, representing a large room for improvement
as compared to developed countries. The above factors,
coupled with the intensification of population ageing, changes
in the disease spectrum, and the growing health demands
of the public, indicate that the healthcare industry has large
potential. The comprehensive breakthrough of Al technology
enabled the popularization of the Al concept, accelerating the
digital and intelligent transformation and R&D and innovation
of the healthcare industry. With the continuous promotion of
the “Healthy China” strategy and digital healthcare policies
strengthening the inclusiveness and accessibility of healthcare
services, the data resources of the healthcare industry received
unprecedented attention, which provides vast development
space for the Group in the Al scenario application expansion,
data expansion, R&D and innovation and other aspects.

The Group actively responded to the call for national policies.
Leveraging abundant data resources and industrial resources,
the Group focused on the Al healthcare scenario applications
and research of data value and assisted customers in quality
and efficiency improvement, striving to build a digital and
intelligent health management system that upholds “patient-
centrism” across the entire life cycle, thus realizing the
corporate mission, being “developing smart healthcare
industry and promoting smart healthy life”.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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In 2024, Al drove the metamorphosis of the Company.
We reshaped our strategic layout and anchored our
path ahead. With a dual drive of “Al + industry think tank”,
we fully released the leading capabilities of Sinohealth Big
Data Research Institute in Al large model development and
applications, and strengthened the support of the think
tank for Sinohealthcare Industry Research Institute in policy
interpretation and industry insight. The Group exerted its
ecological influence to integrate and optimize resources across
the entire industry chain, accelerate the efficient conversion
of clients and users and efficiently empower the industry,
thus enhancing the Company’s core competitiveness. We
have three growth curves that jointly move forward around
the vision of “world leading digital technology company in
life science field”, exploiting a brand-new growth pattern. On
the To B side, with the Woodpecker healthcare large model
and in-hospital and out-of-hospital data resources as the core
bases, we provide the healthcare industry with digital and
intelligent solutions, and continue to deepen our foothold in
the out-of-hospital market while expanding the in-hospital
innovative business. On the To C side, we adhere to “patient-
centrism”, provide individuals with management of full life
cycle health and course of diseases, continuously expand
the scale and explore more scenarios of value realization. On
the To R side, we focus on R&D of life science and conduct
cooperation in digital and intelligent innovation, conversion
of innovative medicine projects and clinical research as well as
investment and mergers with partners, thus cultivating new
growth points.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SR

2024F > AIEEB ARG E BRMEEHKE
CHHERITME - AR+ EXSE &
WERE) - 7T 0 B R RSB I FEb A AL KR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SERHE

In 2024, we significantly increased investment in R&D,
achieving brilliant R&D and application results of Al
large model. Based on original Al technology, the Group
self-developed the “Woodpecker Healthcare Large Model”.
Leveraging abundant data parameters and leading model
training techniques, we constructed multidimensional and
comprehensive assessment capability and won the top spot
with a score of 97.09 in the CMB appraisal, ranking fifth
overall and third in the complex medical reasoning category
on MedBench, which means our technical power has obtained
high recognition from authority. Woodpecker Healthcare
Large Model comprehensively empowered the Company’s
businesses and, with applications across multiple scenarios
such as retail pharmacies, physical examination organizations,
C-end users, medical record management and quality
control, provided functions including Al pharmacists, Al
health consultants and health assistants. We will continue to
deepen the development of Al Agents in industrial application
scenarios the efficiently empower the Company'’s businesses,
thus fostering the improvement of efficiency and high-quality
development of the health industry. In terms of industry
cooperation and recognition, the Company became one of
the first batch of member units of Guangdong Date Elements
Industry Association in 2024. In June, it was recognized as
the Guangdong Big Health Pharmaceutical Data Element
Technology Research Center by Department of Science and
Technology of Guangdong Province, becoming the sole
healthcare enterprise in Guangdong to receive this distinction.
In September, it was further designated as a Guangzhou Data
Element Enterprise, demonstrating the Company’s outstanding
capabilities in Al model applications. In February 2025, the
Company was selected into the “2024 Guangzhou Artificial
Intelligence Innovation and Development List-Enterprises with
Highest Market Value” by Guangzhou Municipal Science
and Technology Bureau, which proves again the Company's
market competitiveness.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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In 2024, we realized growth in financial results and
significant improvement of shareholder return by
leveraging our steady business operation. Through
constructing a comprehensive one-stop digital and intelligent
solution system that includes Al agent applications tailored
for healthcare, pharmacies, business, health management
and R&D, we have obtained brilliant commercialization
achievements.

- In terms of digital and intelligent decisions, we provided
targeted solutions for external and internal markets for
the medical product suppliers. With outstanding data
insight, industry insight and a deep understanding of
customers, we have been consolidating our leading
position in the market.

- In terms of digital and intelligent retails, the digital and
intelligent solutions with the SIC system as the core
strongly advanced forward, and have obtained high
recognition from both national top 100 and district-
level and county-level top 100 chains. The solutions
efficiently promoted the delivery of medicine services,
growth in customer performance and special upgrade
of digitalization and intelligence, significantly enhancing
the loyalty and consumption willingness of C-end
members of pharmacies.

- In terms of innovative drugs, we built a service loop of “Date
Insight Service + Medical Education Platform + Patient
Education Platform + Industry Ecology Platform”,
providing data insight services covering “in-hospital and
out-of-hospital” for the R&D side of innovative drugs.
By connecting intelligent iMDT platform with specialists

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SR
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12 CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SERHE

and doctors in the oncology area, we provided a
professional and efficient medical education platform
for medical product suppliers and doctors, while
providing more authoritative diagnosis and treatment
services for tumour patients. By providing serious
patients with the full-course disease management
service and patient support services, we assisted
medical device companies and medical institutions in
the optimization of patient management process. We
also constructed a pan-ecosystem exchange platform
with high value spanning “industry, academia, research,
healthcare, capital and commerce” of innovative
medicines through CPIE (FEiR ).

In terms of industry leadership, we held the first “Al for
Health” conference during the 17th CPEO convened
in 2024, to lead the Al wave of the medical health
industry.

In terms of overseas expansion, with the further
clarification of cross-border data policies, we actively
expanded overseas businesses, and carried out in-
depth cooperation with well-known multinational
pharmaceutical companies and international investment
institutions, injecting new growth momentum into the
Company's international development.

In terms of shareholder return, we implemented a
proactive dividend policy, and the total amount of two
dividend distributions during the year was HK$76.03
million, which embodies the Company’s solid and
steady finance and obtains recognition from the market
on the Company’s long-term value.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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Looking ahead to 2025, with the continuous deepening
of medical reform and comprehensive popularization of
the Al revolution, we will follow the times and execute
breakthroughs while maintaining our core values. \We
will, under the strategic direction of “Healthy China”, insist
on the dual drive of “Al techniques + industry think tank”
and fully exert the leading advantages of Sinohealth in data
and industry resources. We will increase our investments
in scientific research and put more effort into R&D, to
comprehensively upgrade the “Woodpecker Medical Large
Model” and refine the product and service system with five
intelligent agents as the core. While satisfying customer
needs with higher efficiency and high quality, we will develop
more products of Al+ series and empower the industry
transformation and upgrading, thus creating long-term value
for customers. As the business foundation keeps consolidating
and our core competitiveness continues to improve, we will
eventually realize the business metamorphosis of To B and
business zooming of To C and To R. We always adhere to the
value of customer orientation, responsibility and commitment
as well as development and sharing, striving to improve
the brand influence of the Company within the industry.
Meanwhile, we will utilize capital market resources to provide
strong support for the Company’s rapid development.
Adhering to the spirit of courage to innovate and change,
we are committed to creating a digital and intelligent health
management system that upholds “patient-centrism” across
the entire life cycle and fulfilling the Company’s mission of
“developing smart healthcare industry and promoting smart
healthy life”.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SERHE

We're sincerely grateful to all shareholders, partners and
social friends who have chosen to walk with us. It has been
your continuous support and trust that has supported our
growth. We will steadfastly promote the in-depth application
of advanced technologies including big data, Al, and cloud
computing in the field of healthcare technology, helping
the digital and intelligent transformation and upgrade of
the healthcare industry. We are willing to work together
with industry partners to jointly build an interaction service
ecosystem connecting medical, pharmaceutical, patients,
physical examination and other processes, striving to become
a world-leading digital technology company in the life science
field. We firmly believe that the power of smart technology
will not only inject strong momentum and vitality into the
industry, but also create a healthy and beautiful life for more
people.

Wu Yushu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, as the aging population grew, the disease spectrum
changed and public health demands increased, China
continued to deepen reforms in the healthcare system, the
pharmaceutical sector and the medical insurance system.
A series of policies were actively introduced to promote
the development of a healthy China. Under the new wave
of technological revolution with the breakthrough of Al
democratization and explosive Al applications, and the
continuous extensive and intensive deepening of the national
“Data Elements X “ plan, the healthcare industry was being
restructured and upgraded at a notably accelerated pace.
According to the Sinohealth Industry Research Institute, the
overall pharmaceutical and healthcare industry has grown at a
slower rate while competition has intensified. Meanwhile, the
vast and diverse individual health needs have yet to be fully
met. Consequently, driven by multiple factors such as macro
policies, industry trends and technological changes, industry
players like medical product suppliers and pharmaceutical
retail enterprises were placing greater emphasis on products
and services based on Al large models, cloud computing
and big data. This was aimed at enhancing market decision-
making, precision marketing and product R&D in terms of
efficiency and quality.

Leveraging 18 years of deep-rooted experience in the
healthcare industry, the Company has built advantages in
data assets, technology, industry insight and the industrial
ecosystem. We adhered to an Al-driven strategic upgrading
and product iteration. We offered our clients a comprehensive
one-stop digital and intelligent solution that includes Al agent
applications tailored for healthcare, pharmacies, business,
health management and R&D five scenarios. By empowering
clients in digital transformation, market expansion, client
management and operational decision-making, we helped
them achieve efficient business decisions and precisely connect
with the market, thus enhancing operational efficiency and
driving performance growth.
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16 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Performance Overview

During the Reporting Period, as a leader in digital
intelligence for the healthcare industry, the Company
leveraged its established two engines of “Tiangong
No.1"” commercial data smart middleware and
“Woodpecker Medical Middleware Platform”,
along with high-quality data resources, deep
professional insights and cutting-edge large model
distillation technology to develop a industry-leading
vertical model, Woodpecker Medical Large Model.
This further strengthened the Company’s core
competitive advantages. Major breakthroughs in core
technologies have injected robust momentum into the
Company’s growth, driving a comprehensive strategic
transformation, optimised and upgraded product mix,
and significant improvements in operational efficiency
and management effectiveness. Additionally, through
the operation of an all-round ecological empowerment
system, the continuous expansion of the industrial
cooperation network and the market scale, the
Company achieved steady performance growth and
paved the way for a new growth trajectory.

- Technological innovation has unleashed
robust momentum and steadily improved
profitability. Benefiting from the deepening
application of Al large models, the Company has
made remarkable progress in efficient resource
utilization, product optimization and operational
cost reduction, driving overall efficiency
improvement. Gross profit margin increased from
56.4% in FY2023 to 57.8% this financial year,
representing an improvement of 1.4 percentage
points, and net profit margin increased from
25.5% in FY2023 to 27.7% this financial year,
representing an increase of 2.2%. This year, the
Company’s net profit reached approximately
RMB111.8 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 10.8%, demonstrating
a stable and sustainable financial growth trend.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Innovative business has delivered
remarkable performance, paving the way for
a new growth trajectory. The To B in-hospital
business continued to innovate, of which the
business models in innovative drug and patient
management and the intelligent iIMDT platform
were maturing, our To B in-hospital innovative
business experienced rapid growth in scale this
financial year. Revenue from innovative business
reached RMB48.4 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 86.5%. This
has signified the Company's successful strategic
upgrade of its product mix and the creation of
a new growth pattern beyond its To B out-of-
hospital established operations.

R&D investment continued to increase,
strongly driving breakthroughs in core Al
technology. R&D expenses for this financial year
increased by approximately 6.0% year-on-year,
with the additional funds primarily allocated to
computing infrastructure and the recruitment
of high-level R&D talents. This has led to the
successful development of Woodpecker Medical
Large Model, which is dedicated to the industry
verticals of healthcare, solidifying the Company’s
existing technical barriers and promoting the
widespread application of Al tools. This not only
significantly enhanced our management but
also provided strong support for future product
system iterations and sustained growth.
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18 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

- A comprehensive and increasingly
refined ecosystem has driven the precise
empowerment of high-quality industry
development through Al products. Relying
on profound industry expertise, forward-
looking research leadership, robust resource
integration and comprehensive systematic
operations, the Company has established
an extensive “doctor, medicine, patient”
cooperation network. The vast accumulated
data and diverse application scenarios precisely
empowered the deep application of Al and
the high-quality development of the industry.
This year, we cooperated with 1,230 corporate
clients, and as of 31 December 2024, our
clients in total included 2,853 pharmaceutical
retail enterprises, over 170,000 pharmacies,
more than 460 hospitals and over 650 physical
examination institutions. We managed over
245,000 pharmacy staff, served more than 282
million pharmacy members, and have established
connections with over 134,000 doctors.

- The Company accelerated market expansion
with a significant increase in contracted
amounts. As of 31 December 2024, the
Company had signed over 600 contracts
pending execution, with a total contract value of
approximately RMB101.5 million', representing
an increase of approximately 44.2% compared to
the same period last year. This has demonstrated
our strong momentum in market expansion
and laid a solid foundation for our operations in
2025.

L The value of contracts signed but pending execution is based
on a unified statistical basis for sales revenue measurement,
with due consideration given to the inherent uncertainties and
potential changes subsequent to the Reporting Period
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operational Analysis of Principal Business

Al-driven strategic upgrade, charting a new
development blueprint

To better address the demands of industry
transformation and upgrading and the need of clients
for improved quality and efficiency, the Company has
introduced and implemented a new strategic plan
based on its existing businesses:

- With a dual drive of “Al + industry think
tank”, we solidified our development foundation
by fully leveraging the leading capabilities of
Sinohealth Big Data Research Institute in data
governance and Al large model applications, and
strengthening the support of such a forward-
looking think tank for Sinohealthcare Industry
Research Institute in policy interpretation and
industry trend insight.

- All-round operational ecosystem efficiently
empowering the development of
healthcare industry. We further expanded
the ecological influence already established,
accelerated the efficient conversion of clients
and users, empowered high-efficiency industry
operations and continuously enhanced our core
competitiveness.
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20 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

We pursued a three-pronged approach to
expand new growth patterns. In the To B
business, we continued to deepen our foothold
in the out-of-hospital market while expanding
the in-hospital innovative business to assist in
the digital and intelligent transformation of the
industry and create value for our clients. In the
To C business, we accelerated product iteration
and innovation to enlarge our user base, deeply
explored diversified monetization scenarios and
built a full-lifecycle health management system.
In the To R business, we focused on a closed-
loop in biomedical R&D, cultivating growth
points as new drivers for the Company. Through
the coordinated development of these three
segments, we have built Al intelligent agent
applications across healthcare, pharmacies,
business, health management and R&D five
scenarios, completing the strategic upgrade of
our product mix and continuously diversifying
the drivers of growth.

To ensure effective implementation of the
strategy, the Company has adjusted its
organizational structure, upgraded talent
composition and optimized its distribution
mechanism to further improve per-capita
efficiency. Additionally, by increasing R&D
investments and popularizing Al tools, we
have further enhanced our R&D capabilities
and operational quality, achieving significant
improvements in company management level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Continuously deepening established businesses
while exploring new growth trajectories

— Analysis by client types

In the To B business, we continued to consolidate
our established advantageous position in the out-
of-hospital market while expanding our in-hospital
innovative business. By integrating “in-hospital +
out-of-hospital” healthcare and pharmaceutical data,
we built a diversified, omnichannel healthcare industry
data base. Relying on the Woodpecker Al Medical
Large Model as technological engine, we provided
Al-empowered digital and intelligent solutions to
medical product suppliers and pharmaceutical retailers,
including:

Digital and intelligent decision-making solutions:
It primarily includes our cloud products of intelligent
decision-making for medical product suppliers.
In the out-of-hospital market, by focusing on the
major factors of “user, production and scene”, the
Company offered a comprehensive solution that
includes “omnichannel data + digital and intelligent
insight services + an intelligent Daa$S system” covering
retail market insights, new retail insights, DTP and
hospital market insights, consumer market insights and
comprehensive market insights. This could help our
clients enhance their decision-making efficiency in areas
such as strategic planning, production, marketing and
market positioning. In the in-hospital market, we have
adapted the mature model built in the out-of-hospital
market, deeply understood client needs, accelerated
product innovation, and helped clients establish digital
and intelligent decision-making capabilities to improve
efficiency. Through the synergy of efforts in the out-
of-hospital and in-hospital markets, we provided
resolutions for clients in a more comprehensive and
precise manner. As of 31 December 2024, our service
of providing digital and intelligent decision-making
solutions has been adopted by 661 corporate clients,
with the top 30 medical product suppliers accounting
for 96.67 %, indicating our market-leading and growing
client base.
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22 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Digital and intelligent retail solutions: It primarily
includes our cloud products of intelligent retail
solutions. In terms of chain stores, we offered a one-
stop digital and intelligent product centred on SIC, a
“system + strategy + service + content” package, to
empower medical retail enterprises in improving digital
intelligence and pharmacy management efficiency. This
also created a “patient-centered” health management
portal to increase loyalty and consumption willingness
among pharmacy members. As of 31 December
2024, the cumulative number of pharmaceutical retail
enterprises served has reached 2,853, positioning us as
a market leader with continuous growth. In terms of
industrial enterprises, we provided an integrated full-
process and full-filed digital and intelligent marketing
solution covering planning, execution, tracking and
review, to help medical product suppliers achieve
efficient service delivery and drive revenue growth.

Digital and intelligent medical solutions: It primarily
includes our cloud products of intelligent medical care.
We collaborated with pharmaceutical and medical
device companies as well as medical institutions
to provide full-course disease management and
support services for patients with critical illnesses. The
collaboration enhanced the continuity, convenience
and professionalism of the patient management,
helping device companies and medical institutions
improve patient management. This has been highly
recognized by our clients. As of 31 December 2024,
we have cumulatively served 273,800 patients. In
addition, by establishing and operating the intelligent
iMDT platform, we have connected experts and doctors
in the field of oncology from various hospitals to offer
authoritative treatment and health management plans
for tumor patients. This has helped patients access to
more appropriate medications, treatments and health
management services. As of 31 December 2024, the
iMDT platform has registered over 17,000 oncologists,
held more than 800 MDT conferences and connected
over 134,000 doctors.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

BESERBRAFR T EAARIEHEHD
BETEERIED HLEHK - =BH
WODBREEBEFESICERRAEZLE
[RSE+ R+ RE+ AR B — W NEHE
tER BDHBESTELETKEEL
FHA - IR BEE B IRE R - RIRFITIE A
BEAYLINEAREEREAD 18
SEEFEENAHREREESHE  BE
202412 A318 ' REMNEBEZTE D
FRFE283K ' 6 EREENRMISE
A BEFEER - AT XK 27
HBREEEERS - W7 BHIER
ERENZ2SHOBEESLHBR
TR DI EFERMHERNERBER
BEdpgE  HMEREEER -

BEEEBARAR T ERAFREMHEM
BEBBEZRIER - AR HEEREE
MEEKEBELXRESIE REREERM
EREEE+BEEIRREAR B8
BEEEPABENEEE  BRMEMESRE
M EPERCENBEERERSEE
EERRE SIXEFMNRER  #HlE
202412 A318 * RRIE EFTRE S
F2738BA - NAERBEREREZLR
BELIMDT ¥ & @ EETRERERAE
BESER B4E RERBEBERHE
EHNZERBIREREEREH R
RESBEREICREESHNEY - A&
MEEEEERS - 812024512 A 31
B iMDT¥&ifiERBEAHSECE 2
BB1.78Z  ABEFAAMDTIZES
ZZ2TEBA800Y - ERBAHE R
B13.48 -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the To C business, based on the ecological
advantages and leading professional capabilities
established in business ecosystem, and in response to
the increasing personal health demands of individual
consumers, the Company has accelerated product
iteration and innovation, expanded the user
base and provided “light” and “heavy” digital
intelligent service solutions.

“Light” refers to health management. Through
cooperation with medical institutions and physical
examination centers, we provided a smart health
management cloud series of products. This offered
digital intelligent health management solutions (the
“Woodpecker AI-MDT") for users who underwent a
check-up and populations at risk for chronic diseases,
including report interpretation, health follow-up for
sub-healthy groups, single-disease management and
personalized physical examinations. These services have
met the entire post-examination health management
needs, enabling early intervention and treatment while
enhancing personal health. This year, our services
reached over 5.073 million people, representing a year-
on-year increase of 106.39% as compared to 2023.

"Heavy” refers to critical iliness management. For
tumor patients, we have developed the Woodpecker
Oncology Multidisciplinary Diagnosis and Treatment
Platform. This smart medical cloud platform aligns with
authoritative clinical guidelines and enables precise
matching of oncology expert teams to provide joint
multidisciplinary solutions. Consequently, we effectively
address individual patient needs, shorten the time for
accessing top medical experts, enhance the efficiency
of multidisciplinary treatments and improve overall
treatment quality.
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24 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

In the To R business, the Company fully leveraged
its leading advantages in the To B business. Based
on deep insights into innovative drug and device
R&D, commercialization and capital operations, we
were committed to providing a digital intelligence-
driven platform for biopharmaceutical R&D. Covering
the full lifecycle from clinical development to post-
market marketing for drugs and devices, we offered
comprehensive digital and intelligent solutions in
areas such as program design, intelligent systems and
operational services to innovative pharmaceutical and
medical device enterprises. Meanwhile, the Company
integrated existing resources and built an industrial
cooperative ecosystem through the collaboration
with medical institutions, innovative drug companies,
CROs, CMOs and pharmaceutical retail enterprises.
The Company also expanded its strategic layout in the
innovative drug and device field through investments,
mergers and acquisitions, integrating capital and
technology to incubate targets with development
potential and synergistic effects, then exploring new
growth trajectories.

— Analysis by application scenarios

Smart Decision Cloud. The Company's revenue from
Smart Decision Cloud was RMB254.5 million for the
year, with 661 corporate customers purchasing Smart
Decision Cloud services. The repurchase sales rate for
corporate customers reached 87.0%. Among them,
CHIS, one of our main DaaS products, achieved good
market performance, with the number of customers
continuing to increase and revenue increasing by
38.6% year-on-year compared to 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart Decision Cloud is mainly designated for medical
product suppliers. Driven by all-channel industry
data, the Company built a decision support system
of "3 big data X 3 big services + digital insight DaaS
system” to empower the main scenarios of research
and development, production, distribution, marketing
and end-user retailing of medical device products,
helping medical product suppliers to establish efficient
and intelligent decision-making capabilities. 3 big data
types include: (i) sales data from all channels, including
retail pharmacies (including county), new retail, DTP
and hospitals; (ii) consumer data, including consumer
drug purchasing behavior and consumer drug
purchasing mind; and (iii) retail terminal data, including
drug sales potential and pharmacy characteristics.
The three categories of insight consulting services
cover multiple scenarios of “user”, “production”and
“scene”, including: (i) drug market insight service; (ii)
consumer research insight service; (iii) terminal accurate
strategy information service. At the same time, the
Company also provided integrated DaaS systems for
retail decision-making driven by data, including CHIS,
LinkedSee, Pharmacy Connect, Linghe and Lingsu
System, which combined professional research models
and intelligent visual boards to help customers conduct
governance analysis on internal data and external data
interaction insight, and support the decision-making
process of production and marketing, market layout
and drug research and development. The Company's
digital insight Daa$S system has not only been highly
recognised by top medical product suppliers, but has
also achieved cooperation with a well-known national
laboratory and leading investment institutions.
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26 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Our platform events, like CPEO, CPIE (the
Pharmaceutical Innovation Ecological Conference)
and TMEC, were based on digital intelligence
insight and analysis, and carried out multi-level and
multidimensional discussions covering such topic as
from the prediction and analysis of the development
trend of health production ecology to the exploration
of paths in various branches, which provided customers
with forward-looking, systematic exchange of ideas
and information, strategic integration and precise
interaction of diverse resources, so as to further improve
the interconnection efficiency between industries and
promote resources optimal allocation. Meanwhile,
these platforms also set scenarios for the Company
to conduct marketing and “traffic monetisation” to
industrial customers, helping the Company to conduct
in-depth business negotiations with customers, reduce
marketing costs and improve marketing efficiency.

Smart Retail Cloud. Benefiting from the powerful
empowerment of Al technology, the product structure
of Smart Retail Cloud has been optimized and
upgraded, and both the unit price and the number of
customers have increased. The Company’s revenue
from Smart Retail Cloud was RMB88.9 million for the
year, representing a year-on-year increase of 24.2%.
As of 31 December 2024, 694 corporate customers
purchased the Company’s Smart Retail Cloud services,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
11.6%. The repurchase sales rate for corporate
customers was 83.8%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the chain side, the Company integrated digital
intelligence functions such as member management,
category management, intelligent marketing, chronic
disease management, and pharmaceutical services
with SIC as the core system, and established a “one-
stop” data centralized analysis and digital precision
marketing capabilities, helping medical retail enterprises
to complete digital intelligence upgrades, improve
the management efficiency and level of medical retail
enterprises’ pharmacies, and improve the membership
loyalty and consumption willingness of our cooperative
pharmacies. As of 31 December 2024, the Company
had established cooperation with more than 2,853
medical retail enterprises and more than 118,000
pharmacy stores for its SIC products, maintaining a
leading position in the market and continuing to rise.
During the Reporting Period, the Company managed
more than 245,000 pharmacy staff and served more
than 282 million pharmacy members' through the SIC
system, of which 107,000 were monthly active staff and 2.5
million were monthly active pharmacy members. The
Company is actively exploring business models for
monetizing personal traffic in combination with existing
application scenarios.

Compiled based on the total number of membership cards
issued by officially operated pharmaceutical retail enterprises
in collaboration with the Company. However, as the same
individual may obtain membership cards from multiple
pharmaceutical retail enterprises/pharmacies, and due to
various limiting factors, the data represents a non-deduplicated
count.
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28 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

On the industrial side, leveraging Al large models and
data advantages, the Company analysed the needs,
preferences, and behaviours of retail pharmacies and
end patients. It provided medical product suppliers with
a comprehensive digital intelligence-based integrated
marketing solution that covers the entire process
from planning, implementation, tracking to review
across both industrial and retail chain domains. The
solution includes specialized services such as “supplier-
retailer connectivity, campaign planning and product
development, professional training and empowerment,
IP creation, industry-leading media operations, public
domain advertising, and performance monitoring”.
These services helped clients precisely reach their target
audiences, enhance marketing returns, improve patient
awareness and trust in pharmaceutical products, and
ultimately contributed to better treatment outcomes
and enhanced patient health management.

We also hold PHCF, MASC and other industry events,
which has promoted commodity trading of the
healthcare industry and high-quality development by
panoramic data analysis, policy trends interpretation,
health consumption new trends interpretation and
product display, etc.

Smart Health Management Cloud. Benefiting
from the successful incubation of the intelligent iMDT
platform business and collaborations with multiple
top-tier clients, the Company’s performance has
experienced rapid growth. During the year, revenue
from the Smart Health Management Cloud business
amounted to approximately RMB22.1 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
57.1%. The business has now achieved an initial market
scale and continued to grow steadily.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of health management, the Company leveraged
the Woodpecker Medical Large Model and medical
knowledge graph, through collaboration with medical
institutions and health management organizations,
providing the “Woodpecker AI-MDT “ intelligent health
management solutions for medical examination users and
individuals at risk for chronic diseases. The Woodpecker
Al-MDT has consolidated the consensus of more than
300 experts from tertiary grade A hospitals across 16
disciplines. By integrating professional medical guidelines,
it has established a medical knowledge graph covering
31 disease types, 1,770 diseases, and 801 individual
indicators. Additionally, it has developed 10 major
disease risk assessment models, which could ensure a
comprehensively analysis on medical examination data
and then produce more personalised, comprehensive
and professional reports. The Company has established a
“patient-centred” system that integrates multi-disciplinary
and multi-disease risk assessments with post-examination
health management. Equipped with AI-MDT health
management, health follow-up, single-disease chronic
disease management, and private domain membership
management functions, it has enabled comprehensive
post-examination health management through early
warning monitoring, chronic disease management,
medication purchasing, re-examinations, and continuous
assessment. This facilitated early intervention and
treatment while assisting medical examination centres
in building an intelligent and digital health management
service system, thereby enhancing service capabilities
and profitability. Benefiting from mature technologies
and differentiated advantages, AI-MDT has been widely
recognized by partner clients and medical examination
users. As of 31 December 2024, the Smart Health
Management Cloud has made contact with approximately
160 hospitals and 650 private physical examination
centers. During the year, the A-MDT system served over 5.073
million patients, representing an increase of 106.39%
compared to the same period in 2023. The system's
highest daily processing volume for medical examination
report interpretation exceeded 40,300 cases, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 34.33%
compared to the same period in 2023, demonstrating a
significant enhancement in product capabilities and strong
customer recognition.
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30 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

In terms of severe illness, the Company has been
closely connected with tumor experts and doctors at
different levels of hospitals based on the intelligent
iMDT platform and professional operation capability,
providing medical product suppliers and doctors with
a professional, efficient medical and educational
platform, enabling tumor patients to receive
authoritative diagnostic and treatment service plans
and health management plans that promote patients
to receive more matching drugs, treatments and
health management services. As at 31 December
2024, the iMDT platform has accumulated more than
17,000 registered oncologists, with more than 800
MDT conferences organized, and reached more than
134,000 doctors. The tumor types currently cover
colorectal cancer, lung cancer, stomach cancer, liver
cancer, brain glioma and breast cancer and other
tumour disease of high incidence. The Company further
expands the types and improves the quality of data
through case collection and data analysis to better
serve medical institutions, doctors and pharmaceutical
companies in the application of tumor drugs, doctor-
patient education and drug research and development.

Smart Medical Cloud. Benefiting from the increasingly
mature business model of the innovative drug patient
management business, the Company’s revenue from
the Smart Medical Cloud for the year amounted
to approximately RMB38.3 million. The repurchase
sales rate for corporate customers reached 97.9%,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
14.1 percentage points, with a continuous rise in client
repurchase willingness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Smart Medical Cloud is mainly applied in medical
scenarios, with a focus on patient management services
in terms of the To B business. The Company worked
with medical device enterprises to provide the full-
course disease management and patient support
services, and creatively provided full process patient care
service model that effectively increased the continuity,
convenience and autonomy of patient management
process, and meanwhile helped medical device
enterprises and medical institutions improve the patient
management process. As of 31 December 2024, we
had served over 273,800 patients in total, representing
an increase of 9.52% year-on-year, which reflected that
we have been highly recognised by customers. For the
To C business, the Company has built the Woodpecker
Oncology Multidisciplinary Diagnosis and Treatment
Platform, adhered to the concept of “patient-
centered”, followed authoritative clinical guidelines,
accurately matching the team of cancer experts,
provided multidisciplinary joint solutions to offer online
multidisciplinary, personalized and accurate diagnosis,
treatment and consultation services to cancer patients.
The Company provided the case manager service
for the whole process involving case establishment,
surgical appointment, preoperative communication,
intraoperative consultation and postoperative follow-
up. It provided comprehensive diagnosis, treatment
and consultation services, accurately met the individual
needs of patients, significantly improved the efficiency
of patients approaching excellent medical experts, and
enhanced the synergy of multidisciplinary diagnosis and
treatment, further ensuring that more effective and
convenient diagnosis and treatment services with better
quality are available to patients.
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32 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Energizing and reinforcing its core
competitiveness with Al technology

As a pioneer of digital intelligence in the healthcare
industry, the Company independently developed the
Woodpecker Medical Large Model, establishing a solid
technical foundation. Through a comprehensive and
empowering ecosystem, it has built strong resource
integration capabilities. Moreover, leveraging an
extensive network of industry collaborations, the
Company has formed competitive advantages. Those
are the Company’s three core competitiveness.

Activating the Woodpecker Medical Large Model
driven by Al technology. Leveraging the dual engines
of “Tiangong No.1” and “Woodpecker Medical
Middleware Platform”, the Company integrated
high-quality data, domain expertise and large model
distillation to develop the cutting-edge vertical model,
“Woodpecker Medical Large Model”. Based on this
model, the Company has introduced the “All-Scenario
Intelligent Agent for Healthcare” as a solution to
establish a business closed loop that enables intelligent
decision-making, agile execution and controllable
outcomes, ultimately enhancing both efficiency and
service quality in the healthcare industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company builds the prime competence of the
Woodpecker Medical Large Model through the
following four aspects: (i) A wide-ranging data resource
system: It covers millions of public data (including public
medical literature, guides, books and drug instructions),
tens of millions of desensitized data (including drug
sales data) and millions of labeled data, with the total
scale of weighting parameters reaching 70 billion,
which serves as the data support for the large model;
(ii) leading model training technology: the Company
adopts open-source large language model fine-tuning,
preference optimization and other technologies to
conduct efficient large-scale post-training, integrates
natural language recognition, machine learning, data
cleaning and duplicate removal, etc., deeply digs into
the diversity of instruction generation of the large
model, realizes the evaluation of text quality based on
multi-dimensional indicators, and achieves accurate
screening of quality data; (iii) multi-dimensional and
comprehensive evaluation capability: the Company,
through such model, builds multi-dimensional and
comprehensive evaluation capability involving general
ability, medical knowledge quiz, medical complex
reasoning and medical language comprehension (medical
information processing), etc., in order to ensure
the accuracy, effectiveness and comprehensiveness
of the large model operation, among which the
performance of the medical language comprehension
ability prevails, with its several indicators in medical
record management leading the industry; and (iv)
all-round and accurate business empowerment: all
crucial parts of the business are empowered through
product management model, master data governance
model, disease management model, Al health manager
and large model call in a multi-dimensional and
comprehensive way.
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34 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Full applications of the Woodpecker Medical Large
Model in the crucial part of the business are set out as
follows:

- Strong data governance: (i) The Company
has established standardized and structured
databases, including 38 master databases of
the healthcare industry covering pharmaceutical
retail, industry supervision, medicine, pharmacy
and life sciences, built a complete master data
labeling system, formed a knowledge graph
of mutual mapping, creating a unified set of
structured standards for healthcare data. In
this regard, the Company’s data processing
capacity has been greatly improved, with its
machine automatic cleaning rate exceeding
97%, accuracy rate exceeding 99% and the
fastest response speed reaching T+1; (ii) for
the two different lines of medicine and medical
care, the Company has established an intelligent
business middleware for data management,
“Tiangong No. 1” and a smart middleware for
health management and medical treatment,
"Woodpecker”, which has significantly enhanced
our data value realisation. The Company’s
leading advantages in data governance have
provided a robust data foundation for leveraging
Al large models to develop and optimise
its product portfolio. In February 2024, the
Company was the first to join the first provincial
data element association in China, namely
Guangdong Data Element Industry Association.
In September 2024, it was transformed into a
data element enterprise in Guangzhou, and was
the sole enterprise recognized as the Guangdong
Big Health Pharmaceutical Data Engineering
Technology Research Center by Department of
Science and Technology of Guangdong Province
in the healthcare industry in April 2024, which
has proved the Company’s data governance
capability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Powerful application service support: (i)
Business decision-making scenario: deep tapping
and analysis of massive data was conducted
through such model to provide all-round digital
and intelligent decision-making support for
medical product suppliers, covering strategic
planning, market insight and marketing strategy,
etc., helping enterprises accurately grasp market
opportunities and improve decision-making
efficiency; (i) retail pharmacy scenario: based on
the scenario of the clerk serving customers, such
model could simulate the real diagnosis process,
and generate interactive voice dialogue and
intelligent question answering to help the clerk
provide professional medication guidance and
healthcare suggestions, effectively improving the
service quality and sales conversion rate of retail
pharmacies; (iii) physical examination scenario:
based on the customers’ requirements for checkup
report interpretation, health assessment, medical
recommendation and life-style intervention after
physical examination, such model, through in-
depth analysis of multi-source data, helped
physical examination organizations establish
consecutive and personalized health records and
realize personalized health management for users,
which has served a total of 20 million people;
(iv) medical record management scenario: such
model helped realize structured natural language,
standardized medical terms and data quality,
reduce data governance cost and stabilize data
governance quality, which is currently applicable
to dozens of diseases; (v) medical record quality
control scenario: such model helped conduct
intellectualized data quality control on desensitized
medical record data, combined with expert quality
control rules and data cases; and (vi) health
assistant for individual customer: such model
helped provide customers with symptoms self-
examination, health assessment, accurate medical
treatment and other services through Al health
manager, covering 2,800+ common diseases,
150,000 common drugs and 1,900 indicators.
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36 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

The outstanding performance of the Woodpecker
Medical Large Model has been recognized by the
authoritative evaluation platforms in the healthcare
industry. In December 2024, it achieved the highest
overall average score on the domestic medical large
model evaluation platform CMB, and ranked fifth
overall and third in the complex medical reasoning
category on Medbench, a platform jointly launched by
Shanghai Artificial Intelligence Laboratory and Shanghai
Digital Medicine Innovation Center, demonstrating its
competitive edge in complex medical reasoning and
technological innovation. The Woodpecker Medical
Large Model, based on Huawei's Al framework
MindSpore, completed the Ascend Al compatibility
technology certification in 2024, demonstrating its
outstanding computing efficiency and compatibility.
In February 2025, the Company was selected into the
“2024 Guangzhou Artificial Intelligence Innovation
and Development List- List of Enterprise with Highest
Market Value” by Guangzhou Municipal Science
and Technology Bureau, which has proved again the
Company's competitiveness in Al development.

All-round ecosystem accurately empowering the
development of healthcare industry. Leveraging on
its rich experience in the healthcare industry, and based
on forward-looking professional insight, leading Al
technology and massive data assets, the Company has
integrated rich ecological chain resources and built a
full-chain, multi-level empowerment system with strong
brand influence.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

PFEREBEARUNEUE HESER

TERERBIFEFERA - R20245F 12
AEBERNE®ERNERBFFESCMBE
MEBEREE TN EINE— £ELE
ALEREREE FATMHRTEZA5
FLBAELNEERNERTANES
Medbench BB R4S HERES - EHE
EHIBEIEEEEI BRAEEHRBE
] R BT T2 B 1 iy 8l %7 5 E A9 58 KB EE o
FESEEAEANENRESAIERFR
MindSpore * R 2024 F X A BEAI R D
MREMRE  TREEELNGTEREM
RAM 2025628 RARAIABREMT
B BI2024 BINA TE 68l ¥ R
B-RAMBEELERE] BAEHT
NEIMAIBES) ©

ELNEERAGERERETESR
B Al RECRETENRAERZR -
ARAENZTEERR  HAEMAIBIN
MERNEIREE - WA@E.SWEML
BR BETZHEKE ZEXROEHER
% BBEBRRNMER ”jj °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As an “ecological brain”, Sinohealth Industry Research
Institute has become a leading healthcare industry
research think-tank in China. With its excellent research
strength and professional team, its research results and
industry insight have been highly recognized by the
industry. The Research Institute focuses on constructing
China healthcare industry index evaluation system,
research on special subjects and industry insights
and projections as the core research orientation. The
Research Institute has established a high-end healthcare
industry think-tank, bringing together pharmaceutical
industry experts, senior data analysts and technical
elites, and collaborating with top scientific research
institutions and universities at home and abroad,
leveraging on its solid professional background and
keen market insight, to provide forward-looking,
leading, feasible and practical research results, industry
insight, analysis and forecast reports for the healthcare
industry. It has been committed to providing valuable
market information for industry participants, as well as
strong support for industrial strategic decision-making
and business development, and helping industry
participants grasp market opportunities and formulate
effective strategic plans, and has formed an extensive
and far-reaching influence. During the year, in addition
to the 12 issues of the Retail Pharmacy Popularity
Index (EEZJESREEEH) and 4 issues of the
Pharmaceutical Industry Performance Index (&8 % T %
{EITHEEN) published regularly, the Sinohealth Industry
Research Institute published industrial reports such as
Chinese Retail Pharmacy at the Crossroads ( { +F&
O FHHRBRZTEEEE) ), Navigating the Cycle: 2023-
2030 Chinese Healthcare Industry Forecast (  ZF i
9:2023-2030 B2 RERTEA ) ), 2024 Chinese
Medical Terminal Market Blue Book ( {2024 Hn [ & %
KimTI5E R Z) ) and Opportunities and Challenges
of Aging ( (EZELHMEMPE) ). The depth and
breadth of these reports have led the industry research
and further solidified the authoritative position of the
Sinohealth Industry Research Institute.
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38 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

The ecological empowerment system built by the
Company is like a “neural network” that radiates
the healthcare industry in an all-round way. We
have provided all-round support for customers in the
healthcare industry by providing solutions related to
strategic planning, research services, resource links,
market expansion, brand building, industrial activities,
operational empowerment and capital operation, etc.
Leveraging on accurate resource integration and optimal
allocation, we could help customers effectively improve
the efficiency of resource utilization, significantly reduce
marketing costs and enhance marketing efficiency.
By continuously deepening ecological synergy and
strategic guidance, we could help industry participants
accurately grasp market opportunities, break through
development bottlenecks and achieve sustainable
growth and long-term value enhancement, which
has not only enhanced the brand influence of the
Company, but also promoted innovation and high-
quality development of the healthcare industry. The
Company successfully held CPEO for 17 sessions, which
has become a forward-looking industry conference
with leading position in China’s healthcare industry in
terms of specifications, scale and influence, providing
forward-looking and systematic exchanges of ideas
and information for the industry and realising the
strategic integration, cooperation and interaction
of diversified resources. More than 8,000 decision-
making elites from government agencies, domestic and
foreign mainstream brand industries, innovative drug
enterprises and innovative drug technology companies,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

mainstream pharmaceutical businesses, retail
enterprises, domestic and foreign capital institutions,
digital technology companies, commercial insurance
institutions, medical and health service institutions
as representatives attended the meeting, with the
total number of participants exceeding 60,000. In
particular, the first “Al for health” conference under
CPEO in 2024 set off a new wave of industrial Al
renewal. The Company successfully held PHCF for
10 sessions, which is a commodity fair with leading
position in the healthcare industry in terms of scale,
complete commodity categories, transaction efficiency
and transaction volume. With the aim of “creating
sustainable market growth”, it gathered the latest and
most comprehensive commodity categories and the
most omni-channel procurement terminals at home
and abroad, with more than 8,000 decision-making
representatives from commodity transaction entities in
the healthcare industry involving brand industries, chain
pharmacies and medical e-commerce attending the
meeting and the total number of participants exceeding
30,000. In addition, the Company has also continually
expanded the influence of Sinohealth ecological
empowerment system through diversified media
services, brand building and operation empowerment,
etc., and has reached nearly one million professionals
including pharmaceutical retail experts, pharmaceutical
and medical device manufacturers, pharmacists,
physicians, medical experts, industry investors and
others.
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40 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

The industrial partnering network with extensive
and comprehensive coverage. The Company has
focused on scenarios such as pharmaceutical retail,
physical examination, clinical diagnosis and treatment,
and have established a broad and solid cooperation
network through the building of comprehensive
digital networks covering “doctor, medicine, patient”,
including:

(1

(2)

Enterprise customer cooperation network:
During the year, the Company has established
cooperative relations with more than 1,230
enterprise customers, providing them with
efficient products and services and delivering
comprehensive and professional empowerment.
The changing needs of customers and
continuous feedbacks from them have driven
the Company to optimize its product system,
creating a positive cycle with customers and
achieving mutual benefits.

Pharmaceutical retail pharmacy cooperation
network: As of 31 December 2024, the
Company’s business cooperation network
covered a total of 2,853 pharmaceutical retail
enterprises and more than 170,000 pharmacy
stores spanning 30 provinces and 349 cities, in
particular, the number of partnering pharmacy
stores using SIC system exceeded a total of
118,000, which has created a competitive barrier
for the Company to obtain rich out-of-hospital
data. During the Reporting Period, the Company
managed more than 245,000 pharmacy clerks
and more than 282 million pharmacy members
through the SIC system, including 107,000
monthly active clerks and 2.5 million monthly
active pharmacy members. Such sizeable active
user base has provided a solid foundation for
the Company scenario identifying, product
innovation and traffic monetisation in terms of
the To C business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Health management cooperation
network: The Company has reached a total of
approximately 160 hospitals and 650 physical
examination centers through AI-MDT health
management solutions. In 2024, the Company
served more than 5,073,000 patients, increasing
by 106.39% year-on-year. This expansion of
patient base has underscored our significant
advancements in product capabilities.

Medical cooperation network: The Company
cooperated with more than 300 hospitals by
providing patient management services, serving
more than 273,800 patients, increasing 9.52%
year-on-year, the base of whom continued to
expand steadily. The Company’s intelligent iIMDT
platform has accumulated over 17,000 registered
oncologists, reaching more than 134,000
doctors.

(3)

(4)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The National Data Administration, the National Health
Commission of the PRC and other departments released the “Data
Element X" Three-year Action Plan (2024-2026) ( [&UEZE
=X] ZF 17851 E] (2024-2026%F)), which clearly pointed
out the necessity to give full play to the multiplier effect of
data elements, strengthen the integration and innovation
of medical data, support public medical institutions to share
data, and expand new business forms such as smart medical
care and smart health management, etc. the National Health
Commission of the PRC and other relevant departments
issued the Notice on Issuing Reference Guidelines for Artificial
Intelligence Application Scenarios in Healthcare Industry
(AR EEERRITEALIERERSS2EHE5I0E
A1) ) to promote innovative applications of Al+ medical and
healthcare. In this context, the Company will continue to
focus on the “Al technology + industrial think-tank” as dual
drivers, integrate and optimize the whole chain of industrial
resources, advance three business lines, continually expand
the To B business scale, accelerate the innovation and upgrade
of the To C business to achieve profit realization, explore the
successful model of the To R business, deepen the application
of five intelligent agents including medical, pharmacy,
commercial, health management, research and development,
further creating a “patient-centric” digital and intelligent
full life cycle health management system, and achieving the
Company's historic mission of “developing smart healthcare
industry and promoting smart healthy life”.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

ARRE

BEREER « BREEREZ PN
BEEXI=F1T785M81(2024-20265F ) )FA 1
BERDBREHIBEZEZRENE - NREBEH

BREAIHN XRHAVEREBAZEE A
REZER BTEEREESHER -BRE
ERERFIEMC AN R FERBITEATLE

BEERMSR2EELINBA) - BHEBEIFA
I%ﬁﬁg%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ B BB R
NAREBEATAIZM+ EXEE | EHE
@J  BAU@BLERKRERER  ZQRIE -
FrERATo BEBRE - MRTo CFIJ%ﬁﬂi&
RBMEE - HBRTo RKINER - RILE
EUE B EEEE Eﬂ?"ﬂﬁ%ﬁé%ﬁ‘fﬁ’]ﬁé
EMATEIABERT O INBE (L2 LD
HH&VEEEEE/\ CERAREEREESR
BERRARINESLES



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Continuously improving Al capabilities and
empowering business innovation and upgrading

The Company will continue to optimize the Woodpecker
Medical Large Model, and comprehensively improve the
depth, efficiency and quality of the large model empowerment
through the following measures:

Consolidating database: The Company will continue to
introduce more internal data, B2C data and 020 data to
improve the type and scale of data, build a diversified and
stable all-channel healthcare industry database, ensure
data quality, and improve data timeliness, providing a solid
foundation for Al large model optimization.

Model optimization and extension: The Company will
develop more efficient and accurate multi-modal models,
data governance models, data analysis models, reasoning
models, decision-making models, medical models, etc. based
on Al large model, expand the governance scope of diseases,
drugs and other fields to fully tap the data value, supporting
the development and optimization of more products and
enhancing the level of digital intelligence.

Accurate empowerment of intelligent agents: The
Company will deepen the development of intelligent
agent matrix in industrial application scenarios, including
medical agents, pharmacy agents, business agents, health
management agents, R&D agents, etc., to help the Company
upgrade its business operations, empower customers
efficiently, promoting a more efficient and high-quality
development of the healthcare industry.

Multi-modal training deepening: The Company will conduct
multi-modal training covering video, images and other data
types to continuously enhance the large model capabilities
related to application and evaluation, further improving the
accuracy, professionalism and comprehensiveness of large
model applications.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Building up leading superiority and developing
innovative business potentials

The Company will continue to give full play to the advantages
of Al technology, data and ecology in the vertical healthcare
industry, and comprehensively upgrade the product
system with five intelligent agents as the core through the
optimization of the Woodpecker Medical Large Model, so as
to more efficiently match the needs of customers and achieve
customer-related performance growth. At the same time, the
Company will also actively utilize Al capabilities to develop
more Al+ series products and empower the transformation
and upgrade of the industry, creating greater long-term value
for customers.

In terms of the To B business, the Company will continue
to empower customers through Al agents, expand the scale
of out-of-hospital products and accelerate the innovation and
upgrading of internal products to jointly promote the digital
and intelligent transformation of customers and consolidate
the leading superiority.

- Business agents: In the out-of-hospital market, the
Company will adhere to the “product-leading and Al-
driven” strategy, and build various intelligent agents
including Al intelligent questioners, Al chatbot for
marketing and decision-making , AI-SFE experts, etc.
based on strong data fusion, professional analysis
insight and accurate business scenarios, to provide
customers with more intelligent and efficient support.
In the internal market, the Company will explore
innovative models in combination with mature out-of-
hospital models, and continue to expand the scale of
multi-modal data, deeply tap customer needs, helping
customers improve the efficiency of digital intelligence
decision-making and further achieving performance
growth. Leveraging on our advances in out-of-hospital
market and internal market, we strive to provide more
comprehensive and accurate support for the customer
strategy department, marketing department, sales
department and other decision-making departments,
so as to enhance customer stickiness and further
consolidate the leading superiority and market standing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pharmacy agents: On the chain side, the Company
will continue to optimize the pharmacy agent with
SIC as the core, take the pharmacy agent as the main
carrier and conduct the application of cutting-edge
artificial intelligence technology and deep insight
into pharmaceutical retail to help pharmaceutical
retail enterprises quickly realize digital intelligence
transformation, service transformation and new
business expansion. In addition, the Company will
promote SIC to reach more pharmaceutical retail
enterprises and gain greater market share, further
promoting the Company to reach more pharmacy
clerks and members. On the industrial side, the
Company will continue to upgrade its digital
intelligence platform connecting pharmaceutical retail
enterprises and medical product suppliers, help medical
product suppliers improve the marketing efficiency
in retail section, and provide more diversified patient
management services for patients with long-term drug
use based on their medication requirements to increase
their repeat purchases and loyalty.

Medical agents: The Company will continue to
optimize the full-course disease management and
support services, create innovative drug patient
management agents, so as to improve the treatment
experience of patients and help medical device
enterprises and medical institutions improve the patient
management level. The Company will continue to
leverage Al technology to optimise the service quality
on iMDT, providing doctors with a more intelligent
and efficient platform for medical care and education.
Simultaneously, the Company plans to expand the pool
of registered oncologists, offering critically ill patients a
broader range of diagnostic and therapeutic resources
with higher quality. This initiative aims to enhance the
treatment for patients with critical illnesses and advance
the overall medical services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

In terms of the To C business, the Company will deeply
study the personalized medical and healthcare needs of C-end
customers, explore more application scenarios, accelerate
profit realization, and enhance the differentiated service
capabilities based on the Al large model to build its significant
competitive advantages:

- Health management agents: The Company will
actively seek customers from hospitals and medical
institutions, and expand the coverage of the
Woodpecker AI-MDT health management solutions
to reach more individual patients, meet personalized
health management needs and provide high-quality
healthcare services.

- Serious illness management agents: The Company
will optimize and upgrade the functions of the
Woodpecker Oncology Multidisciplinary Diagnosis
and Treatment Platform, actively promote innovative
business models, tap the market and expand market
scale, accurately satisfying patients’ personalized
diagnosis and treatment needs and significantly
improving the quality of diagnosis and treatment for
patients.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

ETo Ciw @ RAFIARAME CimEE L EERR
BHEX 2REZERSS  MRABNEH -
EBAIRE IR T Z LRI - EURE

BEEY -

- RECTHEAR: BGANBERAER
BERFE  RASERA-MDTREEEE
BATRNBEEE BEFTZEAR
H OMEBREMLEREERESR R BHS
BEMRERS

- EREEERR: ELNARERER
ZEMZEFaE  BRERAME
BIRA - FITS - BATSRE 1B
EmrEBEBEAELCZERER  BER
BEDEEE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of the To R business, the Company will continue
to give full play to the advantages of Al technology, data
and ecology, build R&D agents focusing on the biomedical
R&D business, provide overall digital intelligence solutions for
innovative pharmaceutical and medical device enterprises in
terms of scheme design, intelligent systems, clinical research
and operational services, reshape the R&D paradigm, improve
customers’ R&D efficiency and advance the listing of medical
devices. The Company will also continue to connect medical
institutions, innovative drug enterprises, CRO companies,
CMO companies, pharmaceutical retail enterprises and
other entities to integrate existing resources and establish an
industrial cooperation ecological chain. Through investment,
mergers and acquisitions, cooperation, etc., the Company
will expand its strategic layout in innovative medical device
field and integrate resources such as capital and technology
to develop targets with development potential and synergistic
effects. All the above measures will fully stimulate the growth
potential of innovative business.

Under the general trend of long-term development of
healthcare industry and digital element economy, the Group
will continue to explore the field of healthcare industry
services based on the in-depth application of cutting-edge
Al technology, actively explore and implement innovative
business models, improve the quality of products and services,
enhance professional service capabilities and expand brand
influence. The Company will provide digital and intelligent
comprehensive solutions for enterprises, personalized and
high-quality healthcare services for individual users, and digital
and intelligent empowerment for efficiency promotion in life
sciences, the Company is committed to being an outstanding
industry benchmark, as well as being an industry leader in a
new journey toward high-quality development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

In FY2024, the Group's revenue increased by approximately 1.9%,
from approximately RMB396.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB403.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase was mainly due
to the increase in revenue from Smart Retail Cloud and Smart
Health Management Cloud businesses.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consist of (i) costs related
to the daily operation and maintenance of our solutions and
products and our employee benefits; (ii) costs associated
with our marketing campaigns and provision of services to
our clients; and (iii) event costs mainly relating to venue and
equipment rentals, event planning and organisation services
fees, accommodation and catering costs. The Group’s cost of
sales decreased by approximately 1.3%, from approximately
RMB172.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB170.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, mainly due to the improvement of efficiency
of the Group’s business operations and management,
resulting in further control over the cost of sales.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 4.4%,
from approximately RMB223.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB233.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, mainly attributed to the
increase in the Group's revenue and the strategic optimisation
of its product mix. The gross profit margin increased by
approximately 1.4% to approximately 57.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from approximately 56.4% for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains primarily consist of (i) bank interest
income; (ii) government grants; and (iii) foreign exchange
gains. The Group recorded other income and gains of
approximately RMB44.8 million as of 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 8.6% as compared
with approximately RMB41.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in foreign exchange gains and government grants.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i)
benefit expenses for employees responsible for sales and
marketing functions; (ii) travel and transportation expenses
related to offline marketing campaigns, the development
and maintenance of customer relationship and production
of advertising materials; and (iii) general office expenses.
Selling and distribution expenses increased by 23.7% to
approximately RMB40.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB32.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly attributable to
the optimisation of the Group’s business structure and the
increase in investment and deployment of our talents for
innovative business development.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses; and (ii) other expenses. The
Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
11.1%, from approximately RMB34.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB38.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to the
optimisation of personnel structure and the increase in the
incentives for key talents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Research and Development Costs

The Group’s research and development costs primarily consist
of (i) employee benefits expenses; (i) depreciation of right-
of-use assets and (iii) technology services fees and general
office expenses. The Group's research and development
costs increased by approximately 6.0%, from approximately
RMB61.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB64.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, primarily due to our introduction of high-end
research and development talents in Al technology and the
increase in research and development investments.

Profit before Tax

The Group's profit before tax increased by approximately 8.5%,
from approximately RMB110.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB120.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, mainly due to the combined
effect of the increase in revenue and gross profit driven by
the strategic upgrade of the Group’s product system, and the
decrease in credit impairment losses due to the improvement
in the Company's level of control over credit risk.

Income Tax Expense

The Group's income tax expense decreased by approximately
15.1%, from approximately RMB9.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB8.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, mainly due to the fact
that certain subsidiaries achieved a turnaround of losses and
profits during the year, and the proportionate of contribution
of those subsidiaries with lower effective tax rates to profit
before tax increased.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased by approximately 10.8%, from approximately
RMB100.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB111.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, mainly due to the combined effect of the
increase in the Group’s profit before tax and the decrease in
income tax expense.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group financed
its operations mainly through cash generated from the
Group's operating activities and the net proceeds from the
Global Offering. The Group intends to continuously finance
its expansion and business operations using a combination of
cash generated from operating activities and the net proceeds
from the Global Offering.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group maintains a strong cash position. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group's total cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately RMB63.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 48.6% from 31
December 2023, mainly due to the placement of certain idle
funds in licensed financial institutions as time deposits by the
Group.

Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not have any short-term or long-term bank borrowings and
had no outstanding bank and other borrowings and other
indebtedness apart from lease liabilities for the relevant
lease terms amounting to approximately RMB11.8 million in
aggregate.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total
liabilities by total equity, was approximately 14.4% as at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: approximately 13.9%).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures and is subject
to foreign currency risk arising from fluctuations in exchange
rates between RMB and US$. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arose from its cash and cash equivalents in US$. The Group is
currently not engaged in hedging activities that are designed
to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will
continue to monitor foreign exchange activities and make its
best efforts to protect the cash value of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

In FY2024, the Group's capital expenditures were mainly
incurred for the acquisition of equipment and software and
renovation of leased properties, which remained at a limited
level of approximately RMB3.4 million, basically keeping the
same as compared with the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Group intends to fund future capital expenditures from
cash balance, cash generated from operating activities and
proceeds from the Global Offering. The Group will continue to
incur capital expenditures to meet the expected growth of the
business, and may reallocate funds for capital expenditures
and long-term investments based on the Group’s ongoing
business needs.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material
litigation against the Group.

Significant Acquisitions or Disposals and Future
Plans for Significant Investments

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information entered into an
Equity Transfer Agreement and a Partnership Property Share
Transfer Agreement with Foshan Heheng Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (L& 1BIRERE A B D
¥ (ABRAE)) for the acquisition of 50.6% equity interests
in Zhonghui Medical. Upon completion of the Acquisition,
Zhonghui Medical will become an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 5 February 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any

significant acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, none of each individual investment
held by the Group constituted 5% or more of the total assets
of the Group, and there is no future plan for any material
investment or capital assets.

Employees and Staff Costs

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 768 (31
December 2023: 759) full time employees, with the majority
located in Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, the
Group recognised staff costs of approximately RMB158.1
million, representing an increase of approximately 6.8% as
compared with FY2023.

The following table sets forth the number of employees* by
function as at 31 December 2024
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personnel

Talents are the valuable assets and the foundation for
sustainable development of the Group. The Group highly
appreciates the career development of its employees, and
we have developed a comprehensive vocational training
system and a sound remuneration and promotion system to
continuously train, attract and retain talents.

ATRARBNERRE  BRASEAFE
EERNER ARESRERETHOREH
B HAHE T 2ENBREBIIERMEEN
FEEARER  ATHEHEE - R REEBA
+ o

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

53

[



54

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR @57k D i

Leveraging on our influence and attraction in the industry, we
are able to continue to attract outstanding versatile talents.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has 304 employees with
medical and pharmaceutical expertise and 140 employees
with computer science expertise.

In addition, the Company has adopted the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Scheme to motivate talented
employees and attract talented persons for the further
development of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant events
to be disclosed from 31 December 2024 up to the date of this
report.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Yushu (also known as Wu Han), aged 49, is the
chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Wu is in charge of the overall strategic
planning and general management and daily operation of the
Group. Mr. Wu has been a director of each of the Group’s
major subsidiaries since the establishment of the Group in
December 2007 and has been an executive Director and
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company
since 4 March 2019. Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience
in healthcare information and data analysis industries. Prior
to the establishment of Sinohealth Information, the principal
subsidiary of the Group, from July 1997 to December 2007,
Mr. Wu served as the general manager of information center
of NMPA Southern Medicine Economic Research Institute
("SMERI"). During his service period in SMERI, he also served
as the general manager of the operating company of Medical
and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in international trade
from Guangdong University of Finance & Economics (formerly
known as Guangdong College of Commerce) in the PRC in
June 1997.

Mr. Wu is the spouse of Ms. Wang, the chief operating officer
and executive Director of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSHREERR

Ms. Wang Lifang, aged 50, is an executive Director and
the chief operating officer of the Company. Ms. Wang is
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations and
management of the Group. Ms. Wang has served as an
executive Director of the Company since 3 June 2021 and is
also a member of the Remuneration Committee. She currently
holds directorship in Sinohealth Information. Ms. Wang has
over 20 years of experience in healthcare information and
data analysis industry. From July 1997 to December 2007, Ms.
Wang held several positions, including vice general manager
of the operating company of Medical and Pharmaceutical
Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI and a journalist of the
said newspaper. In December 2008, she joined Sinohealth
Information to assist Mr. Wu in the business development
of the Group and has since engaged as the director and
executive general manager.

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in international
economics from Harbin Institute of Technology in the PRC in
July 1997.

Ms. Wang is the spouse of Mr. Wu, the chairman and chief
executive officer and an executive Director.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Fu Haitao, aged 44, is a non-executive Director. He was
appointed as a Director on 3 June 2021. From January 2006 to
August 2009, Mr. Fu worked as an officer of the government
affairs department of Sun International Engineering
Consulting Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Guangzhou Sun
Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd), a company principally
engaged in road and piping engineering. Mr. Fu served as the
head of president office at Guangdong Guangrun Group Co.,
Ltd. from 12 August 2010 to 31 May 2019, at Daxiongfeng
Venture Capital Co., Ltd. from 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2022,
and at Guangdong Guangrun Group Co., Ltd. since 1 June
2022. Both companies are controlled by Ms. Wu Meirong and
her spouse, Mr. Li Hanxiong.
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Mr. Fu obtained a diploma in economics and management
from Jinan Army Academy, an internal military training
institute, which was then supervised by the Jinan Military
Region of the Chinese People’s Liberation Army in the PRC
in June 2004. Mr. Fu further obtained a diploma in human
resource management through attending long-distance
courses from Xidian University in the PRC in January 2019.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 55, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 27 April 2022. Mr. Wei is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wei is responsible
for supervising the management of the Group and providing
independent judgment to the Board. Mr. Wei is currently a
senior partner in the Asset Management Department of CDH
Investment Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited (S £
BEEEEEE®B) BR2AR]) and an independent director of
Huize Holding Limited, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ:
HUIZ). Mr. Wei served as the chief accountant and chief
financial officer of China Resources (Holdings) Limited (2
(52 B)) AR 7)), an executive director of OCI International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 329), and an independent non-
executive director of Honghua Group Limited (stock code:
196). Mr. Wei has nearly 30 years of practical experience in
complex transaction, mergers and acquisitions and corporate
management.

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in auditing from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, and a master’s
degree in finance from Jinan University. Mr. Wei is a senior
accountant and a senior auditor in the PRC, and also a non-
practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Wang Danzhou, aged 61, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director, chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee on 27 April 2022. She
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Sinohealth Information from December 2017 to June 2021.
Ms. Wang is responsible for supervising the management of
the Group and providing independent judgment to the Board.

Ms. Wang has around 36 years of experience in accounting
education. Since January 1989, Ms. Wang has worked in the
department of accounting of Jinan University, and has served
as a professor in the department of accounting of Jinan
University and is retired currently. Ms. Wang was appointed
as the independent director of Guangdong Tecsun Science &
Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002908) in May 2024 and
Shenzhen Hobbywing Co., Ltd. in June 2024, respectively. Ms.
Wang has served as an independent non-executive director of
several listed companies such as Bluedon Information Security
Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 300297), Guangdong
Brandmax Marketing Co., Ltd., (Stock code: 300805),
Guangzhou Anbiping Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd.
(Stock code: 688393) and Kennede Electronics MFG Co,. Ltd.
(Stock code: 002723).

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and
a master’s degree in administration from Jinan University,
and a doctor’s degree in financial management from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.

Ms. Du Yilin, aged 40, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director, and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee on 27 April 2022. Ms. Du is responsible for
supervising the management of the Group and providing
independent judgment to the Board.
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From September 2007 to May 2014, Ms. Du worked as a
senior auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP
Guangzhou office. From May 2014 to April 2016, Ms. Du
served as the chief financial officer of Kangze Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 831397). From October 2017 to
January 2019, Ms. Du worked as a project director for
healthcare mergers and acquisitions department at Fosun
United Health Insurance Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Fosun International (Stock code: 0656). Since January 2019,
Ms. Du has served as the chief financial officer of Guangdong
Hemai Hospital Management Co., Ltd.

Ms. Du obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Sun
Yat-sen University, and a master’s degree in health economics
from the University of Queensland in Australia. Ms. Du has
been a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and was admitted as a certified
accountant from the Australian Society of Certified Practising
Accountants in December 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management is comprised of the executive Directors of
the Company (whose biographies are set out above) and the
following members:

Mr. Su Caihua, aged 50, is the chief data officer and the vice
president of the Group. Mr. Su joined the Group in January
2008 and is responsible for development of big data and data
insight solutions business of the Group.

From May 2002 to March 2003 and from March 2005 to April
2007, Mr. Su served as the research director of Guangzhou
Shipu Medical and Pharmaceutical Information Co., Ltd,
a company principally engaged in provision of marketing
information consulting services, which was then managed by
SMERI prior to its deregistration in November 2011.

Mr. Su obtained the bachelor’s degree in prophylaxis from
Zhejiang University in the PRC in September 1999.
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Mr. Li Junguo, aged 50, is a vice president of the Group.
Mr. Li joined the Group in April 2009 and is responsible
for overseeing the sales and marketing business, industrial
resources analysis, exhibition planning and operation, public
relationship and advertisement design of the Group.

From March 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Li served as director
of the special issue department and manager of operating
department of the operating company of the Medical and
Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI.
Since September 2020, Mr. Li has served as the independent
director of Ruirentang Medical and Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd,
a company principally engaged in the operation of retail
pharmacies.

Mr. Li obtained the bachelor’s degree in history from Beijing
Normal University in the PRC in July 1996.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zhang Xiao, aged 37, was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company on 3 June 2021 and is
currently serving as the company secretary of the Company.
Ms. Zhang is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional corporate
services provider, and has over ten years of experience in
the corporate secretarial field. Ms. Zhang was admitted as
an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom in 2019.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Computer Science
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010, a
master’s degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University in 2018, and a master’s degree in
Accountancy from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2024.
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The Board is pleased to present the Group’s annual report and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted limited company on 4 March 2019. The Company'’s
shares were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
on 12 July 2022 under the stock code 2361.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

Leveraging 18 years of deep-rooted experience in the
healthcare industry, the Group has built advantages in data
assets, Al large model technology, industry insight and the
industrial ecosystem. We adhered to strategic upgrading and
product iteration offering our clients a comprehensive one-
stop digital and intelligent solution that includes Al agent
applications tailored for healthcare, pharmacies, business,
health management and R&D. By empowering clients in digital
transformation, market expansion, client management and
operational decision-making, we help them achieve efficient
business decisions and precisely connect with the market, thus
enhancing operational efficiency and driving performance
growth.

A list of the principal subsidiaries of the Company together
with details of their incorporation and place of operation,
principal activities and issued shares/registered share capital
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in this
annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review for the year ended 31 December
2024, as well as the discussion and analysis on the Group's
future business development and the main financial and
operating indicators used by the directors to measure the
Group’s performance are set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis”
The aforesaid discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's business operations and results may be affected
by various factors, including external factors and factors
inherent in the Group's business. A summary of certain
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out
below:

o The risk of failing to innovate and adapt to rapid
advances in big data, artificial intelligence and other
technologies;

o The risk arising from the decline in customer demand
of the Group for digital analysis and decision making,
marketing consulting services, etc;

o The risk arising from failure to improve the whole
life-cycle management ability of data collection,

management, processing and use;

o The risk arising from failure to maintain and expand the
data collection network of the Group;

o The risk that the Group’s new product development
and business layout fail to meet expectations;
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o The risk of failing to comply with or respond in a
timely manner to laws and regulations relating to data
protection and privacy;

o The risk of increasing market competition for big data
solutions in the healthcare industry where the Group
engages in;

o The risk related to industry, business and operations.

The above list is not exhaustive. Investors are advised to make
their own judgement or consult their investment advisors
before investing in the Shares.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to
the efficient operation of the Group. The management will
assist the Board in evaluating each major risk in the Group's
business operations, actively establish appropriate risk
management, internal control mechanisms and incorporate
them into the daily operation management.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING
Use of proceeds from the listing

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange
on 12 July 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering
(including the partial exercise of the over-allotment option and
after deduction of underwriting commissions and related costs
and expenses) were approximately HK$339.6 million (the “Net
Proceeds”).
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The intended application of the Net Proceeds as stated in
the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the Net Proceeds
since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2024 is set out

BREEMAMSRFERTCARKE ETA
A ZE2024F 12 A31 BIEFAERIEFENE
REABRLOT -

below:
Utilised Net  Utilised Net
Approximate Actual Proceeds Proceeds Unutilised
percentage Allocation as at during the  balance as at
of the Net of the Net 31 December Reporting 31 December Expected timeline
Proceeds Proceeds 2023 Period 2024  for the use of the balance
BE2023% SEYIIES
Planned Use of FrE%E ERENEFE  HRESE 12A31R BEHR 12A310 EHBA
Net Proceeds FR:HEAR WEAKL HERERE CBANE CHANERE HADRNSE SENKE
%  (HKS million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)
% BEER BE#ER BEER BEER
Upgrade and enhance EHRRA 508 172.5 41.0 24 109.1 By 31 December 2025
SaaS products SaaSE 2025% 12 A31 AR
R&D technology and data  FE i 49.2 167.1 19.4 27.1 120.6 By 31 December 2025
warehouse rEERE 2025512 A31 AR
Total ast 100% 339.6 60.4 49.5 2297

As of 31 December 2024, the net proceeds have been and
will be used in accordance with the purposes set out in the
Prospectus, and there has been no material change or delay in
the use of the net proceeds.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK12 cents per Share for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the "Proposed Final Dividend”). Subject to the approval
of Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, the dividend will be paid on or around
Thursday, 25 September 2025 to Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company at the
close of business on Monday, 30 June 2025. No shareholder
has waived or agreed to waive any dividend for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note
37 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated in accordance with the Cayman Companies
Act include share premium accounts and other reserves,
totaling approximately RMB532.3 million (2023: approximately
RMB510.6 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the changes in share capital of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge the Directors, the public
float of the Company has satisfied the percentage prescribed
in the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group and has obtained
important licenses, approvals and permits in relation to its
business operations. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
there was no material breach of, or non-compliance with,
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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LITIGATION

No litigation or claim of material importance is pending or
threatened against any member of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any outstanding bank loans and other borrowings.

OUTLOOK

A description of the future business development of the Group
is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and the relevant laws of the Cayman
Islands where the Company was incorporated, and there
is no restriction against such rights which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
issue any debentures.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 35.4% of the
Group’s total purchases, and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 14.4% of the Group's total
purchases.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (who or
which, to the knowledge of the Directors, held more than
5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company) had any
interest in the Group'’s five largest suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 25.5% of
the Group's total revenue and the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 8.4% of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors,
their close associates or any Shareholders of the Company (who
or which, to the knowledge of the Directors, held more than
5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company) had any
interest in any of the Group’s top five customers suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility,
promoting employee benefits and development, protecting
the environment. giving back to community and achieving
sustainable growth. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not face any relevant risks. For details, please refer to the
section headed “ESG Report” in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the current directors are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Lifang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Danzhou
Ms. Du Yilin
Mr. Wei Bin

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management members are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors entered into
a service contract with the Company, and each of the
Company’s non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors have signed letters of appointment
with the Company. The service contracts with each of the
executive Directors and the letters of appointment with each
of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive directors are for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 27 April 2022 in the case of the executive
Directors and from the Listing Date in the case of the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors. The service contracts and letters of appointment
may be terminated in accordance with the respective terms
thereof. The service contracts may be renewed in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
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According to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Wei Bin and Ms. Wang Danzhou shall retire by rotation at the
AGM and shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
for reviewing the Group’s remuneration policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group. The remuneration is recommended or determined
based on qualification, position and seniority of each Director
and senior management.

As for the non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration, and no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the Directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRSE

BEBABERMANE 108G BBEERESN
HZETRNRBREFAE LHEREI XHE
RRRFBFE RS L BEEFE -

RREERRBEAS LBRETNEEHNE
BEARR B AN KB B 2 BRI i A3
RECZERERINNRER —FREELLL
BRZIBRBAENHEES -

EEFHRAERBESHMAL

ARRERLFMEE S - et AN 5B 5 B
BEARAEEEEZ RS AT EE D H A
B-FHIRBEEESFAFREERENEE
BULFEMERNET

FATESNFHRESTSREFHZE SN

EERABRSFMALOFMFABRIINA
FHiR A M RARMEMMEE -

HE2024F12A3MBIEEE  MESEWE
ZEEREXMAE  AEBNERETMNES
A A1) 37 BN VE 3 A0 A S 2 B 3k AN A AN £ [
B RS e R B B A (E o

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

69

[



70

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEBWRSE

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
the Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Since the date of the Company’s 2024 interim report and up
to the date of this annual report, there has been no change
in the information of Directors and senior management that
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 768
employees. The following table sets forth the number of
employees* by function as at 31 December 2024:

BYFHTESEHNRE LM

ARBERMBEBILIFRTESRB(LETAR
ADEIBRELNFEBLERRE A2
Al RIBCEMRADPIS IS - BB
FRTESHEBBULIE -

EEREREEBNERNSE

BARR 2024 FhfismE B IEEEARFRA
H - RIELTHRANE1351B(1) TEEELS
REEENENEDTRELNE -

EE R &HMBER

HE2024%128318 AEBHEAEE 768
Ao TRHEIIN2024F 12 A31 BB E 5
MiE B AZ

Percentage to

the total

number of

Number employees

HAANE

Function B g8 N | 9 tE 51

Solutions and Products fRR T R R EE T 349 45.5%

Research and Development i 222 28.9%

Sales and Marketing 565 B 5 136 17.7%

General and Administrative KA TS BTN 61 7.9%

Total &5 768 100%
& Includes the employees of the Company and labour dispatch ~ * BEARIEIRABIKEAR

personnel
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Talents are the valuable assets and the foundation for its
sustainable development of the Group. The Group attaches
great importance to the career development of its employees,
and we have developed a comprehensive vocational training
system and a sound remuneration and promotion system to
continuously cultivate, attract and retain talents. As of 31
December 2024, among the employees of the Group, 304
employees had medical and pharmaceutical backgrounds
and 140 employees had computer science backgrounds,
respectively.

In addition, the Company has adopted Share Option Schemes
and Share Incentive Schemes to motivate talented employees
and attract talented people for the further development of the
Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) by way of a written resolution passed by
all the then Shareholders on 27 April 2022, for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group and for such other purposes as the
Board may approve from time to time. During the Reporting
Period, no options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full-time
or part-time), consultant or advisor of the Group who in the
sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or will
contribute to the Group) to subscribe for such number of
Shares in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.
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Unless approved by the Shareholders, the maximum number
of the Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme, new Scheme and
all other schemes of the Company then existing must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the Listing Date i.e. 45,000,000 Shares, accounting for 9.96%
of the total number of Shares in issue.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
option shares granted or to be granted by Eligible Participants
shall not exceed 1% in aggregate of the Shares in issue as at
the date of such grant.

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price solely determined by the Board and notified to all eligible
persons and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer to grant option; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant option;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Share. A consideration of
RMB1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of an option
or options.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a
general meeting. Therefore, as at 31 December 2024, the
remaining term of the Share Option Scheme is approximately
seven years.

As of 31 December 2024, no options were granted by the
Company, nor any options were exercised, canceled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme, and there were no
outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme as at the
above date.
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The number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the Reporting
Period were 45,000,000 and 45,000,000, respectively.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on
5 December 2022 for the purpose of recognising the
contributions by certain Eligible Participants to retain them for
the continual operation and development of the Group and
to attract outstanding talents for further development of the
Group.

Eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme include
employees of the Company, its subsidiaries or holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries and associated Companies (the
“Eligible Participants”).

The Board shall not make any further grant of award such that
the total number of Shares granted under the Share Award
Scheme will exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares
as of the adoption date. On the basis that the total number of
issued Shares as of the adoption date is 451,770,000 Shares,
the aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of 45,177,000
Shares.

The Board or authorized representative, in its sole discretion,
selects any Eligible Participant to participate in the Share
Award Scheme as a Selected Participant and determines the
number of Award Shares to be granted to each Selected
Participant and the terms and conditions under which the
Award Shares may vest, provided that the maximum number
of awards shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company in any twelve-month period.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Aware Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of ten years commencing on the adoption date, after
which no further awards will be granted. As of 31 December
2024, the remaining term of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately 8 years.
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On 5 December 2022, the Company appointed Futu Trustee
Limited as the Trustee for the Share Award Scheme. Futu
Trustee Limited is a trust company registered under section
78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent of and not
connected with the Company and/or any of its connected
persons.

As at 31 December 2024, the Trustee, as instructed by the
Board, purchased a total of 43,683,000 Shares on the market,
representing approximately 9.67% of the total number of
Shares of the Company in issue.

As at 31 December 2024, no award was granted by the
Company, nor any award was exercised, canceled or lapsed
under the Share Award Scheme, and there was no award
outstanding under the Share Award Scheme.

Under the Share Award Scheme, the Board has the sole and
absolute discretion to determine such specific terms and
conditions (including the vesting period, the purchase price/
payment period and the basis of determination of purchase
price) upon the grant of awards to selected participants.
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DIRECTORS’® AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code,
were as follows:
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Long Position

in the Shares Approximate
RGiFE percentage of
Name of Director or Capacity/Nature of Number of interest in the
chief executive interest Shares Total Company’
(RN
BB
BEE BRTHRABESR B REME &5 & E et BatL?
Mr. Wu Yushu? Interest of controlled
corporation
REFTELL? RN E 248,737,500
Interest of spouse
Ao s 20,250,000
268,987,500 59.54%
Ms. Wang Lifang? Interest of controlled
corporation
FHIF L2 RiLE RS 87,750,000
Interest of spouse
[N e 181,237,500
268,987,500 59.54%
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 451,770,000
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

2. Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and are
deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially owned by
each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark Link Limited and is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wellmark Link
Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns WLF Investment Holdings
Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by WLF Investment Holdings Limited. Wellmark Link Limited
is the general partner of Rikan Industry Investment Limited
Partnership and Ms. Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings
Limited, holds approximately 63.3152% interests in Rikan
Industry Investment Limited Partnership. They are deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Rikan Industry Investment
Limited Partnership.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as
at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interest or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (i) notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) recorded in the register
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Position

in the Shares

RGIFE
Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/Nature of Number of interest in the
Name interest Shares Total Company’
=RV
RN
wEEB B REntE R&HEE At BAL!
Wellmark Link Limited? Beneficial owner
BEFRAF? EmER A 181,237,500
Interest of controlled
corporation
SN 67,500,000
248,737,500 55.06%
WLF Investment Beneficial owner
Holdings Limited? E=EAA 20,250,000
Interest of controlled
corporation
SR NEI 67,500,000
87,750,000 19.42%
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ESE8HRS
Long Position
in the Shares
RGBFR
Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/Nature of Number of interest in the
Name interest Shares Total Company’
R NG
RSB
wE/EB By REmtE KR&OBE et Aot
Rikan Industry Investment Beneficial owner
Limited Partnership? E=EA A 67,500,000 14.94%
Montesy Capital Holding Ltd.? Beneficial owner
EREAA 68,512,500 15.17%
Ms. Wu Meirong? Interest of spouse
RERK L3 [N e 68,512,500 15.17%
Mr. Li Hanxiong? Interest of controlled
corporation
PRI S SR NEI 68,512,500 15.17%
Futu Trustee Limited Trustee 42,650,000 9.44%
ERETARAT XA
Mr. Yu Rong? Interest of controlled
corporation
AUiE e XEE s 22,854,250 5.06%
Shanghai Tianyi Assets Interest of controlled
Management Co., Ltd* corporation
FBXEEESRE R EEER
BRAR 22,854,250 5.06%
Notes: Biaz -
1. The calculation is based on the total number of 451,770,000 1. H E2024F12831H B BT RMH A

Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024. 451,770,000 f=1& -
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2. Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and are
deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially owned by
each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark Link Limited and is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wellmark Link
Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns WLF Investment Holdings
Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by WLF Investment Holdings Limited. Wellmark Link Limited
is the general partner of Rikan Industry Investment Limited
Partnership and Ms. Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings
Limited, holds approximately 63.3152% interests in Rikan
Industry Investment Limited Partnership. Therefore, they are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Rikan Industry
Investment Limited Partnership.

3. Montesy Capital Holding Ltd is owned by Mr. Li Hanxiong and
Ms. Wu Meirong as to 70% and 30%, respectively. Mr. Li
Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are the spouse of each other,
and are therefore deemed to be interested in any Shares
in which one another is interested. Therefore, both Mr. Li
Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Montesy Capital Holding Ltd.

4. Tianyi (BVI) Limited and Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun Limited
are controlled by Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co.,
Ltd., which is 70% owned by Mr. Yu Rong. Therefore, Mr.
Yu Rong is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Shanghai Tianyi Assets Management Co., Ltd is deemed to be
interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the knowledge of the Directors,
as at 31 December 2024, there is no other person (excluding
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) who has
interests or short positions as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO in the Shares and underlying Shares.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting
Period, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
which is or may compete, directly or indirectly, with our
business as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting
Period, none of the Directors or entities related to the
Directors had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the sections relating to Contractual
Arrangements in this annual report, no contract of significance
or contract of significance for the provision of services
has been entered into among the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries as of 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had not entered into
any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and applicable laws and
regulations, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred or suffered by
him or her as a Director in the course of the performance of
his duties.

The above permitted indemnity provisions have come into
effect during the Reporting Period. The Company has also
taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate protection
to the Directors.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Acquisitions of 50.6% Equity Interests In Zhonghui
Medical

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information entered into an
Equity Transfer Agreement and a Partnership Property Share
Transfer Agreement with Foshan Heheng Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (f 1L & B #EIZ & & B0
¥ (BB &%) for the acquisition of 50.6% equity interests
in Zhonghui Medical ) at a consideration of RMB12,238,920.
Upon completion of the Acquisition, Zhonghui Medical
became an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Due to the tumor treatment industry maintains high growth,
and the MDT diagnosis industry is in the early stage of
development in China and the business and resources of
Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) are an important path for the Group to develop
the serious medical/in-hospital market, therefore, the
Company has entered into the the Equity Transfer Agreement
and the Partnership Property Share Transfer Agreement.
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Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
partnership of Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, the
executive Directors of the Company. Therefore, Foshan
Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
is a connected person of the Company and the Acquisition
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement dated 5
February 2024.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group has
not entered into any non-exempt continuing connected
transactions as of 31 December 2024. The Company has
no transactions that are required to be disclosed under
the definitions of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The following transactions constitute the Group’s continuing
connected transactions as of 31 December 2024.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
Background of Contractual Arrangements

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entities include subsidiaries and
holding companies established in China under the laws of the
People’s Republic of China. The Group operated (i) production
and publication of videos; (ii) internet information services;
(iii) internet data center services (including internet resources
cooperation services); and (iv) foreign-related market research
business in the course of their business operations, which
must comply with foreign investment restrictions (collectively
the “Restricted Business”), all of which were operated
by domestic Consolidated Affiliated Entities which hold the
relevant licenses, including the Radio and Television Program
Production and Business Operation License, Value-added
Telecommunications Operation License (“ICP License”),
Internet Data Center Services License (covering internet
resources cooperation services) (“IDC License”) and Foreign-
related Research License (“Foreign-related Research
License”). As the Company may not directly hold equity
in Consolidated Affiliated Entities, we adopted common
practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign investment
restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive
all the economic benefits generated by the businesses
currently operated by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through signing the Contractual Arrangements.

In order to comply with relevant laws and enable the Group
to access international capital markets and maintain effective
control over all of the Group's operations, on 8 June 2021
and 6 May 2022, we entered into Contractual Arrangements
to control our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Therefore, we
do not directly own any equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Under the Contractual Arrangements, we
acquired effective control over the financial and operational
policies of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and have
become entitled to all the economic benefits derived from
their operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue
contributed by all of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the
Group accounted for approximately 5.1% of the total revenue
of the Group, and the total assets of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities in aggregate represented approximately
16.3% of the total assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that the Contractual Arrangements
are fair and reasonable as other companies engaged in the
same or similar industries adopt similar arrangements to
maintain control over all operations and that the Contractual
Arrangements are entered into between the WFOEs and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities after free negotiation. Besides,
through the signing of the business cooperation agreement,
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities can obtain better technical
support and market reputation.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of all
economic benefits which the Group is entitled to by virtue of
the equity interests it holds from the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities to the Group stipulated under the Contractual
Arrangements:

HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE  TAELZKAKE
ERUAEBBKZNEBLA5.1% @ G
BERENEEESRGAEBBEEEN163% -

E=ERRBANLTHATFAE  BRREHRRK
EROITENEM R RHRBRUN R H A4
FYEMAERBHNEZES  BaORHEIHINEGSE
EhXEGAMBERLEAERKRIIY =
INBEBREXRGAERRE  KEANBEERTE
BEFNRMXFHETSRE

ATEEFHARSH LM RESHEERN
PrA BN m (AR BRIEARREGEER %
FRE)RAARER :

'rovide business support,
technical and consulting

Pay business support,
technical and consulting

services service fees
REHEBZIE SNEBZIE -
B K2 74 R AR 7S B K2 w4 A AR s 2

100%

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries

RREREMRENE AT
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2024, the VIE Shareholders were Mr. Wu
Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, who held 89.95% and 10.05%
interests in Sinohealth Information, respectively.

(2) The Other VIE Shareholders have also entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to facilitate the performance of
the obligations of the subsidiaries of Sinohealth Information
under certain agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements.

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang are the Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors of the Company, so
they are both connected persons of the Company according
to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Since Mr. Wu Yushu
and Ms. Wang Lifang hold 89.95% and 10.05% of the
equity interests in Sinohealth Information, respectively,
according to Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules, Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries are related parties of Mr. Wu
Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang and the Company’s connected
persons. Therefore, the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

A description of each of the specific agreements comprising
the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.
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Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to the business cooperation agreements
dated 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2022 entered into by
Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and its
subsidiaries, and the VIE Shareholders (the “Business
Cooperation Agreements”), Sinohealth Information
and its subsidiaries agreed to engage Zhongkang
Technology as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation, intellectual property licensing
and other services, and Sinohealth Information and
its subsidiaries paid technical support and consulting
service fees and intellectual property licensing fees to
Zhongkang Technology.

Business Cooperation Agreements also stipulate that
Zhongkang Technology has ownership of all intellectual
property rights developed or created by Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries during the validity
period of Business Cooperation Agreement.

According to Business Cooperation Agreement, the
service fee is equivalent to the consolidated total
profit of Sinohealth Information during the year and
the part of the consolidated profits of the subsidiaries
that Sinohealth Information is entitled to receive in
total (after offsetting the previous year's losses (if any),
operating costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contributions).

Business Cooperation Agreements have a term of three
years commencing from the dates of the agreements
and shall be automatically renewed for another three
years upon the expiration of each term, unless being
terminated in accordance with the terms therein.
According to the Business Cooperation Agreements,
unless otherwise required by applicable PRC laws and
regulations, none of the parties to the agreement (except
Zhongkang Technology) is entitled to unilaterally
terminate it.
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Zhongkang Technology has the right to terminate the
Business Cooperation Agreements with one month’s
prior written notice in the event that (i) Sinohealth
Information and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable,
breaches any terms under the Business Cooperation
Agreements and fails to rectify within 20 business
days upon receipt of written notice from Zhongkang
Technology; or (ii) Sinohealth Information and/or
its subsidiaries, as applicable, ceases to operate any
business, become insolvent, bankrupt or to be subject
of liquidation or dissolution procedures, be unable to
repay debts due or to be dissolved.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and
its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders and the Other
VIE Shareholders entered into the exclusive option
agreements (the “Exclusive Option Agreements”)
on 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2022, pursuant to
which each of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information agreed to grant Zhongkang Technology
or its designated third party an exclusive option
to transfer their respective equity interests and/or
assets in Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries,
respectively, to Zhongkang Technology and/or a third
party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, at the consideration of RMB1 or
a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws
and regulations. The VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information have also undertaken that, subject to
the relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will
compensate Zhongkang Technology for any difference
in consideration in such way required by Zhongkang
Technology they receive in the event that Zhongkang
Technology exercises the options under the Exclusive
Option Agreements to acquire the equity interests
and/or assets in Sinohealth Information and/or its
subsidiaries, as applicable, that exceeds RMB1.

(=)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRSE

PREMREERUATERTEBEEE—
BEANEEBALIERHEEHZE ()
mEREME /HEMBABRKER)EZ
REBE EZ= N ERMERK - BRER
EETEMEMEEAMARKR20EZEXA
AT AR IE ¢ 3k (ii) R R A e, S LB
BAR(MER) TBEEEEMERY &
HEE - WESKEENTTE RN AIE
A BAEERDREHERR -

BXBEEDS

FREEE - AREAMAREMB AR - A
BHNREERRAREMUEZNZERERKR
HE R2021F6 A8H K2022F5H6
ARV BxEERM=((BXBEREW
2 Bl SUENZERERTESE
MAERTHEREKEEEE=78
FEERE SHUBERLIEBEPER
BR/SEETHNE=ZH BREAR
B TSP BREARERERATNREREE
B EREEELRFTEREEM
MEWNBRARTNSEREN, HEE -
AEMNZERBRERFTEREREMID &
o EAEBEREERREENBERT
WHERRRREREREERBZITFEE
BREWEN T R E XS EH KB R 7 (i
BARANBBAREITTHRER, HE
B BEBAPERMEAERNE@BS
2 1A) AR BR s B 1B W ER 9 1 ] S (R A9 X
Eo

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

87

K



88 DIRECTORS REPORT
EEEBWRSE

The Exclusive Option Agreements have an indefinite
term commencing on the respective dates of the
agreements, until it is terminated: (1) by Zhongkang
Technology unilaterally by giving Sinohealth Information
and its subsidiaries, and/or the VIE Shareholders one-
month prior written notice of termination, as applicable;
or (2) upon the exercise of the option by Zhongkang
Technology to acquire the respective equity interests of
Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries held by
the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information and/or
the assets of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries
to Zhongkang Technology, and the completion of
the relevant registration; or (3) when the continued
performance of the obligations of the agreement
will result in violation of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations. None of Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders
and the Other VIE Shareholders are contractually
entitled to terminate the Exclusive Option Agreements
with Zhongkang Technology.
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Equity Pledge Agreements

Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information
and the VIE Shareholders entered into the equity
pledge agreement and its supplemental agreement
(collectively, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”) on 8
June 2021 and 6 May 2022, respectively, pursuant to
which each of the VIE Shareholders agreed to pledge
all of their respective equity interests in Sinohealth
Information to Zhongkang Technology as a first priority
security interest to guarantee the performance of the
contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding
debts under the Contractual Arrangements.
Meanwhile, the Other VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information retain their respective equity interests
in those subsidiaries instead of pledging them to
Zhongkang Technology. If Sinohealth Information
declares any dividend during the term of the pledge,
Zhongkang Technology is entitled to receive all such
dividends, bonus issue or other income arising from
the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the VIE
Shareholders or Sinohealth Information (including its
subsidiaries) breaches or fails to fulfill the obligations
under any of the aforementioned agreements,
Zhongkang Technology, as the pledgee, upon issuing
a written notice to the pledgors, will be entitled to all
remedies available under PRC laws and the Contractual
Arrangements, including but not limited to disposing of
the pledged equity interests, entirely or partially.
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In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreements,
each of the VIE Shareholders has undertaken to
Zhongkang Technology, among other things, not to
transfer their equity interests in Sinohealth Information
(including its subsidiaries) and not to create or allow
any pledge thereon without its prior written consent.
The pledges in respect of Sinohealth Information take
effect upon the completion of registration with the
relevant PRC authority and shall remain valid until after
all the contractual obligations of the VIE Shareholders
and Sinohealth Information (including its subsidiaries)
under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have
been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of
the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information (including
its subsidiaries) under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully repaid.

The Equity Pledge Agreements have an indefinite
term commencing on the respective dates of the
agreements and shall remain valid until (1) each of
the VIE Shareholders has transferred all of his or her
equity interests and/or assets in Sinohealth Information
in accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements
and completed the relevant registration; (2) the Equity
Pledge Agreements have been unilaterally terminated
by Zhongkang Technology by giving Sinohealth
Information and the VIE Shareholders one-month prior
written notice. The registration of the equity pledge
under the Equity Pledge Agreements was completed
on 9 June 2021 in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.
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(IV) Voting Rights Proxy Agreements

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the
VIE Shareholders, the Other VIE Shareholders and
Zhongkang Technology entered into the voting
rights proxy agreements (the “Voting Rights Proxy
Agreements”) on 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2022,
pursuant to which each of the VIE Shareholders
and Sinohealth Information irrevocably appoint
Zhongkang Technology or its designated directors
and their successors (including a liquidator replacing
the Directors) but excluding those non-independent
Directors or the appointment of whom may give rise to
conflict of interests, as his attorney-in-fact to exercise
such shareholder’s rights in Sinohealth Information and
its subsidiaries.

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, and
the VIE Shareholders undertake that they shall not
take or omit to take any action which may lead to
a conflict of interest with Zhongkang Technology
or its subsidiaries. If there is any conflict of interest,
Zhongkang Technology shall have the right to decide
in its sole discretion how to deal with such conflict
of interest in accordance with the applicable PRC
laws. Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, and
the VIE Shareholders will unconditionally follow the
instructions of Zhongkang Technology to take any
action to eliminate such conflict of interest. In addition,
while the Other VIE Shareholders retain their respective
shareholders’ rights in the relevant subsidiaries of
Sinohealth Information to be exercised on their own,
the Other VIE Shareholders have undertaken to fully
cooperate with Sinohealth Information and Zhongkang
Technology to carry out all procedures as necessary to
perform the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement entered
into by them, including but not limited to, executing
relevant resolutions and other ancillary documents.
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(V)

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreements have an indefinite
term commencing on the respective dates of the
agreements and will be terminated in the event
that: (1) the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements are
unilaterally terminated by Zhongkang Technology by
giving Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the
VIE Shareholders and/or the Other VIE Shareholders,
as applicable, one month’s prior written notice of
termination; or (2) upon the transfer of their respective
entire equity interests in and/or the assets of Sinohealth
Information and/or its subsidiaries to Zhongkang
Technology pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
and the completion of the relevant registration; or (3)
the continued performance of the obligations of the
agreements will result in violation of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.

As of 31 December 2024, there have been no material
changes in the terms of the above contractual
arrangements.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

1) If, in the opinion of the PRC government, the
agreements by which the Group establishes the
business structure to operate the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities in the PRC do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if there
is any subsequent change in such regulations or
their interpretation in the future, the Group may
suffer consequences including cancellation of
contractual arrangements and abandonment of
operating interests as well as the possible impact
of the newly enacted Foreign Investment Law.
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The Contractual Arrangements of the Company
may not be as effective in providing control
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as
direct ownership. If the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities or their shareholders fail to perform their
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements,
the registered shareholders may have conflicts of
interest with the Company.

The Company may lose the ability to use, or
otherwise benefit from, the licenses, approvals
and assets held by any of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities if any of them declares
bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution
or liquidation proceeding.

The Contractual Arrangements may be subject
to scrutiny by PRC tax authorities and additional
tax may be imposed, which may have an adverse
impact on the financial conditions of the Group.

2)

3)

4)
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(VI) Mitigation Measures Taken by the Company

The Company has adopted the following measures
to ensure the effective operation of the Group with
the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements,
including:

1)

The Group’s current business structure
of Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
the Contractual Arrangements have not
been questioned or concerned by the PRC
government, and the Group will regularly
and dynamically follow up and keep abreast
of changes in relevant laws and regulations
issued by the PRC government, and when
necessary, appoint external legal advisers or
other professional advisers to assess changes
and corresponding risks and formulate relevant
countermeasures;

Major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements
or any regulatory enquiries from governmental
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an
occurrence basis;

The Board will review the overall performance
of and compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements at least once a year;

The Company will disclose the overall
performance and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements in annual reports;

The Company will engage external legal advisers
or other professional advisers, if necessary, to
assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the
legal compliance of Zhongkang Technology
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal
with specific issues or matters arising from the
Contractual Arrangements.
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(VII) Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to
the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.105 of the
Listing Rules , and (ii) the requirement of setting an
annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules,
and (i) the requirement of limiting the term of the
Contractual Arrangements to three years or less under
Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange, subject to certain
conditions. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.

(VIIl) Confirmation of Independent Non-executive

Directors in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
of the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2024
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by
Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and
(iii) no new transactions, contracts and agreements or
renewal of existing agreements have been entered into
between the Group and Sinohealth Information and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Confirmation of the Auditor in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions in connection with
Contractual Agreements for the year ended 31 December
2024, in particular, confirming that the transactions have
received the approval of the Directors, have been entered into
in accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements,
and that no dividends or other distributions have been made
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of
their equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

Related Party Transactions

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting
Period, the Company had no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
connected transactions.

Details of related party transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 December
2024, save as disclosed above, there were no related party
transactions that constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that were subject to
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As of 31 December 2024, save as disclosed elsewhere in
this report, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, redeemed or sold any of its listed securities (including
sales of treasury shares). As of 31 December 2024, no treasury
shares (as defined under the Listing Rules) were held by the
Company.

DIRECTORS ’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Directors and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this annual report, at no time
during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report and the announcement relating
to the Share Award Scheme, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, charitable donations
made by the Group amounted to RMB500,000.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2025 annual general meeting is expected to be held on
19 June 2025, and the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 16 June 2025 to Thursday,
19 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. For determining the
entitlement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting, all share transfer
document(s) accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s)
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong, for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13
June 2025.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general
meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to Monday, 30 June
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders entitled to the Proposed Final Dividend. In
order to be eligible for the Proposed Final Dividend, each
shareholder shall return all relevant transfer document(s)
and share certificate(s) to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24
June 2025.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. A
resolution will be proposed for approval by shareholders at
the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the
auditor of the Company. There has been no change in the
Company's auditors in the preceding three years.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING REHBREEEIE

PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant events B E#LiFFESN - 7R 2024F 12 A31 HEE AR
to be disclosed from 31 December 2024 up to the date of this S HE] > MEEMEAFIEBTHE -

report.

By order of the Board AEEEMm
Sinohealth Holdings Limited FEZERERAE
Wu Yushu EEZRREEHTE
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer REHF
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards and believes that they are essential
for the Company to safeguard shareholders ‘interests and
enhance corporate value.

The Company has adopted the principles and provisions of the
CG Code and complied with the applicable code provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period, except
for Rule C.2.1 which stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
performed by the same individual. The Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Reporting Period. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group. Under the supervision of the
Board, it ensures that the Board has an appropriate structure
of checks and balances and provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders.

The Company will review its corporate governance practices
from time to time and strive to enhance its alignment with
business operations and developments to ensure compliance
with statutory and latest business developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required of a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time in
performing them.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance

of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of
the Company and independence in decision making.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises six Directors. As at 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has
two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Lifang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Danzhou
Ms. Du Yilin
Mr. Wei Bin

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report. The list of Directors (by category) is also
disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in
all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, the Directors do not have
any other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Wu Yushu is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and overall management and daily operations of
the Group. Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in the
healthcare information and data analysis industries and has
been instrumental to the growth and business expansion of
the Company since the Group was founded in 2007. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person ensures consistency in
the management and strategic layout of the Group. The senior
management and the Board are composed of experienced
individuals who ensure a balance of power and authority in
their operations.

The Board will from time to time review and consider splitting
the roles of chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company to ensure appropriate and timely arrangements are
in place to meet changing circumstances.

Independent non-executive Director

During the Reporting Period, the Board complied with Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors (i.e. at least one-third of the Board and one of
them must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise) at all
times.

The Company has received from each independent non-
executive Director an annual written confirmation of his or her
independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all Independent Non-executive Directors are independent
and remain independent up to the date of this report.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract, and the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors have been appointed for a specific
term of three years, which is renewable by mutual consent
and subject to the requirements of the Articles of Association.
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The Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
Board shall be subject to election by shareholders at the next
following general meeting of the Company.

Each Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings
of the Company under the Articles of Association.

Responsibilities, Accountability and Contribution of
the Directors and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is responsible for directing and
supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are
in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have contributed valuable business experience, knowledge
and professional skills for the efficient and effective operation
of the Board. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for overseeing a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgment on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.
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As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved
to the Company, the Directors update the Board regarding
offices held in public companies and organisations and other
significant commitments once every half year.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors should keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes to discharge their responsibilities effectively and
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed
and relevant.

The Company encourages Directors to participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to update
their knowledge and skills and, where appropriate, arranges
internal training courses for Directors and issues reading
materials on relevant topics to Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company organised training
courses organised by legal advisers for all Directors. The
training courses cover a number of relevant topics such as
directors 'duties and responsibilities, continuing connected
transactions, disclosure of interests and regulatory updates.
In addition, the Company has provided the Directors with
relevant reading materials, including compliance manuals/
updates on legal and regulatory/seminar handouts, to the
Directors for their reference and study.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
have their respective terms of reference. The respective terms
of reference of these committees will be revised from time to
time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and comply with the Corporate Governance Code
(if applicable). The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's
website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Attendance Records pf Directors and Committee
Members

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings in
total, with active participation of all Directors either in person
or through electronic means of communication, and the
attendance records of each Director at Board meetings and
Board Committee meetings of the Company are set out in the
table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/RRE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
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Name of Directors EEnA E=g EREEE FHZEES REZEE
Mr. Wu Yushu REFTE 4/4 — — 11
Ms. Wang Lifang FRF LT 4/4 — 171 —
Mr. Fu Haitao (Op)Fites 4/4 — — —
Mr. Wei Bin BH 4 4/4 22 — —
Ms. Wang Danzhou TR 4/4 212 171 17
Ms. Du Yilin MR+ 4/4 212 17 11
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors of the
Company, namely, Ms. Wang Danzhou, Ms. Du Yilin and Mr.
Wei Bin. Mr. Wei Bin is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has communicated with the
management and the external auditor and has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held
two meetings. The first meeting was held for discussing
matters such as audit plan, review of financial reporting,
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems, and corrective measures of internal control for the
Reporting Period. During the first meeting, the members of
the Audit Committee also discussed a proposal by Sinohealth
Information, a subsidiary of the Company, to acquire a
50.6% equity interest in Zhonghui Medical and ultimately
recommended that the Board approve the Acquisition. The
second Audit Committee meeting was held with the external
auditors in the absence of the executive Directors and
management.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and the
senior management of the Group, review remuneration
and ensure that none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration, as well as review and/or approve related share
award schemes.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms.
Du Yilin, and one executive Director, namely Ms. Wang Lifang.
Ms Wang Danzhou is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during
the Reporting Period to discuss the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management. Three Remuneration
Committee members actively participated in the meeting in
person or through electronic communication.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details
of the remuneration of the senior management (other than
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management. The Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang
Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, and one executive Director, Mr.
Wu Yushu. Mr. Wu Yushu is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to review the terms of appointment
under the service contracts of the executive Directors and
the background and identity of the senior management.
The Nomination Committee considers that the Board has
maintained an appropriate balance of diversity of views.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION
POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the basic principles to be
followed to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high
standards of corporate governance.

The Company recognises and embraces the importance of
having a diverse Board and considers increasing diversity at
the Board level, including gender diversity, as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage
and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate
employees from the wider possible pool of talent. Pursuant
to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity, including gender
diversity, on the Board and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

The Board currently comprises six Directors, half of whom
are female Directors, including Ms. Wang Lifang, an
executive Director and Ms. Wang Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin,
independent non-executive Directors. According to the current
composition of the Board, the Company is of the view that
gender diversity in respect of the Board has been achieved.
Out of the 768 employees of the Group as at 31 December
2024, 513 were female, accounting for more than 67% of
the total workforce. Accordingly, the Company considers that
gender diversity is also achieved in its workforce.
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The Board has also adopted the nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the nomination
procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of
the Board of the Group. The Nomination Policy is adopted by
the Board and administered by the Nomination Committee.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on, amongst
others, character and integrity, qualifications, willingness to
devote adequate time and a range of diversity perspectives
with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs. Selection and recommendation of candidates will be
based on the nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee and a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualification, skills,
knowledge, and industry and regional experience, length
of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates. The Company should also take into
account factors relating to its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy and the measurable
objectives periodically, and as appropriate, to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

The Company recognizes that the independence of the
Board is critical to sound corporate governance. The Board
has established a mechanism to ensure that independent
views and opinions are provided to the Board. Pursuant to
the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board shall appoint at
least three independent non-executive Directors and at least
one-third of the members shall be independent non-executive
Directors, and the independent non-executive Directors of
the Company has constituted one-half of the Board. The
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Nomination Committee of the Company strictly complies
with the independence assessment criteria for the nomination
and appointment of independent non-executive Directors
as set out in the Listing Rules, and is authorized to assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
annually to ensure that they continue to make independent
judgments. All Directors may also seek independent
professional advice when performing their duties, and the
relevant expenses shall be borne by the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The audit
committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted various risk
management policies, procedures and internal control
process with defined rights and responsibilities for each
key personnel, including but not limited to, intellectual
property management policy, anti-bribery policy, anti-money
laundering management, risk assessment management,
connected transaction management, procurement and
payment management, assets management, human resources
and remuneration management, capital management and
information system security management policy.
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The Group has established an internal audit department
which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee and
senior management on any issues identified. The Group's
internal audit department members are required to report
to the management to discuss any internal control issues
that the Group encounters and the corresponding measures
to implement toward resolving such issues. The internal
audit department also reports to the Audit Committee to
ensure that any major issues identified are channeled to the
committee on a timely basis. The Audit Committee then
discusses the issues and reports to the Board, if necessary.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2024, and considers that:

1) the financial records have been properly maintained and
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
operations and finances of the Group;

2)  the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective and adequate.

Based on the risk management and internal audit systems
established by the Group, the Board and the Audit Committee
considered that, through the review of risk management
and internal audit systems of the Group, it can evaluate and
improve their effectiveness. The Board, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee, considered that the Group’s
internal control systems, including financial, operational and
compliance, were effective and adequate for the year ended
31 December 2024 based on the work performed and report
prepared by the team as well as the confirmation letter
received by the management. The Group will perform ongoing
assessments to update all material risk factors on a regular
basis. In any case, review of risk management and internal
control systems by the Board will be conducted annually.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate
employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement regularly
and ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair
and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a comprehensive guidance to the Company’s
Directors, senior management and relevant employees
on handling and disseminating confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information
are strictly prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles of
Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the members of the Company but no dividend shall
be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. No dividend shall be declared or payable except out
of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available
for distribution, including share premium. No dividend shall
carry interest which will be borne by the Company. The
Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate, based on
various factors such as the Company’s earnings and financial
condition, operation needs, capital requirements, payment to
the Company of cash dividend by its subsidiaries and other
factors that the Directors may deem relevant. The Company
will continue to re-evaluate its dividend plan in light of its
operation needs, earnings, financial condition, working capital
requirements and future business plans as the Board may
deem relevant at such time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors and relevant
staff, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Reporting Period.

Relevant employees of the Company who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company due
to their duties or employment should also comply with the
requirements of the Model Code.The Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the Model Code by the relevant
employees of the Group during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a fair, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of inside information,
other disclosures required by the Listing Rules and other legal
and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Board with the necessary
explanations and information to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial statements of the
Company and submit them to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
regarding its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in
this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to RMB2,230,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, an external service provider, and Ms. Zhang
Xiao has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company after Mr. Wan Chuan resigned as the joint company
secretary of the Company on 10 September 2024.

Mr. Yu Bogian (F1&35k), head of investor relations affairs
of the Company, is Ms. Zhang's primary contact person in
the Company. Ms. Zhang completed more than 15 hours of
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024 to update her
skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an
ongoing dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. The
annual general meeting was held on 19 June 2024 and all
Directors were present in person or via video conference to
answer any enquiries that shareholders might have.

The Company maintains a website at ir.sinohealth.cn as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company
and investors, where the financial information and other
relevant information of the Company are available for public
access.
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The Company held one results exchange meeting after the
announcement of the interim results for 2024. The Company
has also received enquiries from shareholders from time to
time and such enquiries have been properly resolved. The
Board considers that the shareholder communication policy
has been properly implemented and is effective.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting may be convened on the written requisition
of any one or more shareholders of the Company by
depositing at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong a written requisition signed by the requisitionist
specifying the question for the meeting and being, as at the
date of deposit of the requisition, a shareholder representing
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or
the Cayman Companies Act for shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out
in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director” of
the Company which is posted on the Company's website.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

The contact details of the Company are set out in the
Company's website (ir.sinohealth.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not make any changes to its Articles of Association. The
current version of the Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the second Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report (“this report” or “ESG Report”)
issued by Sinohealth Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred
to as “Sinohealth Holdings”, the “Company”, the “Group”
or “we"). This report covers the governance strategies, main
initiatives and key indicators of the Group in the areas of
social responsibility, corporate governance and sustainable
development for the year 2024. Through this report, we hope
to enhance communication with various stakeholders and
communicate our efforts and contributions in environmental
and social sustainability.

Reporting scope
This report covers the principal activities of the Group,
including Zhongkang Technology and its subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting period refers to the
financial year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period").

Reporting standards

This report was prepared in accordance with the provisions
outlined in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “Guide"”) set out in Appendix C2 of
the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange based on the
actual situation of the Group. The content of this report also
complies with the mandatory disclosure requirements, the
“comply or explain” provisions and the requirements of the
four reporting principles in the Guide. Appendix Il of this
report has an index to the Guide with reference to the content
of this report for your quick reference.

o Materiality. Based on communication with internal
and external stakeholders, collection of publicly
available information, and peer benchmarking, the
Group has identified and evaluated the materiality
level of ESG issues that significantly impact the Group
and its stakeholders. Details regarding the materiality
assessment, as well as the main channels and specifics
of stakeholder engagement, are disclosed in the
“Sustainability Management” section of this report.
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o Quantification. To illustrate the Group's
implementation of the aforementioned ESG issues,
the Group has recorded, compiled, and analyzed
environmental and social data, clearly outlining their
purpose and impact. For key economic and social
performance indicators, please refer to Appendix |
“ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL KPI SUMMARY " of
this report. The key performance indicators disclosed
in this report are all measurable, and where applicable,
the standards, assumptions and/or calculation methods
used are disclosed.

o Balance. The Group has impartially disclosed all positive
and negative impacts arising during the reporting
period, along with the mitigation measures adopted,
striving to present the Group's performance objectively.
Efforts have been made to avoid influencing readers’
decisions or judgments through inappropriate selection,
omission, or reporting format.

o Consistency. This report adopts consistent disclosure
methodologies and indicators to ensure comparability
and reference value for key disclosures across different
reporting periods. Any material changes in the
information covered will be clearly indicated, if any.

Reporting language and access method

This report is available for inspection in both Traditional
Chinese and English.

This report is available for inspection and download in an
electronic document on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (http:/ir.sinohealth.cn/).

Approval of the report

This report has been reviewed and approved by the board of
directors (the “Board”) of the Company on 28 March 2025
for publication.
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Feedback

We greatly value your feedback on this report. Should you
have any inquiries or suggestions regarding the contents
of this report or the Company’s environmental, social and
governance performance, please contact us by sending emails
to ir@sinohealth.cn.

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

Leveraging 18 years of deep-rooted experience in the
healthcare industry, Sinohealth has built advantages in data
assets, Al large model and the industrial ecosystem. We
adhered to strategic upgrading and product iteration offering
our clients a comprehensive one-stop digital and intelligent
solution that includes Al agent applications tailored for
healthcare, pharmacies, business, health management and
R&D. We believe that the value orientation of long-termism
and the concept of sustainable development complement
each other and are also the support and guarantee of our
sustainable development. We will actively undertake corporate
social and environmental protection responsibilities, protect
the development and rights of employees, and constantly
improve the Company's performance in all aspects by giving
back to the society.

The Board assumes full responsibility for the Company's
ESG strategies and reports, and is responsible for assessing
and analyzing the Company’s ESG risks, ensuring that the
Company establishes appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal management system, supervising
the progress of ESG work, and regularly reviewing relevant
reports.

We dynamically assess the importance of ESG issues according
to their concerns and priorities, based on communication and
feedback from different stakeholders. Through the disassembly
of key indicators of important ESG issues and target setting,
combined with the Company’s actual performance feedback,
we ensure that the concept of sustainable development is
synchronized with the Company’s development strategy.
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This report will provide detailed information on the Group’s
ESG performance in 2024. The Board guarantees that
this report is free of any misrepresentations, misleading
statements or material omissions. In the future, the Company
will continue to improve its ESG management level and
performance according to the expectations of different
stakeholders in ESG.

ABOUT US
Company Profile

Sinohealth Holding is a leading provider of digital and
intelligent solutions in the health industry. Leveraging
extensive data and industrial resources, the Company
focuses on Al healthcare scenario applications and data value
exploration to help clients enhance quality and efficiency.
It is committed to establishing a patient-centered digital
intelligence whole life-cycle health management system,
thus realizing the Company’s vision of “developing smart
healthcare industry and promoting smart healthy life.”

Since its establishment in 2007, the Group has been deeply
engaged in the health industry, adhering to the business
philosophy of “customer-oriented, technology-based and
entrepreneurial spirit”. Leveraging 18 years of deep-rooted
experience in the healthcare industry, the Group has built
advantages in data assets, Al large model technology, industry
insight and the industrial ecosystem. We have developed
a comprehensive one-stop digital and intelligent solution
framework that includes Al agent applications tailored for
healthcare, pharmacies, business, health management and
R&D. Based on deeply integrating its long-accumulated
Al expertise, the Group has successfully developed the
Woodpecker medical large model specifically tailored to the
vertical field of healthcare, thereby establishing a technical
barrier for the Group. As at the end of the Reporting Period,
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the business of the Group has covered the major players in &L RRMIBEEEZ T HEMIBE N > AR
health industry such as pharmaceutical and medical device FRAKEMEREFIEZR  AEBEEK AR
manufacturers, pharmaceutical and medical device retailers, FREZXZHE(LHS|EE -

physical examination institutions, medical institutions, and

innovative pharmaceutical enterprises. The Group efficiently

empowers clients in digital transformation, market expansion,

client management and operational decision-making,

assisting them in building capabilities for efficient operational

decision-making and precise market engagement, thus

enhancing client efficiency and driving performance growth.

The Group has become a leader in the digital and intelligent

transformation of the healthcare industry.

Corporate culture EEX

Corporate mission: developing smart healthcare industry and A Fd : EERFEE TEERLE
promoting smart healthy life

Corporate vision: becoming a leading digital technology 2R TRES : M AOKRK AL m T 282 ERE L

company in the field of life sciences C0F 2eE S ES F/NC]

Corporate values: customer-centricity, responsibility and ®%EEH : UEF A+ L BHTHEE H
accountability, openness and sharing WA

Review of Significant Events in 2024 2024 FEEEEHEE

2024.1 — PREERERE2023FRMNTRERMNBI BT R IATERAFEREE -

— Zhongkang Technology was honored to be listed on the “100 Wisdom Gathering (B & & %)"
Artificial Intelligence Innovation and Development List selected by Guangzhou Science and
Technology Bureau (BN TR /3).
2024.2 — PR REREARBEERERRSE e BB

— Zhongkang Technology became one of the first member units of the Guangdong Data
Element Industry Association (BEREBIEZZEEMD).
— FEREMEESRIENR B R85 (SBT) M 1.5C L B IZRE °

— Zhongkang Technology received the 1.5°C near-term target certification from the Science
Based Targets initiative (SBTi)

2024.4 - PRMRERREMERMBERENEREARFEEEIIBE T EEMARXP ORE °

— Zhongkang Technology was certified by the Department of Science and Technology of
Guangdong Province as the Guangdong Province Big Health Pharmaceutical Data Engineering
Technology Research Center (B & K2R B 28R T2 BT FE A 0.
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2024.6 —BEABNSLE ASE HEAEBNEREENRAMBEESE -
— The People’s Government of Hainan Province approved the “PHCF” as a key professional
conference brand to be cultivated by the provincial government.

2024.8 —FTLEAESNAMNE - BERRKRE6EA @ FER_X -
— The 17th CPEO was successfully held, with a total attendance exceeding 60,000 people,
representing a 20% year-on-year increase.

2024.9 — FERMRIERIBBERMRBEX IR AEEMNTERBEBEERER] -

— Zhongkang Technology was successfully selected as one of the "First Batch of Data Element
Enterprises in Guangzhou (BEMM M BB EXZ{%)" as a "Data Technology Service
Enterprise (BUB M ARG ). "

— PR RGBT E RN REE Ecovadis PEMH SR ENAGHRE -
— Zhongkang Technology received the Corporate Social Responsibility Committed Badge from
Ecovadis, an internationally authoritative sustainable development rating agency.

2024.12 — PERBHREMC2024 FR BB RIS ENE)
— Zhongkang Technology released the “2024 China Pharmaceutical Terminal Market Blue Book
(2024FHhEIBELIGTHENE) ).”
—HPEMEEIMENBRERARE SESBEARA MR CMBEE -

— Zhongkang Technology's self-developed medical large model, “Woodpecker Medical Model,”
secured the top position on the CMB evaluation list.

—[EERBEAEL | MedbenchEERHAML - BEEFEEGEHRES  HHRESEHE
IPE AR E IH TR °

— The "Woodpecker Medical Model” stood out in the MedBench rankings, achieving fifth place
overall and third in complex medical reasoning.

—[FERSBEZS|Z1.0IENERRMER A RIAIMERS B MindSpore | » e I i@ iE F B
HERBUERMRE
— The "Woodpecker Medical Engine 1.0,” based on Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd.’s

“Al Framework MindSpore,” completed and passed the Ascend compatibility technical
certification.

— PRI E S T EEMQ024 BETXARTEERBY): MERRGHREEEMA -

— Zhongkang Technology, in collaboration with Ele.me, released the “2024 Pharmaceutical
Industry Instant Retail Development Trends (202428 2277 2 BN T E 2R 8%0),” indicating
that new health services are expanding incremental spaces.
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SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT
ESG Governance framework

The Group has established an ESG Management Committee
under the Board to support the Board in formulating and
implementing environmental, social and governance policies,
and collecting and disclosing environmental, social and
governance data. The ESG Management Committee assists
the Board in supervising the implementation of environmental,
social and governance policies and measures and report to
the Board on a regular basis. When major deviations from
the goals are detected, the ESG Management Committee
will actively investigate the reasons for any deviation from
the goals and objectives, and the Board will modify the
Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies as
appropriate.

We have also set up an ESG execution team which is
responsible for implementing the environmental, social and
governance policies and measures formulated by the ESG
Management Committee. The team members come from
key departments such as the human resources operation
center, administration and procurement center, marketing
center, technology center and security and compliance center.
The team is specifically responsible for the implementation
of various ESG affairs, understanding the demands of
stakeholders, evaluating ESG r i sks based on the Company’s
business conditions, improving assessment indicators and
facilitating the achievement of the ESG tasks and is responsible
for disclosing annual ESG information.

ESG Affairs’ Implementation

The Board supports our commitment to fulfil environmental,
social and governance responsibilities, and is responsible for
managing the overall direction of our environmental, social
and governance policies and ensuring the effectiveness of
strategy implementation, as well as monitoring the Group’s
performance and compliance disclosure relating to its
achievement of ESG goals.

RIR - HBKREIBHS

AGERRER
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During the two board meetings held regularly by the Group
each year, the ESG Management Committee reports on
the implementation of ESG policies during the period, the
Directors discuss and communicate with each other on
important ESG disclosure matters and make suggestions on
important matters disclosed. Such matters include, among
others, in terms of the marketing and expansion of business,
encouraging the use of online meetings or conference calls
on the premise of not affecting the marketing effect, which
can not only reduce promotion costs and improve efficiency,
but also reduce the number of business trips to reduce carbon
emissions. The Board will continue to monitor ESG initiatives
and performance to align the Company’s strategies with
sustainability.

Communication with stakeholders

With regard to the management of environmental, social and
climate-related issues, the Board recognises the expectations
of stakeholders and the importance of their engagement.
Therefore, the Board supervises the implementation of
communication channels between stakeholders and the Group
to ensure that the Group has established an appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control system for
environmental, social and governance.

The Group actively understands the concerns and specific
demands of stakeholders, gives timely feedback to
stakeholders, and optimises the Company’s ESG management
decisions and measures based on the feedback. We are
committed to optimising the communication channels with
different stakeholders, and collecting opinions from all
parties through normal and sufficient communication, thus
improving the Company’s management level and achieving its
sustainable development.
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Types of stakeholders
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Expectations

ML

RIR - HBKREIBHS

Communication channels

BB

Shareholders

Corporate governance

Annual general meetings

BR=R ®EER and other general meetings
Financial results RERBFRE REMBRREE®
WS A Non-deal roadshow
Compliant operations FER G A
B Financial reports and information
announcements
MEmEEERRE
Public platform communication
NRFRBER
Customers Data quality Product application consultation
EF giEmy and Q&A

Information security guarantee
= BRERE

Compliant operations
BRKE

Service quality assurance

AR%5 B R

EmE AR REERE

Regular visits

EBFE

Customer visits and online
communication
KRR Em

Customer satisfaction survey
and feedback

EFmEREAEMNE RS

Industrial ecological platform

Business partners

BIERH

Business ethics and creditworthiness
AFRBREEE

Win-win cooperation

EERR

Fair competition

NFEF

Supplier selection meetings
e Ee R

Service acceptance and evaluation
AR 75 i Uk B ST Ak

Interests exchange and cooperation

R HBREAE
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Types of stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
F 25 A6 B8 & A HE BB

Employees Compensation and benefits Regular performance review
BT 7 B B 2 ) and communication

Training and promotion
FH|RE

Health and safety

(e RS

R TERT I ZEER

Regular communication of
employees’ opinions

BTEREHRER

Setting channels for employees to
express their opinions

RUBIFRESRRE

Regulatory authorities

EEHE

Paying tax according to law

BT

Compliance with relevant laws
and regulations

BTHEBARER

Business ethics

BEBRE

Business information disclosure
and reporting
IEF R TR B R
Written response from
the regulatory authorities
EEMIEEREDE
Government related meetings
and regular visits

BT HERE & % K A Eh

Community organisations

HEAS

Giving back to society

ClEEtt &

Energy saving and emission
reduction and green office

ERRE R B BRAR B I X

Public welfare and charity

N E

Monitoring and disclosure of
environmental performance
indicators

RIFE IR BRI B BR

Industry associations

TEHE

Industry experience exchange
TRERN

Promote industry advancement
HBITEES

Participate in industry forums
2 EITERE
Enhance r&d capabilities

RITHTERE N

Media outlets

=33

Transparency of information disclosure

ERRFAEHA
Real-time business updates

BB BT R

Press conferences
MERhE

news reports

FE B

Performance announcements
ES PNl

Media activities

(E3ESEE)
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Materiality assessment

Based on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide, the stakeholder
survey of this year reviewed issues related to the Group’s ESG
management in 2024, and formulated ESG issues in light of
the Group's business development direction.

Based on stakeholder communication, collection of public
available information and peer benchmarking, and referring
to the governance issues stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s ESG Guide, the Group has sorted out 21 ESG
issues. Taking into account of the expectations and feedback
suggestions of the Group's stakeholders, the ESG material
issue matrix of Sinohealth Holdings was finally determined
after discussion and analysis. Among them, 9 are issues of
high materiality, 8 are issues of moderate materiality and 4
are issues of general materiality. In the future, the Group will
continue to pay attention to these issues, and will focus on the
above-mentioned issues of high materiality when formulating
relevant internal development strategies and management
policies.

RIR - HBKREIBHS

EEMFTM
NEZHMFEBEATUABT BB ACGRE - &
gRERMEEIIDAKE  BHR2024FEAR
EEESGEENBREVNLECEBRNERERE
JTA - B ESG A THIE o

AEBERMEHBEERE  2REEKRSE
RTHER U2 ER BB AESGIEEIBAH
B B 21IHESGERE - BAAKE R =
ENHEEDERZ  KdmEST &K
FEETHRERESGER LR BB - Hr -
IERSEEZHRE SHEATMEEZRE M
ARB—REERR - KK - AEBEKFERT
B L - W B E A EDAE B B R R R SRR 1

BER BRE B D EEREEARE -

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

127

[



128 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - B KREIBHRS

Issue’s materiality No. Type Issue
BEEEM E2 353 E:ha]l BERA
High materiality 1 Social Product Quality Management
BEEEZE tHe EmEEERE
2 Social Data Security and Privacy Protection
tHe B2 EELRE
3 Social Al Technology Enhancement
and Development
e Al i HR T B 3 R
4 Social Employee Training and Development
"He S THIEER
5 Governance Integrity in Business Operations
=P HERE
6 Governance Compliant Operations
a8 BRKE
7 Governance Intellectual Property Management
Ba HBEREIR
8 Social Employee Rights Protection
te 8 THRERRE
9 Governance Operational Risk Management
ga EEERERE
Moderate materiality 10 Governance Optimization of Governance Structure
hEEZEE B8 RIB BRI
11 Governance Supplier Management
=P HERE IR
12 Social Employee Care and Welfare
e 8 TR 1R &R
13 Social Occupational Safety and Health
e BETEHEER
14 Social Community Engagement
e Bl EE it &
15 Governance ESG Governance
ER ESGER
16 Social Equality and Diversity Development
He FEEZ TV ER
17 Social Employment Compliance
nHe BRER
General materiality 18 Environmental Energy Conservation and
—MREERB Emission Reduction
RIR B e HE
19 Environmental Waste Management
RIR BEEYEIE
20 Environmental Green Office Practices
RIR AR N
21 Environmental Climate Change Response
RIR e Rz ML
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HEERMEE

Moderate Materiality Issues

EEEEMEE
High-Materiality Issues

v
S
[]
3
° 3
o I
<
&a W  ESGEA
3 E . gt ESG Governance
Community Engagement
2 ¥ BEZ2HEE
=™ Occupational Safety and Health
° K
s o FERSRABR
% Equality and Diversity Development
=
BRER
Employment Compliance
BRYEE .
1 Waste Management REELER
Optimization of Governance Structure
‘ﬁEEEE
Supplier Management
.ﬁ%ﬁ#
PN Energy Conservation and
A - .
® Green Office Practices ST Rl aaT
o EHEES
Climate Change Response
—REEMHE

Low-Materiality Issues

Materiality to Enterprise

HHE¥EEMN
O RIERE o BERERE O HEERE
Environmental Issues Governance Issues Social Issues

“RCNEFERE | PEERERAF



130 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - HBKRERBHRS

DIGITAL AND INTELLIGENT PRODUCTS MATRIX #E{tERERE

During the year, the Company adhered to its Al-driven AFE R GRIFAISRS) BB AL - INRE SR
strategic upgrade, accelerating product iteration, and has %K EEBEZRE=2E &5 BHH - BRE
developed a one-stop digital and intelligent solution covering ¥ * fiZ& A RS T —h XN EEL IR =R -
five key scenarios: medical, pharmacy, commercial, health EEITEIARE AT O INEE L EmE
management, research and development. This aims to EEEEERX BRAFSE@RREX T2
establish a “patient-centric” digital and intelligent full life cycle  f2FEAE IMEBFm -

health management system, and achieving the Company’s

historic mission of “developing smart healthcare industry and

promoting smart healthy life”.

Sinohealth Digital Intelligence Solutions System

z
q 5 2 Medical Product
SinohealthB{E{LtB RS EER f x Suppiers WONE R IBRS
S E Pharmaceutical Retail gz 3
E * Enterprises
Smart Decision Cloud Smart Retail Cloud Maﬁ'a"gae’,'n'!ﬁi'érm Smart Medical Cloud % ® s H?SP't_als Ll
BEARE wETEE TERNEEE TS S e o MR 1R
CHIS P2 Full-course Disease 2 J572 £ ® Investment Institutions 3% i 4#%
Pharmacy Connect %% /538 SiCXinkang SIC A-MDT  AI-MDT Managementand &8+ 2 =
Linghe $R& platform LEEF A Health Management {2 BE & 32 Patients Support 8.2 3235 2 =
Lingsu $f3% Yilingtong E4R3% ot Platform SE-& -
Think Cloud System 5822 % ¢ Lingtong 437 Intelligent 3 Woodpecker MDT Online <2E£ 8 MDT S Patients B
Retal Isight @ #5358 iMDT platform iMDTF-& Multidisciplinary 1452 SR g [—

Terminal Insight 4% 355 52 Consultation Platform &r3F

Pharmacy Staff 3IERER

Ecologltal Empowerment System 4RERKAERE R Pharmacy Members #iE® R

Customer Service

CPEO (Alfo it etc.), PHCF, CPIE, MASC, TMEC...... o
(A for Health K8 - !tﬁ ligtixltx) ERE - m&t ;est RRERERRE Health Examination s
No.1 y L ) No.1 Pharmacy HERE), y i A) Clients AR

y
(ﬁl!l) Medical DnmlogyFomm(llllﬁl) Physician Weekly (B &5 /@71)......
WERERE - A—REME - REA - HER - ERBEGY - Iﬁ!ﬂ .....

Fundamental Capabilities ZRERE S

Industry Research Institute Big Data Research Institute
ERTRE ABETRR

Core Technologies %5 #i

Innovative Drug
Companies HERER

R&D Institutions W“fjl
CROS CROXZF]

(Mos CMO2T

Al Empowerment Value Creation

Woodpecker Al Medical Large Model (Tiangong No.1 Commercial Smart

Middleware + Woodpecker Medical Middleware)
EERAIBRARE (XE-—SHAERTA+SERBETSR)
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During the year, the Company continuously deepens
established businesses and consolidates established
competitive advantages while accelerating product innovation
and exploring new growth trajectories :

(a)

In the To B business, we continued to consolidate
our established advantageous position in the out-
of-hospital market while expanding our in-hospital
innovative business. By integrating “in-hospital + out-
of-hospital” healthcare and pharmaceutical data, we
built a diversified, omnichannel healthcare industry data
base. Relying on the Woodpecker Al Medical Large
Model as technological engine and our long-established
ecosystem, we provided Al- empowered digital and
intelligent solutions to medical product suppliers and
pharmaceutical retailers, including:

(i) Digital and intelligent decision-making
solutions: It primarily includes our cloud
products of intelligent decision-making for
medical product suppliers. In the out-of-hospital
market, by focusing the major factors of “user,
production and scene”, the Company offered
medical product suppliers a comprehensive
solution that includes “omnichannel data +
digital and intelligent insight services + an
intelligent Daa$ system” covering retail market
insights, new retail insights, DTP and hospital
market insights, consumer market insights and
comprehensive market insights. This could
help our clients enhance their decision-making
efficiency in areas such as strategic planning,
production, marketing and market positioning.
In the in-hospital market, we have adapted the
mature model built in the out-of-hospital market,
deeply understood client needs, accelerated
product innovation, and helped medical product
suppliers establish digital and intelligent decision-
making capabilities to improve efficiency.
Through the synergy of efforts in the out-of-
hospital and in-hospital markets, we provided
resolutions for clients in a more comprehensive
and precise manner.

RIR - HBKREIBHS
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(ii)

(iii)

Digital and intelligent retail solutions:
It primarily includes our cloud products of
intelligent retail solutions. In terms of chain
stores, we offered a one- stop digital and
intelligent product centred on SIC, a “system
+ strategy + service + content” package, to
empower medical retail enterprises in improving
digital intelligence and pharmacy management
efficiency. This also created a “patient-centered”
health management portal to increase loyalty
and consumption willingness among pharmacy
members. In terms of industrial enterprises, we
provided an integrated digital and intelligent
marketing solution covering planning, execution,
tracking and review, to help medical product
suppliers achieve efficient service delivery and
drive revenue growth.

Digital and intelligent medical solutions:
It primarily includes our cloud products of
intelligent medical care. We collaborated with
pharmaceutical and medical device companies
as well as medical institutions to provide full-
course disease management and support services
for patients with critical illnesses. By innovatively
offering a full-range patient care, we enhanced
the continuity, convenience and professionalism
of the patient management, helping device
companies and medical institutions improve
patient management. This has been highly
recognized by our clients. In addition, by
establishing and operating the intelligent iMDT
platform, we have connected experts and
doctors in the field of oncology from various
hospitals to offer authoritative treatment and
health management plans for tumor patients.
This has help facilitate the access of patients to
more appropriate medications, treatments and
health management services.
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In the To C business, based on the ecological
advantages and leading professional capabilities
established in the To B business, and in response to
the increasing personal health demands of individual
consumers from the To C business, the Company has
accelerated product iteration and innovation, expanded
the user base and provided “light” and “heavy” digital
intelligent service solutions, of which:

(i) “Light” refers to health management.
Through cooperation with medical institutions
and health management organizations, we
provided a intelligent health management cloud
series of products and services based on the
Woodpecker Medical Large Model. This offered
digital intelligent health management solutions
(the "Woodpecker AI-MDT") for users who
underwent a check-up and populations at risk for
chronic diseases, including report interpretation,
health follow-up for sub-healthy groups, single-
disease management and personalized physical
examinations. These services have met the entire
post- examination health management needs,
enabling early intervention and treatment while
enhancing personal health.

(ii) "“Heavy” refers to critical illness
management. For tumor patients, we
have developed the Woodpecker Oncology
Multidisciplinary Diagnosis and Treatment
Platform to provide a intelligent medical
cloud series of products and services. This
smart medical cloud platform aligns with
authoritative clinical guidelines and enables
precise matching of oncology expert teams
to provide joint multidisciplinary solutions.
Consequently, we effectively address individual
patient needs, shorten the time for accessing
top medical experts, enhance the efficiency of
multidisciplinary treatments and improve overall
treatment quality.

RIR - HBKREIBHS
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In the To R business, the Company fully leveraged
its leading advantages in the To B business and Al
large models. Based on deep insights into innovative
drug and device R&D, commercialization and capital
operations, we were committed to providing an Al-
driven platform for biopharmaceutical R&D. Covering
the full lifecycle from clinical development to post-
market marketing for drugs and devices, we offered
comprehensive digital and intelligent solutions in
areas such as program design, intelligent systems and
operational services. These include scientific research
cooperation, Al + medical interdisciplinary research and
innovation, clinical data processing and best practices
for commercialization. Meanwhile, the Company
integrated existing resources and built an industrial
cooperative ecosystem through the collaboration
with medical institutions, innovative drug companies,
CROs, CMOs and pharmaceutical retail enterprises.
The Company also expanded its strategic layout in the
innovative drug and device field through investments,
mergers and acquisitions, integrating capital and
technology to incubate targets with development
potential and synergistic effects, then exploring new
growth trajectories.
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INFORMATION SECURITY SYSTEM

As a high-tech enterprise that provides digital and intelligent
solutions to enhance efficiency in the healthcare field based
on big data, artificial intelligence, and cloud computing,
the Group consistently regards data security as a critical
foundation for development. Adhering to security-first
principles, the Group rigorously protects customer data and
user privacy, implementing comprehensive safeguards across
the entire data process, including data collection, cleaning,
governance, storage, and application. The Group has achieved
a record of zero data security incidents over the past 18 years.
With a strong focus on data protection throughout the data
lifecycle, the Group has established an all-encompassing data
security system, covering data security management, data
security technology, and data security operations.

Focusing on the security protection of data throughout its life cycle, Zt
by deploying three systems: data security management, data security technology, data security operation to ensure that data is
"available but not accessible" to ensure data security
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The Group primarily constructs its data security and privacy SEFEZEHXZ2ER  ZERMEALZ2EE=
management system through three key aspects: security {EHEBESRELZE MELEEER -

management, security technology, and security operations.

1. In terms of data security management, Zhongkang 1.
Technology builds a reliable application foundation
based on available and trustworthy data. Focusing on
data application and value, it drives the development
of data management, and with efficient application
service capabilities, supports the Company’s business
development and innovation. The construction of the
data management system is based on the Company’s
strategic and business requirements, continuously
adapting to changes. At the same time, we fully ensure
the security, integrity, accuracy, and availability of
the data by establishing comprehensive supervisory
and management mechanisms to guarantee data
compliance and risk management, thereby integrating
data security management principles and practices
throughout the entire data lifecycle. In order to fully
harness data, we continuously leverage advanced
technological means to enhance data value and
utilization efficiency.

Data security and user privacy are critical to our
business development. Following the promulgated
laws and regulations such as the Cybersecurity Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Data Security Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’'s Republic
of China, we have formulated and updated a series of
company data security management regulations and
corresponding data protection and privacy policies
to ensure that various types of information and data
are used legally and in compliance with regulations.
Our product team and legal compliance team will also
continue to follow up on the updates and revisions of
relevant laws and regulations, and review the Group's
internal management system and related documents
in a timely manner to ensure that relevant risks are
identified and dealt with as early as possible.
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The Group conducts multiple rounds of safety
education and training online and offline. In order
to further standardise information security work, the
Group requires employees to sign a confidentiality
agreement, so that each employee is aware of the
basic requirement of information security and the
serious legal consequences that should be borne. In the
daily business workflow, the Group handles personal
information security from the aspects of creation,
storage, transmission, access, use and destruction of
information. Each business unit responsible for data
security regularly conducts disaster recovery drills, so
that applications and data can be quickly restored when
any abnormality occurs relating to each application
or data. The Group divides data access authority at
the data application technology level, which can be
accessed after assessment and approval by specific
personnel and authorised personnel, and such access
will be recorded and monitored accordingly to ensure
data security.

The Group ensures that each employee works
in a safe and controllable environment, avoiding
uncertain security risks to the production environment.
The Group’s internal business system, production
environment of each product and data storage have
adopted Huawei Cloud and other data storage
models with relative high security level, and have
been implemented data backup strategies. In
addition, Zhongkang Technology has established a
comprehensive strategic partnership with Huawei
Cloud, building a health industry empowerment
platform based on Huawei Cloud aPaaS. This will
consolidate the technical foundation of data security,
enhance data infrastructure, and improve data
reliability.
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In terms of the data security technology system, the
Group has formulated a data classification and grading
strategy in accordance with national standards and
guidelines. Through the “Tian Gong Data Intelligence
Platform (K2 &% ¥ &)" (Zhongkang Technology's
big data governance platform), effective security
controls and management are implemented at
every stage of data creation, collection, processing,
storage, transmission, usage, sharing, and destruction.
This ensures integrity, confidentiality, availability,
and traceability of data, prevents data from being
leaked, tampered with, or damaged, safeguards data
security and compliance, and ensures the effective
implementation of data security governance.

The control, security, flexibility and isolation required
by the Group’s proprietary cloud environment to
ensure business security can further reduce the risk of
external unauthorized access or attack with the help of
firewall, IP whitelist and bastion host. The framework
can improve the security of application and data access
through advanced recording and monitoring, data
encryption and regular security audits. We maintain
close collaboration with the security vendor Sangfor
to jointly build a comprehensive endpoint security
protection system, ensuring that all data carriers are
afforded the strictest protection while simultaneously
achieving the shared objective of safeguarding user
privacy and information security. We have established
a comprehensive information security defense system,
implementing endless loop remediation within our
internal network and achieving proactive detection, in-
event response, and post-event traceability in network
security, thereby ensuring that data security is fully
visible and controllable.
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In terms of the data security operations system, we
continuously manage and maintain our data assets,
conduct regular evaluations of data security, and
identify, assess, and address potential risks. We also
perform regular monitoring to ensure the timely
detection of potential security threats. In the event of
any incidents, we will respond and address them swiftly,
promptly restoring normal system operations. \We have
also established a data security threat early warning
mechanism, continuously optimizing security strategies
to address evolving security threats and the growing
demands of our business. Based on the aforementioned
operational practices, we have formed a complete
system comprising data asset operations, data security
assessment, data security certification, proactive
risk detection, emergency response handling, time-
based early warning detection, and security strategy
optimization, effectively enhancing the Group’s data
security and management levels while safeguarding the
enterprise’s core data assets from damage.

We believe that the certification of the Group’s
products and services issued by an independent
third party can objectively measure the extent an
enterprise attaches importance to safety and the
efforts it has put into safety. In terms of information
security management and privacy management, the
Group has established relevant management systems
and obtained certification strictly according to the
international framework standards 1SO27001 and
ISO27701. Meanwhile, each of the Group’s SIC system,
Woodpecker AI-MDT, Woodpecker Cloud Clinic System
and Zhongkang Patient Management Cloud System
has passed the national information security level
protection (Level 3) certification respectively, which is
the highest level of protection certification for non-
bank institutions.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES AND PROMOTING
THEIR DEVELOPMENT

Protecting the rights and interests of employees

The Group firmly believes that talents are an important
resource for the Group’s sustainable development strategy
and an important cornerstone for promoting innovative
development and scale upgrading of the enterprise. The
Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations such
as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China. Such laws and regulations fully protect employees’
legitimate rights and interests while fostering an innovative,
equitable, and inclusive work environment. We continuously
focus on the individual career development of our employees
by developing effective training programs to enhance their
professional competence. We have refined our individual
career advancement mechanisms to ensure that every
employee is optimally positioned. At the same time, we
closely monitor the balance between personal time and work
progress, offering flexible working arrangements. We are
committed to the mutual development of both our employees
and the company, aspiring to a promising future.
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Staff recruitment

The Group has established a sound talent recruitment
management system. To continuously enhance the Group's
recruitment efficiency, we have consistently strengthened our
recruitment management practices. Every year, during the
spring and autumn recruitment sessions for fresh graduates,
we brought fresh talent into the Company through campus
recruitment, thereby providing a talent reserve imbued with
contemporary perspectives for the Group’s future. We also
adopt external recruitment methods to attract qualified
professionals, enhancing Sinohealth’s robust human resources
and consolidating Sinohealth’s pathway to intelligent
healthcare services. For positions that require extensive
industry experience and resources, the Group adopts methods
like external referral channels and headhunting introductions,
to attracts outstanding high-calibre talents through a wide
range of external recommendation channels, so as to enrich
the professionalism and experience of the team. In addition,
we have implemented the Sinohealth internal referral system.
For the job requirements updated by the Group on external
websites, the employees of the Group can accumulate bonus
points and obtain certain internal referral rewards according
to the internal referral rules.

In the recruitment process, we pursue the recruitment principle
of openness, equality and competition. Objective factors such
as experience, professional ability, potential, comprehensive
quality, values and job-seeking motivation of each applicant
are important indicators for us to select outstanding talents.
During the registration process of recruitment, candidates
must first pass the identity verification to ensure that they
meet the requirements of legal employment age. If there
are violations of requirements such as identity and age,
both parties can agree to cancel the employment, and in
case a labor contract having been signed, both parties can
immediately terminate the labor contract to protect their legal
labor rights and interests. During the Reporting Period, we did
not employ any child labor or forced labor.
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Compensation and performance

The Group’s practices on entry salary, salary payment and
salary adjustment are all subject to the Group's salary
management system, and are strictly implemented in
accordance with the relevant internal policies of the Group. In
the management of salary, the Group will make appropriate
adjustments based on the performance appraisal results of
employees in each department within a reasonable budget.

By formulating reasonable strategic objectives, business plans
and performance appraisal mechanisms, the Group improves
the ability and performance of individual employee as well
as enhances the organisational management standard and
efficiency. In order to achieve sustainable and rapid growth in
performance coaching management and employee personal
development, we have established the Performance Appraisal
Management System to objectively and fairly measure, and
facilitate the improvement of, employees’ personal abilities, as
well as to assist the Group’s corporate governance. Starting
from the four aspects of responsibility result orientation, two-
way communication, fairness and objectivity and dynamic
adjustment, we conduct detailed indicator assessments every
one month taking into account the work nature of related
departments and the assessment indicators, and conduct
a combined assessment at the end of the year. The setting
of assessment objectives is based on the self-assessment of
employees. According to the annual plan of the individual
position, the assessment cycle is gradually reduced to a shorter
period. The assessment indicators and weights are set up first,
and then the plan of the employee’s post is reviewed and
adjusted under the discussion of the immediate superior and
HRBP. Finally, the performance goals are jointly confirmed and
self-conclusion and result evaluation are conducted during
the assessment cycle. The superior evaluates employee’s daily
work based on their performance and gives suggestions for
improvement, so that the employee can get comprehensive
and substantial feedback. In order to ensure the efficiency
of the Group’s performance management operation, we
also provide a performance appeal channel. Employees who
disagree with their performance evaluation results may submit
a written appeal, upon which we will promptly verify the
actual circumstances and provide employees with a fair and
equitable resolution.
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In order to enhance employees’ independent working
ability, enthusiasm and initiative for work, at the end of
each performance appraisal year, the Group will open
regular promotion channels to employees, and leverage on
a sound corporate promotion system to attract and motivate
outstanding core talents. Those who have outstanding
performance or have made significant contributions to the
Group will be promoted exceptionally, and the Group will
open special annual promotion channels for them so that
outstanding talents can be retained.

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed the share
repurchase according to the share incentive scheme, and
developed the incentive proposal taking into account factors
such as the performance in the Reporting Period and in future
in order to motivate core employees who have an important
impact on the Company’s operating results and future
development.

Promotion and career development

The Group provides diversified development direction and
space for in-service employees. First of all, based on the dual-
channel development path of their job position, employees
may choose their professional and management direction.
On the one hand, they can further develop their professional
skills, accumulate profound professional capabilities and help
customers achieve success. On the other hand, when their
professional skills reach certain level, they may also flow
horizontally to other job positions, and to become cross-
regional and cross-business talents, so as to make their
personal development more diversified.
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The Group classifies the ranking of professional talents in
a scientific manner, and adopts the method of “separating
evaluation from employment” for job promotion, which
means that the premise of job promotion is to obtain the
qualification of corresponding ranking, but the success
of job qualification certification does not necessarily lead
to job promotion. Instead, the values and potentials shall
be evaluated comprehensively to ensure the appropriate
matching of job position and talent and the preciseness of
job promotion. As for the promotion of managers, the Group
encourages equal employment to stimulate the maximum
potential of the individuals, and prioritizes the selection of
managers from the teams that can overcome difficulties based
on the result and facts.

Working hours and holidays

In accordance with the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other laws and regulations, and in light
of the actual situation of the Group, the Group has clearly
states in its Staff Manual the working hours and related
vacation arrangements of employees. We adopt a standard
working hour system and follow regulations to formulate
practicable working hours to ensure that employees have
sufficient rest time. Employees are required to work 5 days
a week and 7 hours a day. In addition, we will implement
flexible working hours to improve the work efficiency of
employees, but employees shall consciously abide by the
Group’s working hour system and work in the workplace
specified by the Group. If there is the need to work at home
in special circumstances, a flexible mixed work mode can be
adopted.
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The Group will appropriately adjust the specific working hour
system and working hours for special positions in accordance
with legal regulations and in light of the actual situation,
and implement relevant specific plans after getting written
approval from the human resources operation center. In
addition to the annual leave and statutory holidays stipulated
by the Labor Law of PRC, current employees of the Group are
entitled to additional leave such as wedding leave, maternity
leave and paternity leave.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination

The Group has always spared no effort to protect equal and
legitimate rights and interests of employees, and is committed
to promoting equal opportunities and fair treatment for
our employees and avoiding direct or indirect discrimination
against employees or job applicants due to gender, race,
pregnancy, disability, marital status, family status and other
factors. We strive to create a harmonious and comfortable
workplace environment, respect and treat every employee
well, and enhance their sense of belonging to the Group.

We are committed to promoting gender equality in the
Group. Gender equality is embedded in the corporate culture
from the management onwards, and women at all levels are
given equal opportunities for development and influence.
The Board is divided equally between male and female, and
female employees account for more than 67% of the total
workforce, reflecting the diversity, fairness and inclusiveness
of the Group.
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Staff training and development

The Group is well aware that employees are the key resources
for the long-term development of the enterprise, hence the
growth and development of employees is also one of the
Company’s important strategies. Focusing on the achievement
of corporate strategic goals, the Group has built a dual-
development T&D (Training&Development) system that
focuses on talent development at the company level and
business improvement at the departmental level.

Training blueprint: Dual Development T&D System
BIER  SRETADR A
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The company-level training system is built on the Group’s
strategic objectives by taking into account organizational
and talent inventory results, competency models, leadership
models, professional learning maps and IDP tools.
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Focusing on the construction of the training system,
and in light of the personal career development plan of
employees, we provide diversified training for employees
through a combination of online and offline modes, and also
recommend personalised courses based on the requirements
of different positions, including basic drug knowledge,
Greenplum technology sharing, medical reform training,
Al tools and applications and other trainings on industry
knowledge, effectively improving employees’ professional
competence and work skills, thereby significantly enhancing
their work efficiency. Through the Sinohealth Internal Trainer
Program, we have also cultivated a group of internal trainers
who have a deep understanding of the Company’s internal
training needs and have accumulated relevant knowledge and
are willing to share.

In order to help new employees integrate faster and deepen
their understanding of the Group’s culture and business, the
Group regularly organises a two-day training course for new
employees, covering corporate culture and development,
systems and policies of the Group, system usage, and
business introduction etc. Through online examinations, the
understanding of the training content can be deepened. A
series of interviews, such as the sharing from role models and
CPEO veterans, provide good guidance for new employees to
understand their job content and how to solve the difficulties
they are about to face.
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Occupational safety and health

The Group always puts the health and safety of its employees
at the top priority, and strictly abides by the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Emergency Response, the Work Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Administrative
Measures for Contingency Plans for Emergencies and other
relevant laws and regulations. The Group is committed to
creating a healthy and comfortable working environment
for employees. In addition to providing employees with free
physical examinations every year to protect their physical and
mental health, we have also formulated an internal employee
handbook to clearly define the obligations and responsibilities
that each employee should observe in respect of health and
safety, so as to protect their own safety. Meanwhile, we also
remind employees to maintain a sound mental health at all
times. If any problems relating to employees such as abnormal
work behavior, difficulties in life and emotional problems are
found, they should be reported to the relevant departments in
time. We have had no work-related fatalities reported in the
past four years (including the Reporting Period).

Employee care and welfare

We pay attention to the feelings of employees, and believe
that improving employees’ sense of happiness and belonging
can help retain outstanding talents. We have established a
comprehensive welfare system to fully take care of employees’
working life and needs. In addition to the contribution to
social security for employees such as pension, medical care,
unemployment, work-related injury and housing provident
fund in accordance with the social security policy stipulated
by law, we also provide other special benefits, including
red packets for bridesmaids, holiday gifts, meal allowance,
wedding bonuses, team building funds, cultural and recreation
activities, health checkups and anniversary commemorations.
In addition to statutory holidays, the Company adds an extra
day of welfare leave during the Chinese New Year Festival for
employees to have more time to reunite with relatives and
friends and try to avoid the peak period of travel during the
festival.
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In addition to work, the Company also organises a variety —T{E
of club activities among the staff. These activities enrich  EBJ&
the leisure life of the staff and improve the cohesion of the ®E T
staff team. The activities include, among others, the green &%
plant planting session, which is a special event for all female  #j -
employees on the National Working Women's Day every year, 55

Mid-Autumn Festival lantern riddle contests, quarterly birthday
parties, and Christmas activities.
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RIKETAED

Mid-Autumn Festival Activity

RIR - HBKREIBHS

Christmas Activity
R

In order to better meet the rest, breast milk preparation and
breastfeeding requirements of female employees who are
new mothers, the Company has maintained our “Mommy
Cottage” for mothers at work, which is equipped with sofas,
refrigerators, tables, cute pillows and disinfection supplies. In
addition to ensuring hygiene, it avoids the inconvenience of
mothers going to a public refrigerator in the pantry to fetch
and store milk, also acting as a token for paying tribute to
each great mother at work.
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STANDARDIZED OPERATION MANAGEMENT
Product quality management

The Group has always been committed to providing customers
with the best product experience, strictly complying with
relevant regulations, improving its service quality attentively,
gaining insight into the needs of customers and following
up the whole process of services for the products. By
enhancing the knowledge reserve of frontline sales staff and
the supporting service team the Group carries out honest
and compliant marketing, responds to customer needs more
efficiently. A variety of ways have been used to communicate
and interact with customers to enhance customers’ trust in the
Group's products. We have in place strict product and service
quality measures in all business areas of the Group. The Group
has obtained the quality management system certification
(GB/T 19001-2016/1SO9001:2015). In addition, the Group
continues to improve product quality and enhance its product
quality management standards.

The Group maintains continuous communication with
customers in the process of selling products and services.
The Group has formulated the After-Sales Operation Process
(the “SOP"), and set up an after-sales service department
to be responsible for accepting complaints from customers.
After receiving customer complaints, the after-sales service
department cooperates with relevant departments to discuss
the essence of the problem, formulates solutions and actively
implements them to meet customer demands in a most
practicable way. The Group will then identify the responsible
department based on the cause of the complaint, formulate a
preventive and corrective mechanism, and provide training to
relevant personnel to prevent similar incidents from happening
again. During the Reporting Period, no complaints about
products and services were received.
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Complaints from companies
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the related solutions
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Business ethics and anti-money laundering internal
management

w

The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations
such as the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Company Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Tendering and Bidding Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and is committed to creating
an honest and upright working atmosphere for conducting
business and pursuing career in compliance with the laws
and regulations. In order to prevent corruption incidents, the
Group has formulated and implemented the Anti-corruption
and Bribery Management Regulations, the Business Ethics
Control Procedures and the Conflict of Interest Declaration
Management System. The internal audit department of the
Group sorts out the work processes in various business areas
of the Group, formulates anti-corruption measures and
investigates relevant behaviors. Key personnel in the core
business departments and back-office departments must sign
the Integrity and Self-discipline Commitment Letter. When
dealing with work-related matters, employees must maintain
honesty and integrity and abide by a fair and honest style
of work and professional ethics, and immediately report to
relevant personnel in the event of conflicts of interest so as to
avoid damage to the Group due to conflicts of interest.

Standards and
requirements of
after-sales service
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Sales and commercial departments
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(internal and external)
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The Group has established a strict and safe corruption
reporting channel, and strictly protect the legitimate rights
and interests of whistleblowers. The Group will take necessary
disciplinary and legal actions to punish those who violate laws
and regulations, and jointly develop a code of conduct that
upholds integrity.

The Group attaches great importance to anti-corruption
training and publicity, and conducts anti-corruption and
integrity training for Directors and employees to continuously
consolidate the concept of integrity operation within the
Group. The Group will regularly include the publicity and
implementation of the professional ethics and integrity
requirements of business ethnic and anti-money laundering
in the training contents for new employees, including the
Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery Management Regulations,
the Business Ethics Control Program, the Conflict of Interest
Declaration Management System, the Employee Handbook
and the Personnel Management System formulated by the
Group. The Group updates the relevant knowledge and
requirements of Directors and employees through online
training by the interpretation of typical cases and the
amendments to relevant laws and regulations from time to
time.

In addition, all departments must strictly abide by the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China and
other relevant regulations. It is strictly forbidden to handle
business or conduct commercial cooperation for customers
with unclear identities, with a view to controlling illegal money
laundering from the source and closely monitoring illegal
entities. In respect of large-amount funds and suspicious
transactions, we will closely monitor transactions suspected
of money laundering. In order to strengthen employees’
awareness of anti-corruption, we provide training on
compliance of anti-corruption related policies to all employees
(including the members of the Board) every year, aiming to
fundamentally prevent violations of laws and regulations.
For other representatives working for the Group, such as
contractors, consultants, agents, etc., are required to include
business ethics and anti-money laundering terms as an integral
part of the signing of the cooperation agreement.
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During the year, there were no complaints or lawsuits against
the Group or any Directors and employees of the Group for
corruption practices.

Management of intellectual property rights

The Group adheres to technological innovation and empowers
the industrial players through cutting-edge technologies such
as big data, Al and cloud computing. We fully recognize the
importance of intellectual property protection for sustainable
development. While respecting the labor achievements of
others, we also safeguard our legitimate rights and interests
by strictly comply with the Patent Law of the PRC, the
Copyright Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of the PRC
and other relevant laws and regulations, and actively carry
out the declaration of intellectual property rights. The Group
has formulated the Management Regulations on Intellectual
Property Rights to clearly clarify the research and development
of the Group’s technology, strengthen the management of
intellectual property rights to protect intangible assets and
promote the sustainable development of the Group, thus
achieving compliance in the implementation of the intellectual
property system.

The Group has set up dedicated intellectual property
managers who are responsible for the routine management
of intellectual property rights and monitoring whether the
Group's intellectual property rights are infringed on different
platforms from time to time. Once infringements are found,
we will promptly notify relevant departments and do the job
of checking evidence, and take active measures to cooperate
with relevant departments to solve problems under the
guidance of administrative law enforcement agencies and
judicial authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no major
incidents of infringement of intellectual property rights, and
the Group has taken all reasonable measures to fully protect
the Group’s rights and interests in respect of its intellectual
property, while avoiding any violation of the legitimate rights
and interests of third parties.
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Supplier Management

We regard suppliers as important partners for the sustainable
development of the Group, and are committed to establishing
long-term mutually beneficial and win-win cooperation with
them through in-depth cooperation in platform resources,
data, technology and other aspects. In order to strengthen
the management of suppliers, we have prepared the Supplier
Management Rules to manage suppliers in terms of selection
and inclusion of suppliers, evaluation of cooperation process,
acceptance of results and regular dynamic evaluation.

In addition, we will also consider social and environmental
factors in the process of selecting suppliers. Purchasing
must meet the requirements of green procurement, and
environmentally friendly products and services are preferred,
with a view to reducing resource consumption and
environmental pollution in the process of manufacturing,
transportation, storage and usage. The products purchased
should use clean energy, which helps to reduce the waste
of water resources and avoid waste caused by excessive
purchases.

The Group generally includes the suppliers inspected in each
procurement process into the database of suppliers, which
are classified into qualified suppliers and potential suppliers
and appended with detailed description of inspection and
evaluation. For example, in respect of IT hardware assets, in
order to ensure the continuous supply and stable quality of
products, the Group reviews new suppliers every year and
performs comprehensive evaluation from six aspects, namely
supplier qualifications, company size, solution demand
matching, price rationality, service standard clarity and
technical personnel capabilities.
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The Group conducts a detailed evaluation of the performance
in the process of cooperation with suppliers, and the
Group's finance department is responsible for reviewing
the compliance of the subject matter and payment. The
performance evaluation of all suppliers is carried out from
four dimensions, i.e. system equipment failure rate, service
response speed, problem handling result quality and technical
personnel capabilities. For software suppliers, the Group
conducts performance evaluation at certain key time points
such as upon the launch of the pilot, after the acceptance of
the project and before the annual renewal of services.

The Group communicates closely with suppliers through
telephone, email, online meetings and on-site inspections
in its normal operation, and regularly plans the next year’s
cooperation service plan, new changes in products and
services, internal demands, etc. During the progress of the
projects, the Group and its suppliers regularly conduct face-to-
face communication, actively feedback on the progress of the
projects and sort out relevant demands, so as to lay a sound
foundation for further cooperation.

GREEN AND LOW-CARBON DEVELOPMENT
INITIATIVES

The Group faithfully fulfills corporate environmental protection
responsibilities while developing its business, abides by the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China and other relevant national environmental protection
regulations, integrates the concept of green development
into all aspects of operation and actively explores energy
saving and emission reduction practices, coordinating
with continuous green training and publicity. The Group is
committed to reducing the impact of its business operations
on the environment and promoting the harmonious
integration between the enterprise and the environment.
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Energy saving and emission reduction

The Group attaches great importance to environmental
protection and often promotes the concept of environmental
protection and sustainable development to employees
through different channels. The Group tries its best to save
energy and reduce waste in its daily operation, so as to reduce
the emission of exhaust gas. Through different publicity
activities for environmental protection, employees’ awareness
of reducing exhaust emissions has been raised. During the
year, the Group's energy consumption mainly came from
electric power, water and paper use in the office area. The
main energy saving and emission reduction policies were
implemented as follows:

Energy saving

Encourage employees to turn off the lights when leaving the
office to prevent the cases of “unused lights”.

Reduce the standby power consumption of office equipment
such as computers and printers, and set the device to
automatically enter hibernation state with low energy
consumption when the device is not in use.

Set the air-conditioning temperature reasonably, i.e. setting
the air-conditioning temperature in offices and conference
rooms in summer no lower than 26 degrees Celsius, and close
windows when the air-conditioning is turned on.

Rent and use the cloud service area resources of Alibaba
Cloud and Huawei Cloud as the application servers of the
collaborative office system and business system so as to reduce
the energy consumption in the procurement and deployment
of local servers.

In addition, the Group also replaced long-distance and face-
to-face meetings with electronic communication means such
as telephone or online meetings to reduce carbon emissions
from business travel. Through the above measures, employees’
awareness of energy saving had been enhanced.
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The following table sets out the energy consumption
performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024:

RIR - HBKREIBHS

TR AREBEHEZ2024F 12 A31BILFE
HIREREFERIR

Year ended 31

December 2024

BZE2024F

12A31H

Energy consumption BRERE LFE
Electricity purchased (kilowatt hours) SNEE ) (JKELRE) 364.03
Oil consumption by vehicles (litres) BEy AR () 1,843.02

The Group has considered quantitative information reflecting
the Group’s management of the risks associated with
environment, society and climate, including greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions and resources consumption. GHG
emissions include scope 1 and scope 2 emissions. Scope 1
direct emissions include GHG emissions from the Company’s
administrative vehicles, and scope 2 indirect emissions
include GHG emissions from the electricity purchased by the
Company.

AEBEZEERRAKEHIRE - 48 RRIK
HERBREENTEERE  BIRAEREHN
RERBRE - BEREBHNEBREEE1 RHE 2
- BN ERFNERRBITRERN R
EREYN BE2REENERARINIEE
NERENREERBHEIN

Year ended 31

December 2024

BE 20245

12A31H

Emissions BEL IEFE

GHG emissions (tonnes of CO,-¢) BERBHNE

(M-S (REE 211.83

Oil consumption by vehicles (litres) B A () 4.22
Scope 2 (indirect emissions) (tonnes of CO,-¢) #E 2 (FERFERE)

(B E i E & 207.6

* GHG emissions are calculated based on relevant emission ~ * BERBFNGE  REKEERZARER

factors in Appendix 4: lllustrative list of emission factors and
sources in Implementation Guidance for Climate Disclosures
under HKEX ESG Reporting Framework
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Water conservation

The Group's business does not require substantial water usage
and there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
The Group adopts water conservation measures such as:

1.

Strengthen the repair and maintenance of water
equipment to avoid waste of water resources.

Post water-saving slogans in pantries and restrooms,
calling on employees to develop good habits of water
conservation.

Turn off the water tap in time when getting hand
sanitizer.

Paper saving

1.

Make full use of online office and implement a
paperless office process to reduce paper consumption.
The office uniformly uses the internal OA system
and the corporate WeChat on the mobile terminal.
All internal regulations, documents and notices shall
be distributed by online electronic document mode.
The input of internal meetings is also sent through
corporate WeChat group electronic documents to avoid
paper text printing.

Reduce the number of repeated printing, advocate
double-sided paper usage and control the number of
documents printed.

Pay attention to the reuse of used paper to achieve
recycling.
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Waste management

The Group calls on employees to reduce the use of disposable
items so as to save resources and reduce waste. In addition,
the Group actively implements the requirements of the
national government and conducts waste sorting and
recycling. For waste paper, plastic and other recyclable
garbage generated in the office area, the Group arranges
cleaning staff to hand them over to waste recyclers on a
regular basis. For daily office waste such as paper and plastic
generated in the office area, the Group arranges cleaning
personnel to regularly hand over to waste recyclers for
disposal, and for non-recyclable waste and hazardous waste,
uniformly hand over to the property management company
for disposal. Through strict implementation of the garbage
sorting system, the Group has improved the setting of trash
bins in the original office, reduced the number of trash bins,
centrally placed the recycling trash bins in the office instead
of small and medium-sized trash bins next to employee
workstations, so as to instruct employees to sort out garbage,
protect the environment and jointly practice scientific waste
collection and management.

Responding to climate change

In the face of the challenge of global climate change, we strive
to fulfill China’s emission reduction responsibilities promised
in the Paris Climate Agreement and support the country’s
vision of achieving carbon peaking in 2030 and carbon
neutrality in 2060. As a socially responsible enterprise, we will
regularly review the risks and opportunities of climate change
for the Group, identify the substantial and transformation
risks that climate change may bring to the Group, fulfill
our commitments to environmental protection and
emission reduction, and achieve environmental compliance
management and operation.
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The Directors discussed and reviewed the risks of global
climate change on the operation and transformation of the
entities under the Group at the annual board meeting. The
extreme weather risks that may be brought about by climate-
related issues, such as frequent and extreme typhoons and
floods, may increase the operation and maintenance costs of
our infrastructures and related insurance costs and may also
affect the health and safety of our employees.

In respect of transformation risks, our related operating costs
may be increased based on the assessment on the government
regulatory policies, technology and market trends as well
as the more in-depth practical requirements for sustainable
development. For instance, replacing more energy-saving
and environment-friendly lighting facilities, expanding the
green space in the office and the possible emission disclosure
requirements will also increase our related monitoring costs.

In addition to the risks described above, we have identified no
other risks that may have material impact on the operation,
strategic planning and financial performance of our entities.

ACTIVELY GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

Sinohealth Holdings attaches great importance to social
issues, adheres to social responsibilities, actively participates
in the development of local and the health industry public
welfare undertakings, and makes contributions to community
development.
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llluminating the Unknown in Life with the Light of
Popular Science: Sinohealth Holdings Decade-Long
Public Welfare Efforts in “Rare Disease Care”

In the vast expanse of the medical field, the rare disease
community has long remained in the shadows. Among the
more than 7,000 known rare diseases worldwide, only 5%
have effective treatment options, and the average time for
a patient to receive an accurate diagnosis is as long as five
years. Over a decade ago, Sinohealth Holdings launched the
“Rare Disease Care (FRJ®EE) " Official Acount, using
sustained popular science initiatives to unveil the social
awareness gap surrounding rare diseases. Through five key
sections—including “Chenxing Lecture Hall (R2# %) " and
“Patient Stories (BE M ZE) " —the Official Acount has built a
comprehensive network for rare disease awareness.

From the perspective of scientific communication, “Chenxing
Lecture Hall (REFE=) " provides professional interpretations
of complex pathologies, transforming obscure medical
knowledge into accessible popular science content for the
public. Meanwhile, “Rare Drug Watch (B8)EZE %) " monitors
drug development progress, serving as a guiding beacon of
hope and healing for patient families. This content production
model—blending rigorous academic standards with accessible
communication—has reached millions, significantly increasing
public awareness of diseases such as amyotrophic lateral
sclerosis and osteogenesis imperfecta. It has also facilitated
the transition of rare diseases from a medical discussion to a
broader public health issue.
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RIR - HEBKRERBHS

From the perspective of social motivation, the “Rare Disease
Policy (FREER)" section systematically compiles domestic
and international policies and regulations, providing a toolkit
for patients to fight for their rights, and a reference for policy
makers to make decisions from a civil perspective. Meanwhile,
the dissemination of real-life narratives in “Patient Stories
(BEHE)" challenges stereotypes about the rare disease
community. When the artistic creations of osteogenesis
imperfecta patients and the academic journey of a teenager
with Pompe disease become subjects of public discourse,
popular science transcends mere information dissemination,
evolving into a bridge that eliminates bias and nurtures social
empathy.

This decade-long public welfare initiative has not only filled
gaps in China’s social support system for rare diseases but
has also fundamentally reshaped the value framework of
public health. It demonstrates that commercial institutions can
fully achieve professional value transformation through the
fulfillment of corporate social responsibility. More importantly,
it serves as a powerful reminder: the degree to which a society
cares about the quality of life of minority groups is a true
measure of its level of civilization. As more stakeholders join
this long journey of life education, we will ultimately witness
the emergence of a more inclusive and healthier China.
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Sinohealth Holdings Partners with CHIATAI
QINGIJIANG to Support Bone Health in China

China has the highest prevalence of osteoporosis in the world.
As of the end of 2024, out of over 200 million osteoporosis
patients globally, nearly half are in China. Additionally,
more than 140 million people in the country suffer from
osteoarthritis, making chronic bone diseases an urgent public
health issue that cannot be ignored. Focusing on patients
receiving minimum social welfare support who suffer from
chronic bone diseases, we have partnered with CHIATAI
QINGJIANG to launch the public welfare initiative “More Love
for the World (B Z ) E 45 Tt 5) , under the theme “Working
Together, Protecting Bone Health with United Efforts (1% 11[777.
7505 F) . During the reporting period, in collaboration with
CHIATAI QINGJIANG, we donated RMB500,000 and a batch of
glucosamine hydrochloride tablets to the Beijing Health Alliance
Charitable Foundation. These contributions support the “Care
Program for Patients with Chronic Bone Diseases (51277 8
ERBE5tEl) ”, providing direct financial aid and medication
assistance to patients receiving minimum social welfare support
suffering from severe chronic bone diseases.
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R - B KREIBHRS

The Group will constantly practice the industrial spirit of
“responsibility and commitment”, actively fulfill its corporate
social responsibility, and adhere to the mission of “developing
smart healthcare industry, and promoting smart healthy life”.
In the future, the Group will continue to focus on digital life-
cycle health management, explore various ways to serve the
society and fulfill its corporate responsibility with gratitude.
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APPENDIX I: ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL KPI fff#&— : IRIER M SRBERIEERE
SUMMARY

Environmental performance FY2024
BERE 2024 Bt &
Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) tonnes of CO, -e o
BERARERBHR(EE—) e — &t ﬁ?—ég '
Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) tonnes of CO, -e 207.6
MR =REHER(HEL) e — &t ﬁ?é% '
GHG emissions intensity
BERBHREBE
GHG emissions intensity (per m?) tonnes of CO, -e/m? 0.06
BERBHENEE(FFHK) MR — &t ﬁ?é% 7K '
GHG emissions intensity (per employee) tonnes of CO, -e/femployee 0.28
AERBHRBE(ETL) WE — A1k U\EEE/E\I '
Electricity consumption
BEIR ¥ A
Purchased electricity consumption Mega KWh 364.03
HINEBNFERE JK LB '
Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per m?) | Mega KWh/m? 0.10
SMNEENRABE(ZFHK) I FLIE 75 oK '
Purchased electricity consumption intensity Mega KWh/employee

(per employee) JKEEF, BT 0.47
INEBNFERREE(EL)
Water consumption
KR H ¥
Total water consumption m3 e
BFEKE SR '
Total water consumption intensity (per m?) m3/employee 013
HEREKEE (FF oK) SRR '
Total water consumption intensity (per employee) m3/employee 0.58
mFEKTE(EL) MHK/BT '

“ECNEFERS | PEERERATE
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Environmental performance

BRERE
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FY2024
2024 B

Hazardous waste

BEEEY
Used toner cartridges unit 1
BEEHE 1&
Used batteries unit e
BEEE) i)
Non-hazardous waste
BEBEZEY
Generation of non-hazardous waste kg 12 198.60
REEEVES T B
Non-hazardous waste intensity (per employee) kg/employee 15.88
BEEEWEERE(EI) Fr/EBT '
Paper consumption
A IROH
Paper consumption kg

767.22
HMRAE T
Paper consumption intensity (per employee) kg/employee 1 66
R EREE(EI) Fr/EBT '
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Social scope FY2024
HEHEE 2024 815
All employees person

2mET A 768
Total number of employees (by gender)

ETAH(ZEMRES)

Female employees person =13
ZHET A

Male employees person Jee
SHET A

Total number of employees (by age group)

BTAY(RFREHS)

Aged below 30 person 206
30 MATET A

Aged 30-50 person 371
31-50% 8L A

Aged over 50 person 1
S50mA EEBT A

Total number of employees (by employment category)

ETAR(RETERNS)

Full-time entry-level employees person 5
FREEEST A

Full-time middle-level management person 31
ZRPREERE A

Full-time senior management person c
EREREERE A

Total number of employees (by geographical region)

BTAY(REEHS)

Employees in North China person 139
PR AREILHRIEE T A

Employees in South China person 550
PEAEEPREET A

ﬂﬁjff
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Social scope FY2024
ol =g 2024 1
Employee turnover rate (by gender)

BT RKLER(ZMERE D)

Female employees percentage 57
ZHEBT Aoth

Male employees percentage 13
FHET Aoth

Employee turnover rate (by age group)

BTIRRER(ZFRARE D)

Aged below 30 percentage 59
30mMIATET Aoth

Aged 31-50 percentage 17
31-50E T Btk

Aged over 50 percentage 1
50ALEET Bt

Employee turnover rate (by geographical region)

EIRKLEH (R EE D)

North China percentage 10
ERICTPN 7l i Aoth

South China percentage 30
B KFER T i@ AL

Percentage of employees trained (by gender)

FIE LBl (RERI&E D)

Female employees percentage -
BT Aoth

Male employees percentage 46
SMET ADL
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Social scope FY2024

HEHE 2024 Bt &

Percentage of employees trained (by employment category)

ZIETH(ZETEFIE D)

Full-time entry-level employees percentage 88
EREAERT Aoth

Full-time entry-level employees percentage 9
ERPRERRE ABoth

Full-time senior management percentage 3
EREREERE B

Average training hours per employee (by gender)

ZIETFYEINRH(RMERE )

Female employees hour 615
LA I |
Male employees hour 4,99
AT N -
Average training hours per employee (by employment category)
ZIETFHEFIRH(RETHEES)

Full-time entry-level employees hour £ 5
PREEST N '
Full-time middle-level management hour A6
ERPRERRE /N '
Full-time senior management hour 380
EREREERE AN '

WJT

—P-MEEEEE | FEERARAT |w|



172 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HBKRERBHRS

Social scope

ol =g

FY2024
2024 B

BERENZEZ-BETIERIETEH

Occupational health and safety — Cases of work-related casualties of employees

practices brought against the Group or

employee
HAEEHETREWEEFLEN

EDEEE/AEAE LS 4=

Work-related fatalities (2022, 2023 and 2024) person
ETIT AB(2022 + 2023 2024 F[F) A
Work-related fatality rate (2022, 2023 and 2024) percentage
BT T (2022 ~ 2023 2024 FF) Btk
Lost days due to work-related injuries day
EITEERIERE X
Anti-corruption

RES

Number of concluded cases regarding corrupt case

—
AN
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EERE

A. Environmental Area

INDEX TO THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
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ERCEIVE ]

Bfsk— @ BERFRCERIR

CHERERER

Respective Section

ABES

A REEE
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
General . , , , Green and low-carbon
, and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of o
dlscrlLosuﬁr;e hazardous and non hazardous waste. developTent |n|t|it|ves
TERR | empmpasaman. AARLBORS SEREEDNELS | D ARAE
B @BR Rb)ETHETAREAZENRBERER
Green and low-carbon
development initiatives
1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data -1. Energy saving and
' BRI RAE R emission reduction
REBRERSE-
1. BBk
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions (in tonnes) and, | Appendix I: Environmental
A2 where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). and social KPI summary
' ER(BE ) REFNE(SE)BESREENE CAETE) R(NER) | Wi—: Bk eRR
A1: Emissions RE(WABEEEN - §ERETE) BENEEHE
A1 BER) . . . .
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Appendix I: Environmental
03 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). and social KPI summary
' FEANEEEENEE UEHE) R(NER)BE (WAGEBEN - | ME— RERISER
BEZHEHE) BRERREZ
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Appendix I: Environmental
A intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). and social KPI summary
' FEENBREERNEE (UEHE) R(NER)ZE (WAGEEEN - | WH— RERE SRR
GRERMETH) o BRERREZ
. . , Green and low-carbon
T Description of emission t:get( ) set ani;tep: taken to achieve them. development ntiaives
MR B E AR R ARG L A RAREH SR o B EREREE
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Green a nd, I.o.w.-carbon
A1.6 development initiatives

HEREAEREZERNNN L  REAMTLARERRRAZE
LB RARBNSH -

REEREREH
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Indicator Content

EEAR

Respective Section

HREEH

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other | Green and low-carbon
disclosure raw materials. development initiatives
—MREE BUERER(BIELR - KREMERH)NECE o RERREREE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas, oil) | Appendix I: Environmental
in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | and social KPI summary
faciity). Misk— : BRERA g
% w8 AREAMERR/AAEGR(PE  RiUh) BREATETRE | BWEEHE
BREE(WABES BN - ®EREAE) -
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production | Appendix I: Environmental
volume, per facility). and social KPI summary
R BRKEREE (NI SERSE - SEREHE) - i — BRI R
Resources BNREEHE
A2: EIREER A23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | Green and low-carbon
them. development initiatives
BT MR R B E B R R AR RIS L A RATRIA SR - RERREREE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Green and low-carbon
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. development initiatives
HRSKEERKR LRI BERMRE - URATUNAKMGEERRAE | #EEREREE
BIE LA RARIM SR -
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and (if | Appendix I: Environmental
applicable) proportion of per unit produced. and social KPI summary
KA EEN RN B8 A E) R(NER) BLEBMIEE - W&—: RERLERR
BRERRZ
General Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impact on the environment | Green and low-carbon
A3:‘The disclosure and natural resources. development initiatives
E”‘(’j”ﬁ”tmer;t —MRKE REETAHRERRAREREREAT ENOHE - RERREREE
;zsoufcgsra A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and | Green and low-carbon
A3:BBIER natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. development initiatives
FRER BEREDHRERARARNEAYERERREREMY SN | SeEREREN
B
General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate related issues | Green and low-carbon
disclosure which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. development initiatives
—REE BHREHEERAREHETAELYENEARGRBSENIR - | REAREREE
Ad: A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, | Green and low-carbon
Climate change and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage | development initiatives -
Ad: RIREE them. 3. Responding to climate
HREER TR eHET ALY ENEARGRBSE - REHTH - | change
RERREREE -
3 EHREE L
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Respective Section

ABES

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

General . o Do Caring for employees and
. rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other . .
disclosure benefits and welfare promoting their development
- ‘J-L = ++ 7 . & ul A Ly A — el /% %EE\I X’z
¥ER | pupmRER . ARREA AR RS TEme suk. | LA LER
REEAREMFERENN : @BK: RO)ETHETABEAY
B LS 0
31y ZNRBEERAD
B1: A ix I Envi |
kR Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. fulltime, part-time), age ppen(jlx nvironmenta
: . and social KPI summary
B1.1 group and geographical region. Tl
rﬂl . KE SRLEIEE) . AEEAE D) ! e AN = st . Wﬁ?_ o iﬂ E&%ia E@ﬁ@
ZIER - EEEE (ME2RAER)  FRARN LRSI NESEH [
EVIRERE
Appendix |: Environmental
512 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. and social KPI summary
' BRI FRAR RS NERRALE W&—: RERLERE
BRERRZ
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and | Caring for employees and
General requlations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing | promoting their development
disclosure a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational | - 3. Occupational safety and
_guE hazards. health
FBRELZZTIRERAEESRLBERAEN  @BE : ROb) | BEREESIHR-
BTHETABEATENRRERIANNEH - 3BRRRERR
y . Appendix I: Envi |
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past ppem#x nvironmenta
o . and social KPI summary
B2.1 three years including the reporting year. RN
\ — REE £ = \ q? M;Tﬁ“z_ : E&%&%i B Eaig
BY: BEZF(IREREE)SFAITHMABRLE o
EVIRERE
Health and Safety
B : BEERS Appendix |: Environmental
8 Lost days due to work-related injury. and social KPI summary
' AIGRAIERS - Misk— - RIERA SR
BRERRZ
Caring for employees and
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how promoting th.e|r development
. . - 3. Occupational safety and
B2.3 they are implemented and monitored.

HERFROBXREAZ2EE  AREBRRTRERNA
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Indicator Content Respective Section
RERR HEEH
Caring for employees and
ting their devel t
General Policy on improving employees' knowledge and skills in performing their PRI Ieve S
. . - . - 2. Staff training and
disclosure duties. Descriptions of training activities. development
— MR E R EERTIIERENAH B ST (2 2
R BBRMERRITLIERAEM AR RAENICR - fdEIES - HERREE TER-
S T
B3: 2L BIHTIRER
Appendix I: Environmental
Development The percentage of trained employees by gender and employee category (e.g. he . e
and Training , . and social KPI summary
) B3.1 senior management, middle-level management, etc). Wi« B B S
o ralkd - = e 1 A = KT IRIR XA E [
B3 + R RS EHRIRE RN (S RERE P RERE) IS ENERES e |
BEVRERE
Appendix |: Environmental
The average number of training hours completed by each employee by o .
B3.2 gender and of the employee category. and social Pl summary
' W&—: RERLERE
il * E-(PAS =1
RURIRERERED  BREETKINTIIRE - -
ing f I
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws Carmg' o emp oyees and
. L . . promoting their development
General and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to . .
. . . - 1. Protecting the rights and
disclosure prevention of child labor or forced labor. T S o
~B5E ABBLETREHATH  QREROETHEAREAY S | o )
B EARARIER - PRAERR TR
) ) 1 BTEERE
Caring for employees and
i . , o promoting their development
B4: Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and . .
- 1. Protecting the rights and
[EISE SRS B4.1 forced labor. interests of employees
TR % I i I [T . . o
4 B TR ft et M B DI R E T A 4 BER RS THE
1 B T#RRE
Caring for employees and
promoting their development
T Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. - 1. Protecting the rights and
' HAEERERBNASRR BRI TR - interests of employees
BEREERTER-

1 B T#RRE
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Indicator Content

EEAR

B5: Supply chain
management

BS: ftREEE R

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HBKREIBHS

Respective Section
HRES
dG.enleraI Policies on managing the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. ij::;::::ri operation
isclosure - &
1 fit RERIE .
i HEEEEE R R EREE - o —
Standardized operation
t- 4. Suppli
o Number of suppliers by geographical region. zz:zggxzt i
| PHEEANEEBRE - o
RS EE#A B g EAEE -
4 HEHER
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers | Standardized operation
where the practices are implemented, and how they are implemented and | management - 4. Supplier
B5.2 monitored. management
HAEHERREEHNEN RERNTABENNHEERHE - URE | ABLELER-
BHITRERNE AHERER
Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along Standarcized operation .
. . . management - 4. Supplier
5 the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. o ——
' HREBREAHEERSERGNRERERBOER - A REBERT e
I REEEER-
R 4 HEEER
Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable | Standardized operation
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are | management - 4. Supplier
B5.4 implemented and monitored. management
HRAERBHEARRELARRER LREOED - WREBRTR | RECEEEE-
EBRE e 4 HERHER

SECNEEERE | PEERERAT | "I
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Indicator Content

EEAR

B6:

Product
responsibility
B6 - EmETE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health

Respective Section

RREH

Standardized operation

General and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products | management - 1. Product
disclosure and services provided and methods of redress. quality management
—BRE BRMRMERARBEORESEZS  BES RERLEZEARBN | ROl ELEE-
HEN QB ROEFTHRTAREAZENRBERRANN | 1 EREEER
EH o
The Group had no recalled
, _ products due to safety and
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and .
health reasons during the
B6.1 he;lth\rea\so\rls. e o 5 Reporting Period
Egi?ﬁﬁﬁmw%$iﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁwm G AEEGE
AzzRiEREmmns
B Em
Standardized operation
Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they | management - 1. Product
B6.2 are dealt with. quality management
EEBNEMRREORFAAAREE L REERER-
mEEERE
Standardized operation
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual | management - 3. Intellectual
B6.3 property rights. property management
M e R MR EREENED - REE=EE-
3HBEEER
Standardized operation
L . management - 1. Product
o [:e\ss:pt;on ci \quatlllty assELIJrance grocess and recall procedures. e e
HREERTRRERERCYIER - PEELEE -
1 EREREE
Digital and intelligent
products empowering
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are | efficient decision- making
B6.5 implemented and monitored. - Data security and privacy

WEEERBERERLRER  URBBRITRERNE -

management
BECERPNEERN
AR-EEZRER
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Indicator Content

ERAR
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Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and

Respective Section

REED

Standardized operation
management -2. Business
ethics and anti-money

General regulations, that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, laundering intermal
disclosure extortion, fraud and money laundering. mana emgent
—MREE BEMLER DR RGFRARERN : QBE: RO BTHETA ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂ_
E\ﬂgg\ sv\\ f [ \>\‘/: ° ey
ﬁij{ﬁ/ E’]*ﬁﬁ‘ﬂ/ﬁ@&ﬁmméﬂ 2%%@{%;&%@&1
REENDEE
Standardized operation
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought zwtz?casgaenrge:;ﬂ—j%fﬁjness
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the laundering interal y
B7.1 outcomes of the cases. mana emgent
RERHANEETAZHEERLTEEENRTRARMNHE R géﬂx B
?/L\\ii%o %ﬂ [E=EE
| o 2 BERERBER S
o nER
Anti-corruption
B7: KA Standardized operation
management -2. Business
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how T;S:g;ir;d ?Eile_rr:;)lney
B7.2 they are implemented and monitored. managemgent
L ey 2 b BRITRER R -
HaaEmkERERr  ARBBRTRERR R E
2L BEEEREAREE
AEpE R
Standardized operation
management -2. Business
ethics and anti-money
873 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. laundering internal
' HRmESERETRENRESHE - management
REEEEE -
LBRERREEREE
REbER
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
General communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into | Actively giving back to
disclosure consideration the communities” interests. society
—REE FBVNE2ERTREEME N EFENRREEREHEZR E | BROEHE
| \_/\ \ b o
B8: Community MR
investment Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour | Actively giving back to
B8 : NERE BS.1 needs, health, culture, sport). society
EIERER(NYE  BREFE BIFX BR X BE)- EHEETE
8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. sAocctiZte)l/y iyl
: BT AT RS % ot it o
Ev/i%ﬁmﬁpﬁébﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ(ﬁuﬁﬁjﬂ'\fﬁﬂ> $E@E%$i@
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Sinohealth Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Sinohealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 191 to 340, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

ZERESEE )

Key audit matter
B EITEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFTNAEEBRESEE

Revenue recognition

WA TR

Revenue from the sale of Data Insight Solutions, Data-
driven Publications and Events and SaaS products
amounted to RMB199,078,000, RMB144,172,000 and
RMB60,478,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024,
respectively. Revenue contracts involve the judgements
of identifying performance obligations, determining
the timing of satisfaction of the services or goods, and
the estimates to measure progress towards completion.
Revenue recognition was significant to the financial
statements based on its quantitative materiality, and
the large volume of transactions that were processed
in the year and the risks that the revenue might not be
recorded in the proper periods.

HZE2024F12 A31 BIEFE @ KRB HE BB RRER
AR R SBESEM AT A K SaaSEm WA
2 Bl A AR 199,078,000 7T + A R # 144,172,000
TR AR 60,478,0007T « WMAE L RERIRIRE
TAMEBERIMREHE ROFBIENHE - UEETE
EREFERNGHRT c ERESENEERRFAMMEE

MEARZHE @ EFERARLARAEHRA
FCERASREVER - WARERB R EHRREFERE
% o

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition
included the following:

It ATl W A RERR T #E 1T RO 2]
1g -

ARFEEATS

- obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and
testing management’s internal controls over the
revenue recognition process;

= TR FENMAREEREEHBARREFNAN

BE

#B

Het

7%

- discussing with management with respect to the
recognition basis on the provision of different
types of services by checking to the underlying

contracts;
- ﬁ@ﬁ’l‘ﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬁm?’] BLIR (1 [R] 12 28 AR 75 1O B
E%%E EE fTujnFFﬂ ;

- performing analytical review of revenue to assess
the reasonableness of revenue fluctuations during
the year;

= HWAETOTHRE - U EFARRAKE
BEaIRY
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) EREFEEHR)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREETSEE BMNEFNAEEFARENSE

Revenue recognition (continued)

WA TSR (4&)

The Group’s disclosures about revenue recognition are — testing, on a sampling basis, the revenue
included note 2.4 Material accounting policies and note recognised for the year by tracing the transactions
5 Revenue, other income and gains to the financial to supporting documents, such as contractual
statements. agreements, customers’ acceptance reports,

customised reports delivered, records of industry

B E G AR LN RERRS B BREMNE2.4
BABEHBERMESMA - HAUA Tl 25 -

events or conferences, underlying invoices or cash
receipts; and

- A NAAFARRBNRA - TEEEE
X ZEIFHXMF(MENHE TP RKH
HRANESNCRSE TEEABHEEN
ek HEAERRIRSUIR)ETHY - Rk

- performing confirmation procedures for the sales
transactions for the year ended 31 December
2024 and outstanding trade receivable balances
as at that date, on a sampling basis.

- TEZE2024F12A31BIEFEHESTS UK
HEZBAINNE SR RGRIBLE A A TS
ETERIER ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREFETSEHE)

Key audit matter
S EITEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFTNAEEERESEE

Impairment testing of goodwill

BT e (e =

The carrying amount of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements was RMB11,551,000 as at 31
December 2024. The Group has performed an annual
impairment test on the recoverability of goodwill in
accordance with HKAS 36.

R2024F 12 A31 B FEVERRPEENERE
BARK11,551,000tc BEEBECREFSGTE
BIIZE 36 5 B ry Al W Bl E T FEERE R -

No impairment charge against goodwill has been
recorded in the current year. Management's impairment
test was important to our audit because the assessment
process was complex and required significant judgement
and estimates on assumptions including cash-generating
unit identification, gross margin and discount rate.

AEZWEFFEHBRBI L - BEENRERAL
BPNEAEZRER ARFHEREM  AFEY
REeBEEBEMHER  EMNERUREERRMELEKN
HEF AL ET

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment testing
of goodwill included the following:

BB A ERERNRMETNETZFEEAT

RIF -

- reviewing and testing management’s future
forecasted cash flows and key assumptions by
comparing them to the Group’s development
plan, budget and financial projections and
analysis of the industry;

- BBE SREMNZERFE - BENMYHIEBIA
RITEDIETHE - BEL AR EREH KRR
AR 2R R E BRER

- with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialist, evaluating the key valuation parameters
such as the discount rate applied and the
valuation model with forecasted cash flows; and

- ERABEEZERNBET - FHLATEAMRLE X
AR ROGEERLEEIBMHEEZE K
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EAsETSEH(E)

Key audit matter
S EITEH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFTNAEEBERESEE

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

B R ()

The Group'’s disclosures about impairment testing of
goodwill are included in note 2.4 Material accounting
policies, note 3 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates and note 15 Goodwill, which specifically
explain the accounting policies and management’s
assumptions and accounting estimates to the financial
statements.

ERERENAERENANKEINWE24EAS
FEEBE ~ WE3EA S HE R IG5 MM 1548
£ HPARMET St RRALREEBYMBHRE
R R AT o

- evaluating the adequacy of the related disclosures
in the financial statements.

- AHAM B RAR TR RESS TS
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
Management Discussion and Analysis of the Annual Report (but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Statement,
the Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance Report and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which are
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed on the other information that
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’
Report, the Corporate Governance Report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

FEHREEENHEHMER

BERAESFHEMEEEE - HEEEHE
BN A ZEE RS A A RENFERS

M EIRE N Mo (B TBREAE M HRER M
B BEIRE) - A RTERE A Z B

CEERENEIFERS EFERH

BWMEALIRE - g RERWmSE -

& hEE

ﬁﬁ‘ﬂ%é MBRRONBREL TREEME
ﬁzﬁ7TT;TEE%E@%%%%E@%EﬁE’\J

FBAEBRMEHEEMBHRRNET  HANEE
EMEEMES  EHBET  EEHEMESR
R AR ﬁﬁ‘*#&%‘iﬁﬁ&%%ﬁ&f@qﬂﬁﬁT
BOBAFEEARBEREUT FEERES

PRt B ZZD%*E%&W?%VMZ%(EM&%EI
HZ i ESNEMESMBITHNTIIE  RMAR
RZEMERFEEREREM - HFIFER
EZEE -HENE RfIRAFTAFTERS °

I

ERMHNEIFRS EFeHRE  EXFA

:ﬁb’ziM&iaiR CHEREARER - MREM
7%”‘437(_&%?@5553 Rt - BB ERZE

EE@%TZ?E\ 2858



RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group to as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
& YL 1% SN e ¥R &5

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong (Practising
certificate number: P06108).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
OB REMERNWRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T AR®T T AR®ET T
REVENUE A 5 403,728 396,194
Cost of sales 3HE A (170,527) (172,722)
Gross profit EH 233,201 223,472
Other income and gains AU A K 5 44,845 41,285
Selling and distribution expenses  $8% & 7 $#5F X (40,084) (32,411)
Administrative expenses THRAX (38,500) (34,641)
Research and development costs ~ AfF 3% Ak A% (64,771) (61,090)
Impairment losses on TREEMBEERFHE
financial assets, net (12,861) (24,079)
Other expenses HMAx (1,061) (1,155)
Finance costs R IO 7 (621) (640)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBEAER 6 120,148 110,741
Income tax expense FISRim 10 (8,325) (9,801)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F =T 111,823 100,940
Attributable to: AT IEE:
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZFS PN 110,649 102,032
Non-controlling interests FEVERR A 1,174 (1,092)
111,823 100,940
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FAZHEKZAE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 111,823 100,940
Attributable to: AT IBEN:
Owners of the parent (SYNCIETZS DN 110,649 102,032
Non-controlling interests FEVERR E 2 1,174 (1,092)
111,823 100,940
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAEBRERFEAA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BiEERE2F
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted BERREE 12 RMB 26.97 cents RMB 23.94 cents

ARY26.97 5

AR¥E23.94 %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ir O M BIRRNR

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®T T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &R E 13 4,943 5,070
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 10,882 13,490
Goodwill B 15 11,551 -
Other intangible assets HEfmEE 16 1,956 1,085
Time deposits EHATER 22 105,723 165,377
Deferred tax assets EETIEE E 25 7,742 3,455
Total non-current assets EmBEEBE 142,797 188,477
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 17 1,085 1,561
Trade and notes receivables 2 5 EWRIE R EWEE 18 94,500 90,043
Prepayments, other receivables ~ FB{TFIAE - HAbfEUR
and other assets HIERHMEE 19 11,159 49,656
Contract assets aREE 20 1,523 -~
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRD
through profit or loss TREE 21 47,934 -
Due from related parties JiE K R Bk 5 3k 1B 32(b) 177 45
Time deposits EHTFER 22 448,006 344,028
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 22 63,715 123,931
Total current assets mBEERE 668,099 609,264
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables 2 5 KIE 23 16,618 13,109
Other payables and accruals Hith fe 3B R fEEH B A 24 63,713 63,540
Lease liabilities ME&E 14(b) 4,678 4,211
Due to related parties JE 1~ RA B 5 30 IE 32(b) 82 432
Tax payable FEAT 18 7.254 2,969
Total current liabilities mBBERRE 92,345 84,261
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 575,754 525,003
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

in O IR N R

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B ARET T AREF T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAEBERRBARS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 718,551 713,480
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 14(b) 7,102 10,026
Deferred tax liabilities FEFHIEEE 25 2,642 3,000
Total non-current liabilities R BERTE 9,744 13,026
Net assets EEFE 708,807 700,454
EQUITY %t #E
Equity attributable to owners &2 F#EHE AELRE
of the parent
Share capital IR 26 30,384 30,384
Treasury shares EFRR D 26 (207,535) (179,098)
Reserves {1 27 887,854 852,054
710,703 703,340
Non-controlling interests IEPE A 2 (1,896) (2,886)
Total equity mrEs 708,807 700,454
Wu Yushu Wang Lifang REFT EFF
Director Director EH =l
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194 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FORBENE

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

NG PN A
Non-
Share Treasury Share Capital  Statutory  Retained controlling Total
capital shares  premium* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests equity
BA  EBRG BROEEr EXGEr AERE RERN: @i EmkER Eb o
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR AREBTR ARBTRT ARETR
(note26)  (note26)  (note27)  (note27)  (note27)
(Wzk26)  (MisF2e)  (Wstar)  (Wwsta7r)  (Misxa7)
Year ended BZ2023%
31 December 2023 12B31HLEE
At31December 2022 #R2022%12A318 30384 (101,121) 477,339 19,372 29,556 239,508 695,038 (1,802) 693,236
Total comprehensive ~ FRZARALE
income for the year - - - - - 102,032 102,032 (1,092) 100,940
Shares repurchased EEORR = (77,977) = = = = (77,977) = (77,977)
Dividends declared BEERRE - - - - - (15753)  (15,753) = (15,753)
Appropriation tothe  EREETHE
statutory reserve - - - - 8,449 (8,449) - - -
Deregistration a subsidiary F3H— KB A - - - - = = = 8 8
At31December 2023 74202312 A31H 30384 (179,098 477,339 19,372 38,005 317,338 703,340 (2,886) 700,454

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MOERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARER AL
Non-
Share  Treasury Share Capital ~ Statutory  Retained controlling Total
capital shares premium*  reserve*  reserve*  profits* Total interests equity

kA EFRS RORE* BEREEr EEREr RERF B FERER ags
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR
(note26)  (note26) (note27) (note27) (note27)
(Wat26)  (faE2e)  (M&E27)  (M&27)  (W&27)

Year ended
31 December 2024
At 31 December 2023
Total comprehensive
income for the year
Appropriation to the
statutory reserve
Shares repurchased
Acquisition of a
subsidiary (note 29)
Dividends declared
Acquisition of

non-controlling interests

Capital injection by
non-controlling
shareholders

BEauE

12831BLEE
7202312 A31H
FREANALE

BREATHR

EBEERG

WE-RHE AT
GEL)

BEERKRE

W SRR

FHEREREE

Deregistration a subsidiary 7 #—RITB LA

30,384  (179,098) 477,339 19,372 38,005 317,338 703,340 (2,886) 700,454

— — — — — 110,649 110,649 1,174 111,823

= = = = 7312 (7.312) = = =

- (2883) — — - —  (88) - (843)
- - —~ - - - - 672 672
—~ - —~ —~ — (69505  (69,505) — (69,505
—~ - - (53M) - — (53 (15%6) (6920
- - —~ - - - - 853 853

— = = - — - = (133) (133)

At 31 December 2024

1202412 318

30,384  (207,535) 477,339 14,028 45317 351,170 710,703 (1,896) 708,807

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves  * ZERBEBEIEN2024F 12 A31HEG S
of RMB887,854,000 (31 December 2023: RMB852,054,000) MR KR ARER A A K% 887,854,000
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 70(2023F12 A31H : A R ¥ 852,054,000
December 2024. JT) °
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196 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEOMERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T T ARETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM REEHHTRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 750 B A A 120,148 110,741
Adjustments for: MATRIERE:
Finance costs EUR DN 7 621 640
Bank interest income RITHEUA 5 (26,292) (26,668)
Investment income received BAFEFABEN SR
from financial assets at fair BEEESNERERA
value through profit or loss 5 (584) (500)
Fair value losses on financial AT EGFABENESE
assets at fair value BERNTEBE
through profit or loss 444 -
Depreciation of property, plant Y - RERERBITE
and equipment 13 2,540 2,427
Depreciation of EREEENE
right-of-use assets 14(a) 4,733 5,342
Amortisation of other HM R E =g
intangible assets 16 771 797
Gain on lease modifications HE &R 14(c) (50) (13)
Gain on lease termination KIEEE W 14(c) (11) -
Impairment of trade B 5 W IBEREFE
receivables, net 18 9,333 17,607
Impairment of other E b JE W R IBR (B R
receivables, net 19 3,528 6,472
Foreign exchange gains, net HINE W 25 5 R 5 (4,858) (2,286)
Loss on de-registration of a S —RMBARREE
subsidiary = 8
Loss on disposal of items LENE  BEK
of property, plant RIBIEE MEE
and equipment 27 3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEMERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5T AR®T T ARETTT
Increase in trade and B 5 WA R EW
notes receivables S (13,039) (15,657)
Increase in an amount due JFE Y A Bst 5 SR IEAE AN
from related parties (132) (45)
Decrease/(increase) in TERTFRIE - HAth EUCERIE
prepayments, other MEAMEERD, (3G 0)
receivables and other assets 1,457 (1,891)
Increase in contract assets HREESZM (1,523) -
Decrease in inventories FERD 530 756
(Decrease)/increase in amounts JE 1~ B BS: 75 IR
due to related parties Ve Vil (350) 77
Increase/(decrease) in 2 5 RIE
trade payables =, Ok ) 1,707 (1,556)
Decrease in other payables H ith FE AT R IB K FERH B A
and accruals B (16) (10,544)
Cash generated from operations & & FT5IR & 98,984 85,710
Interest received 2B 1,629 6,899
Income tax paid ETFREH (8,769) (13,552)
Net cash flows from KEEBFEREMEFHE
operating activities 91,844 79,057
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198 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEOMERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T T AR®ETF T

CASH FLOWS FROM REEBHTRE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEME - KEMKEIEE

plant and equipment and LA B2 A8 B B R 5K

related advance payments (2,418) (3,118)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEE « HE L& E

property, plant and equipment T8 B FriS5E 32 1
Additions to other HMEFNEERE

intangible assets 16 (1,005) (292)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WS — KM B A A 29 (11,972) -
Purchases of time deposits BB EETX (521,465) (487,845)
Disposal of time deposits & E BT K 484,110 243,564
Interest income received E RSO T EWA

from time deposits 20,265 10,891
Purchases of financial assets at BERATETABRRD

fair value through profit or loss TRIEE (196,080) (90,300)
Disposal of financial assets at HERA T ERFT ABRA

fair value through profit or loss TREEE 149,208 92,360
Investment income received from A FEF ABZHH

financial assets at fair value CRIEEESHIRERA

through profit or loss 584 538
Net cash flows used in KEEHMARESREFRE

investing activities (78,741) (234,201)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEMERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
hg=d AR®T T AR®EF T

CASH FLOWS FROM MEETH<HTRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital injection by FEPERR IR T E

non-controlling shareholders 853 -
Dividend paid EEIRKRE (69,505) (15,753)
Principal portion of lease payments &~ A A& EB 5 (4,521) (4,855)
Interest paid on lease liabilities REEAEZNHE (621) (640)
Repurchase of shares A EIEE5) - (75,567)
Repayment of prepayment for EEE LR M TR IR

repurchase of shares 5,145 -
Prepayment for repurchase f& O i D TR 3R IE

of shares - (35,659)
Acquisition of non-controlling WRE IE iR =

interests (6,920) -
Distribution to a non-controlling &l 5 §8 ifn [A) FE4% A% A% B8

shareholder as a result 73 Ik

of deregistration (133) (55)
Net cash flows used in B E & B AT A

financing activities RENEFHE (75,702) (132,529)
NET DECREASE IN CASH ReRASZEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B FERE (62,599) (287,673)
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERREEFED

at beginning of year 123,931 409,318
Effect of foreign exchange HNETE R E B B FH R

rate changes, net 2,383 2,286
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREREERBLEEY

AT END OF YEAR 22 63,715 123,931
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HRERBESEEYEHR I

CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re LRI 22 61,904 61,804
Non-pledged time deposits AR RBEIA R

with original maturity of =& A e EEAEHEFER

less than three months

when acquired 22 1,811 62,127
Cash and cash equivalents as KRB RERRMBERAEK

stated in the statement of JEERMIE e RIREFEY

cash flows and statement

of financial position 63,715 123,931
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 4 March 2019. The registered
address of the Company is 89 Nexus Way, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business in Mainland China is located at Room
1111, No. 5 Wangjiang Second Street, Huangge Town,
Nansha District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company
and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Wellmark Link Limited, which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were
principally engaged in the provision of Data Insight
Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events and SaaS
products.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange™) on 12 July 2022.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 201
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

1. RRERGE)

FRANBLINER
ARANEI2EMBARFBEHINAT ¢

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

as follows:
Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
MR, ERbER ERITEER/ KRR
£ MRS LY AMEARE READL TEXE
Direct Indirect
B Rt
Sky Range Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ("BVI") US$1 100% - Investment holding
(REREERAR) 3 January 2019
REREBRLA ABRLES (E 100% - REBR
([RBRLZAS])
2019F 1 A3H
Sinohealth Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(PREEMEARRE) 15 March 2019
PRREHRARA i 10,000 &7 - 100% REZK
201963 A15H
Vast Connect Health Singapore 5G$100,000 - 100%  Operation of
Technology PTE Limited 27 April 2023 Data Insight Solutions
Vast Connect Health I 100,000 5T AT - 100% EERBEREBANE
Technology PTE Limited 2023544271
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 5 ¥ 2 Bid 5F

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

DEEM(E)
HRAME 2R KER (8
ARRMEZHMBREFER W

as follows: (continued) ™ (&)
Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
MR/ AR R BRTEER/ RAREL
8 AEUREEHE EfBRAREE BEEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Rt
Guangzhou Zhongkang People’s Republic RMB300,000,000 - 100%  Research and development
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. of China (“PRC")/ and provision of Data
("Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital”) Mainland China Insight Solutions,
(BN EEFTRRAERAR) 8 April 2019 Data-driven Publications
(note (a)) and Events, and SaaS
products
BN RAFHRARLT PEARANE AR %300,000,0007C - 100% HEREEBBREER
(TEMPREF ) (FHit () ([ ])/H B hE BEEIEHR
201964A8H B SaaS Em
Guangzhou Sinohealth PRC/Mainland China RMB21,492,000 - 100%  Research and development
Information Co., Ltd. 20 December 2007 and provision of Data
("Sinohealth information”) Insight Solutions,
(BMPREARDERAR) Data-driven Publications
(note (b)) and Events, and SaaS
products
BNRRERRDARAA hE/ER AE%21,492,0007C - 100% MERREKBERRER
(T EER ) (FH5E (b)) 2007412 A20R hR - BEEDHEHR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

$

NEEF(E)
RENMBLRNER (&)
ANMEEAMBARFE

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

& 5 a0

as follows: (continued)  (8&)
Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
ML ERbER ERITEER/ KRR
£ MRS LY AMEARE READL TEXEK
Direct Indirect
B Rt

Guangzhou Xinkang Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 96%  Operation of
Technology Company Limited 14 November 2016 SaaS products
("Xinkang Information”)

(BMOEEEMBARAR)
(note (b))

EMORESREARA hE /e AR 10,000,000 7 - %% EiESaSER
(ThEER ) (HEE( > 20165114148

Guangzhou Sinohealth PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 75%  Research and development
Jianshu Intelligence 3 April 2018 and operation of
Technology Company Limited* Smart Medical Cloud
("Sinohealth Jianshu") under the business line
(BN REIEENEERAR) of Saa$ products
(note (b)

Bt RS R RERAR hE/PER AR 1,000,000 - 5% HEREESaSER
(T Efeen ) (BisE (b)) 201854 A3R FBENH TE@

Beijing Sinohealth Tong Digital PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 94%  Management of marketing
Technology Company Limited* 18 March 2020 and promotion services
(“Sinohealth Tong") of innovative medicine
(ERPEREFHRARAT)

(note (b))

IR ERRFHRARAR hE/HE AL AR 5,000,000 - %% ERAMBENEHR

(T ) (R (b)) 20203 A18H R R
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204 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

DEEM(E)
HRAME 2R KER (8
ARRMEZHMBREFER W
™ (8)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
MR/ AR R BRTEER/ NG 4
£ AENREE LS EfBRAREE BEEAL TEXR
Direct Indirect
B Rt
Guangzhou Xisi Digital PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Operation of
Technology Company Limited* 4 June 2019 SaaS products
(BMNAEBHFRBERAR)
ENERETHREARAR hE/hER AR 1,000,000 - 100% 2&SaaSEm
2019F6 A4H
Guangzhou Jisi Digital PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 75%  Dormant
Technology Company Limited* 22 May 2019
(BMEBEFRBARAT)
ENERETHRARAR hE/hER AR 1,000,000 - 5% ERLE
2019554221
Guangzhou Jiasi Information PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Operation under the
Technology Company Limited* 22 May 2019 business line of
(BMNEREERBERAR) SaaS products
(note (b))
ENERESHRARDA(ME() +E/hERY AR 1,000,0007C - 100% HSaSEREBET
2019558221 2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. 2QAEHGE)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EEMBEARNER (&)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are $ AMEZHKN B RGBS
as follows: (continued)  (8&)

Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
ML ERbER ERITEER/ KRR
£ MRS LY AMEARE READL TEXE
Direct Indirect
B Rt

Hainan Sinohealth Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Dormant
Company Limited* 26 December 2019
(BEPEHMRARRT)

(note (b))
BETRHBEERAR (M (b) hE/PERL AR 1,000,000 - 100% EELE
2019127268

Beijing Sinohealth Tongrun Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 = 94%  Management of marketing
Company Limited 26 November 2021 and promotion services
("Sinohealth Tongrun”) of innovative medicine
(ERPERENBERAT)

ERPERERRERAA hE/hER AR 5,000,0007C - 9% ERAMBENEHL
(Mgl 2021511 A26H HERR%

Shanghai Woyingtong Digital Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Research and development
Company Limited* 21 February 2023 and operation of
(DERBRATHREARAR) Smart Medical Cloud

under the business

line of SaaS products
ERBRAFHRARR hE/HER A% 1,000,000 - 100% SaaSERXBETEE
(TEexBE]) 2023%2A218 BRENHRALE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

RNEEF(E)
AENMBLRNEFR (&)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are $ AMEZHKN B RGBS
as follows: (continued)  (8&)
Place and date of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable to the
Name place of operations share capital Company Principal activities
AL ERbER ERITEER/ RAREL
8 AEUREEHE EMRAEE BEEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B F3
Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical PRC/Mainland China RMB1,913,302 - 61.01%  Operation of
Technology Company Limited * 28 June 2021 Smart Medical
("Zhonghui Medical”) Cloud under the
(BMTEBERRERAR) business line of
(nate (b), (c) SaaS products
ENTEBEREARAA hE /e AR¥1,913302 7 - 61.01% SaaSEREBKTEE
(rrEE% ) (FE(b) R(c) 2021564 28A BREMZE
Hunan LingshiDigital PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 51%  Operation of
Technology Company Limited* 13 June 2024 SaaS products
("Lingshi Digital Technology”)
(MEAABTHRBRAT)
(note (b))
HEIREFHRARAH hE/hER AR 2,000,000 - 51% EESaSEm
(IaagFRE]) (FE (b)) 202456 A 131
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries (the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) are engaged or
will engage in the production of short films and the
provision of internet information service and internet
data centre services (including internet resources
cooperation services) (together, the “Relevant
Businesses”). Under the scope of the “Catalogue of
Industries for Encouraging Foreign Investment (2020
Version)” and the “Special Administrative Measures
(Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment
(2021 Version)”, foreign investors are restricted or
prohibited to invest in the Relevant Businesses. A
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Guangzhou
Zhongkang Digital (the “WOFE"), has entered into a
series of Contractual Arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and their respective equity holders (hereafter
the equity holders of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities referred to as the “Registered Shareholders”).
The Contractual Arrangements enable the WOFE
to exercise effective control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and obtain substantially all
economic benefits of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities. Accordingly, the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities are controlled by the Company based on the
Contractual Arrangements though the Company does
not have any direct or indirect equity interest in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

NEEF(E)
RENMBLRNER (&)

W

(a) ZEBREBETBEVERBRLATER -

(b)) HEREMREMBAR(HFAHEE
BHEEIHREEAREAREHR
EMEERRSE REBBBIES LR
B(BEEEBBERAERYE) (GBS
[BRA%EK]) (BB REER
B £%(2020 FiR) ) RCIN R B/ A K
PlEREE(RESE)(2021FR))
HLEN  IEREEFRBIRE LR
BERBBEL - ARANZENER
AEMPEERF(THERX]) B 85
PHEBEERBLNESENRERAA
(ATEEGAHEERNREARA
ARIBEBRRDET - RINEGHR
BTEHOZRHE]D - MR B EH R
REEMHIRE BB ERITER B
REGHKRABBERBAIN Y KHEN
@ BEARANGAMBERILE
TMEZRKEEEE  BREANK
B REMBERBIARAIES o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

(c) During the year, the Group acquired Zhonghui Medical
from a related party of the Company. Further details
of this acquisition are included in notes 29 and note
32(a) to the financial statements.

* The English names of these entities registered in
the PRC represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate
their Chinese names as they did not register any
official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(0 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

SEBCR(E)

RBLEYE(4F)

meE%E
BAENERRBEARAREN B AR
(I AEE ) EZ=2024F12A31H
IFENFBRE - MBART—HA
ARREESEELFNEE(BELRE
MER) EASBEHD2HREHRER
Y7 B 2 AR B R ok = B R I A K R
FRHBEREHROEN(AAEEER T
RENNEEBREHSREBRETBNEE A #
F)F2ZE O REF - BNEVSIEHIRE -

—RMNE BREEBRAZHEREZRERS
RSEHE - MARRHEAREHRD
XEZBUBRNTEHE AKEFE
HREOHRREHRBEERNBEER
FIAERBSEERER 81 :

(a) HEREHRHMEERAANGL
2k

(b) EHMAHNLBMELZNEN @ &

(0 AKREHREENETREZE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current
year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEMBREENE 165 (1BETAR)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BEASFEAFE15E(EFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB ERE 1 RUEETR)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BB EAE 7R REBMEREERNE 75K
CEHEN),

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

2. EIBEE)

2.1 WREEE)
mEEXE (&)
fie 7S 52 [ 5k 2= ST BT B 1% B RO 4% 4 - B
HRIEREHEEE(BRBE) &
&~ fE ] FE 2 il 1 4 a5 % BB 5K B 1
B AR EBRTERTAREREZR
FERMEMALEENBRLEAL -
£ B 25165 55 AT L 2 T A as R AR O 4
PR ES D EHT 0 BBt AR SR B & A (40
BE) EEERMEASEERLERH
BEXBEMAREERR -

2.2 EHXREHRIFE

ARBORAFEOMBERE SRR
PN CH e r s TR - ST

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERHETHHEER &
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)
R ES BB I wE) ([ 2020 FIEFTAR])
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)
A2 HmEa E (2022 FERIAR])
Supplier Finance Arrangements

REBBEZH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or
loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and
that only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

(0 Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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214 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BIFBEGE)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 2.3 BHEMGENKRERNE LM R
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS HEAGHER
The Group has not applied the following new and ARE AR FHBRRABAAT
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been ERME R LRI RGBT BB
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial M SRR g R o REBERRNZ
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and FIE] REIETT B AR BHRE LA G
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, RRIERIB AR T MEIER] B 7S
when they become effective. MBS R g R (ER) ©
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®
RN BHREELE 185 B B A 2 5 R 15 7
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures’
BAEMBHREELE 195 FHERNRZTAETHINE 7] - #E
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments’
BEVMBRELUNEIORNBEENBRELERFE TS 2B TASTERF;ENEE?

CCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity’
BB EERIE 9% K WRNCRE B AR BENREEE RS A2
ERVBREERE 75 (BRI AR)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*
BAMERELERE 105 R BB SE4ERZE 285 KREZFHRBE NG A E1 R FEE

(BETA) M EBRA
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
ERGERE 21 ] (BFIA) BRZ AT
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 ?
BB ER S BRI FEAE—F 115 BAMBHREENE 1R - BBV BERELR

FT7% - BRVBREERIE IR -
BEMBREENFE10RNBE S LR
7 RERER] 2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 202541 A1 B 3k 2 1% F 16 &) 5 /2 B
January 2025 A A 3K

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 20261 A1 B 3k 2 1% [ 16 &) F |2 B
January 2026 R

: Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or : 2027 F VA 1BRZERIEHMEE
after 1 January 2027 s EARE AR

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but ¢ i A 7 TE 5 Il AE R A B - B AT R AR

available for adoption
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In
addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an
entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are considering the application
of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset
or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria
are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information
that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

EEBER ()
CHRMERRERNE B ER

4 9 B B3 Bl ()

H ==~ =
BEAMBRELENE10HR LB BSFTE
BIIZE 28 5 WIS AT R TR B 78 B 7% 3R 5 22 )
FI0SRE BB ERF 285 2
REEREERABERNARKEGEDRE
ZEANEENEXIRANREN T —HK
Mo ZEBITEREEEHERRAR
K—IEEKE BX2EHBRTIEXZE
ERE BN ESEER R TEKER
MEERS  RHMELENKRENEE
ENEBAENREERNZBE A HE
EPENEDZAR  NIEEEMERP
R ZEBIIRRAKRAEER - &
BEMAgSIRTEAVBERELER
FI0R BB EAFE 28 RABET 2
BAERTIAERBE - A - ZFIEBETA
PRIRRFER AR o

%i\‘?je & =

BEFERE21HRETR)TRE
BN -—EEELE A L BK S
—REE%  UARERZALEMENTE
B anfa] {4 5T BN HAEE & o s FERT Bk
BENENEEMERREMEELNTH
RZAI LB EE ZFE - SUFFIRAT R
e RIRMZFERR  BERTAEY
LB ER - BERRMER] 2T REF
E BRIASEARMKZBHETEN
HYIBRBENRE AW ERSEFAE
RER D R REF 2 T EZ B HE(WE
) o BERZFERT T HAE B
BRELEATE -



ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with
other paragraphs in the standard and/or with
the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

EEBER (&)
CHRMERRERNE B BER

4 9 B B3 Bl ()

[= B PSS A

BB BHREER & ER . FREHN
E—-F 1 EHINEBWBREERF1
S BB EREERE TR (B A
BRI EERET FEEHIES) &
B BMEEEIN - FEVHRELE
A 10 R BB G ERE7TRENE
Al MHIBEARARE ZZFERFIE
LI

. BB RELERNET R AL
A HE ZZEICRHED
G REERFETIREBISERLE
BB R EERE 7155/
F1G1 - IG14 X IG20BEEH & T &
B bk EE AN HMmER S R
/REMIBER AR S RAiTiEE
B—B% o AN - R FIERIBRBE
BB EREERE 7 H 155/
KRB E S T5 RS 2RI 7 557
DEBRZEEHRT - IARMIER
BIMATE - NAFIRTER - BHZ
EBITTEHAEBRNMEHRERE
EEREAFE -

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

219

[



220

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined
that a lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and
recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated
certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9
and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of
“cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

2.4
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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224 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at the end of each reporting
periods. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured

or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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228 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

23.8% t0 31.7%
19.0%

Electronic equipment
Office equipment
and furniture
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease terms
and 20%

Motor vehicles 19.0% to 23.8%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less
impairment and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5
years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 5 ¥ 2 Bid 5F

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

2. EIBEE)

EXRGTBRUEE)

HE(E)
PREEERATN (&)

(b)

HERE

HEBENHERKG B MRERA
EHHHENRREER - HERH
REEEENR(BEELEE M
F)OBEREREEEE - BURR
HE BN R 1 R A B S A K2 TR
HIRBERSFEERERNHNEHE
HENKTBERARESEEET
FEOREEEENTERERERY
RERA R BITEAR L THE R R
BRAKLEEENER - THORRE
AR A EHE R AT
FRE A A5 3 A O HIR A FERR
R e

SECNEFERE | FEERARLE

233

K



234 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented
separately in the statement of financial position.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(©

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office premises (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment that is considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income and fair value

through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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238 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statements of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than
120 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 120 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to

impairment under the general approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired

at the reporting date (but that are not

purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on market historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, due to related parties and lease liabilities.
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244 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories represent capitalised costs which are
incurred to fulfil contracts with customers. They are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity
of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
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2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of reporting periods, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of each reporting
periods between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each of the reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of reporting periods
and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting periods.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group transfers control of goods or services over
time and recognises revenue over time, if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the goods or services.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.
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2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the
customer.

The Group entered into certain transactions with retail
pharmacies to provide services in exchange for receiving
data. The transactions may include cash consideration
in addition to the non-cash consideration. The Group
considers the specific facts and circumstances to
account for such transactions. For the transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised when the promised services are transferred
to the customer and the Group obtains control of the
data. The non-cash consideration obtained from the
customers is measured at fair value. If the fair value
of the non-cash consideration cannot be estimated
reliably, the Group measures the consideration
indirectly by reference to the stand-alone selling price
of the services transferred to the customer.

The Group derives revenue from the provision of Data
Insight Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events
and SaaS products.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@)

Data Insight Solutions

Data Insight Solutions involve delivery of one-
off and/or periodic customised reports, and if
required, report interpretations of data analytics
and problem-solving recommendations to
medical product manufacturers, policy makers
and regulators, industry experts and researchers
as well as the provision of data-driven marketing
solutions to customers.

Delivery of customised research reports

For delivery of customised research reports, the
Group agrees the sales price for service with the
customers upfront and bills to the customers
based on the actual service rendered and
completed. The contract usually contains multiple
deliverable units (i.e., provision of monthly
research reports, quarterly reports and annual
reports within one contract) and each of them
is sold at the stand-alone selling price specified
within the contract. Each individual deliverable
unit is regarded as a performance obligation. The
Group recognised revenue at the point of time
when the individual research report is delivered
and accepted by the customers.
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254 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Data Insight Solutions (continued)

Provision of data-driven marketing solutions
Data-driven Marketing Solutions mainly include
provision of promotional activities services,
advertising services and training services.

The contract with customers relating to data-
driven marketing solutions consisted of multiple
solutions, i.e., combination of provision of
marketing strategies and proposals, organisation
of training service, provision of advertising service
and organisation of customised promotional
activities. Each of the multiple solutions is sold
at the stand-alone selling price specified in the
contract. Each individual solution is regarded as a
performance obligation.

Revenue from each individual data-driven
marketing solution is recognised over time,
because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group. The Group uses the output method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, based on units of delivery, or
a straight-line basis over the period that the
services are rendered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

®)

Data-driven Publications and Events

The Group is engaged in the provision of Data-
driven Publications and Events services which
include organisation of conferences, exhibitions
and networking events.

The contract with customers relating to Data-
driven Publications and Events consisted of
multiple promised services, i.e., organising
and hosting industry events and related value-
added services such as provision of forum
discussions, exhibitions or provision of billboard
in the conference. The Group determined
that organising and hosting industry events
conference and related value-added services
represents one performance obligation, because
these promises are mutually dependent and
the customer is unable to derive significant
benefits from its access to value-added services
for the intended purpose without receipt of the
promises of organising and hosting industry
events.

The revenue from Data-driven Publications and
Events is recognised over the time of conference,
on a straight-line basis, because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(©)

Saas products

Provision of SaaS products involves the granting
of right to access the Group’s proprietary
cloud-based software together with additional
standardised reports on an ad-hoc demand by
singular or multiple user accounts, provision
of right to use an application programming
interface ("API"”) to generate a report and
provision of application software development
services.

Granting right to access the proprietary cloud-
based software

Revenue from SaaS products is recognised over
the granted user period on a straight-line basis,
starting from the point when the user account is
activated, i.e., the user is able to use and benefit
from the services, and other revenue recognition
criteria are met.

Provision of right-of-use API

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the right-to-use of APl is provided and the report
is generated for customers.

Provision of application software development
service

Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the application software together with
relevant licence is delivered and accepted by the
customers.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the contract terms, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
They are reclassified to trade receivables when the right
to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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258  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes operated by the local
municipal government and the central government,
respectively. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to the
central pension schemes. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for
issue, about conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light
of the new information. For non-adjusting events after
the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that
such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

2.
24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company's memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. The Group’s
presentation currency is RMB because the Group's
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

EEBER ()
EXRGTBRUE(E)

RE
SRR R 8 BB K b R O B
RAEME - BOR KR B 5 =
HPUHE -

PHEEIRAREZENER - REA
RARANEBERAALABURTE
SRANAERTHRE - Bitt - 5B
BREZMNERKZNERREE -

HhEE
MBERRARLRBNDEEEARER
5 AN ARENEZXBRHEAM
EIT BMAEBNZ2NEERARE -
AEBASERBITREENESH
MEERY B HRRAIER B AZIBE
EWFE -  AKREETERESINEG
RENFRXZAMEEANEEKE
KA LONEFHEN BB EERBE
BEREMRNDEELEXRRE - &
BB ERBEELENEBENIBRE

<7
R o



ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts
in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the
level of future taxable profits, together with future tax
planning strategies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Deferred tax assets (continued)

The Group has tax losses of RMB34,428,000 (31
December 2023: RMB50,649,000) carried forward as at
31 December 2024. These losses related to subsidiaries
that have a history of losses, have not expired, and
may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in
the Group. The subsidiaries have neither any taxable
temporary difference nor any tax planning opportunities
available that could partly support the recognition of
these losses as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the
Group has determined that it cannot recognise deferred
tax assets on the tax losses carried forward.

Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in note
25 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding
tax in respect of the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China
to the extent that the directors are of the opinion
that they would be probable for distribution in the
foreseeable future. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
liabilities that should be recognised. Further details are
contained in note 25 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
each reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024
was RMB11,551,000 (2023: Nil). Further details are
given in note 15.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
rates are based on ageing period for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical expected default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default
rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical
expected default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical
expected default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit
loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
is disclosed in note 18 and note 20 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on other
receivables

The Group has applied the general approach to provide
for expected credit losses for other receivables and
considered the default event, historical loss rate and
adjusted for forward- looking macroeconomic data
in calculating the expected credit loss rate, details of
which are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
gooawill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised
into business units based on their services and only
has one reportable operating segment. Management
monitors the operating results of the Group's operating
segment as a whole for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographical information
(a)  Revenue from external customers

4.

REEME  AKRBEYERE RS S

7]

RN YEA-BET2REESH

2o EEEHAKE

RETERER

AHEPEHIRER

1 38 & 6

@) KA EES KA

N
,%%E.Zl =]

AT B IR D B M AE 3K

2024 2023
2024 & 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Mainland China B A 399,480 395,258
Netherland 1A7 8 2,036 -
England &R 1,381 513
Hong Kong B 643 154
Singapore N 117 169
Others HAb 71 100
Total revenue A 403,728 396,194

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.
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31 December 2024
202412 A31 H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. KE&9ER(E)
(continued)

Geographical information (continued) I ER (&)
(b)  Non-current assets b) FEREEE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Mainland China A B A 29,327 19,645
Hong Kong BE 5 -
Total non-current assets IEREBEERE 29,332 19,645
The non-current asset information above is LERBEESB NEREEFFLH
based on the locations of the assets and excludes mé&lo BT eEEemI AENREIERE
financial instruments and deferred tax assets. BEE -

Information about major customers ERFXEEFHNER

No revenue from the Group's sales to a single customer REATEE -—ZTFPRAGERERZK

amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total AHI10% A (20234 - £&) o

revenue during the year (2023: Nil).

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hiblr AR W=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADITT :
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers &5 & 94 A 403,728 396,194
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
(continued)

(@)

WA~ HB AR WK (F)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEFEHWA
Disaggregated revenue information (@) SEEWA EF
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREFT
Types of goods or services REGEREASINER
by product category = AR 7 X Bl
Data Insight Solutions IR RRBARTR 199,078 195,741
Data-driven Publications and Events 2515 5& &) 2545 &2 )& &h 144,172 143,616
SaaS products SaaS E in 60,478 56,837
Total Bzt 403,728 396,194
Types of goods or services RERSSESINER
by application scenario =% AR 7% 38 B
Smart Decision Cloud BEARE 254,495 269,164
Smart Retail Cloud BHETEE 88,875 71,564
Smart Medical Cloud BEBEREE 38,254 41,393
Smart Health Management Cloud HZFEEEE 22,104 14,073
Total 4z 403,728 396,194
Geographical markets 138 T 35
Mainland China AR B i 399,480 395,258
Overseas NSEUN 4,248 936
Total #a5 403,728 396,194
Timing of revenue recognition X A FE:2 1Y B
Services transferred at a point RE—BF B
in time EB R R 165,062 169,924
Services transferred over time P& By ) B2 4% O AR 75 238,666 226,270
Total st 403,728 396,194
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. IR - E#tlR AR UL (8)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWA (&)

(continued)

(@ Disaggregated revenue information @ IR AEHR(E)
(continued)
The following table shows the amounts of TRITHRARE HAFEER AR R
revenue recognised in the current reporting SHRRBRTAGOEE - B#R
period that were included in the contract BT EER R B AR EERAUK
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting ABH

periods and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in the previous period:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue recognised that was REFFIAEKIE EH)
included in contract liabilities EHEZFHA -
at the beginning of the year:
Data Insight Solutions FIRRBATR 11,286 16,672
Data-driven Publications BIRERE) M REE)

and Events 4,278 8,015

SaaS products SaaS E i 11,965 9,761
Total st 27,529 34,448
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

®)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Data Insight Solutions

The performance obligation for delivery of
customised research reports is generally satisfied
at the point of time when the individual research
report is delivered and accepted by the customers
and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing. The performance
obligation for provision of individual marketing
solution is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment in advance is normally
required.

Data-driven Publications and Events

The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered, where payment
in advance is normally required. The services
related to Data-driven Publications and Events
are generally completed within one week.

Saas products

The performance obligation for granting right
to access the proprietary cloud-based software
is satisfied over time as services are rendered,
where payment in advance is normally required.
The performance obligation for the use of API
is satisfied at the point of time when the right
to use is granted and payment is generally due
immediately. The performance obligation for
application software development is satisfied at
the point of time when the application software
together with relevant licence is accepted by the
customers, and payment is generally due when
the service was completed.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Performance obligations
Saas products (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as

5.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

WA~ AR W (F)

EEFEHAWA(E)
b) BHIEME(E)
SaaS ZEnp (&)

R12A318 ' "EEZ%H TEHNE
F(RERSEZBDRENK)NRFZE
BERBIT

follows:
2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR TT
Amounts expected to be TEEARE R R
recognised as revenue: WA EHE :
Within one year —FR 107,657 123,004
After one year —F1% 11,420 31,142
Total st 119,077 154,146

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which
are expected to be recognised as revenue after
one year mainly relate to SaaS products, of
which the performance obligations are to be
satisfied within two years. All the other amounts
of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

BN —FRERBBRALE DB
EHRTBEAEENRZERERE
RHESaaSEmAR ETRENE
ERRMERNZER - TEEMED
EESRTRAOBENRIZEREHE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)  Performance obligations
Saas products (continued)

An analysis of other income and gains is as

5.

WA~ HB AR WK (F)

EFEHWA(E)

b) JBHIEME(E)
SaaS ZEnp (&)

HWA R Wamm o

follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Other income Hapug A
Bank interest income RITHI B A 26,292 26,668
Government grants* IRAT#E B * 13,040 11,671
Investment income from financial R A FEF AEZ
assets at fair value through ETREEN
profit or loss TERA 584 500
Others HAth 10 147
Total other income H g A 4858 39,926 38,986
Gains W &=
Foreign exchange gains, net HNEE U 22 % B 4,858 2,286
Gain on lease modifications HE Bk 50 13
Gain on terminations of leases wIFAE W 1 —
Total gains W B RE 4,919 2,299
Total other income and gains HaRA KRB E 44,845 41,285
@ The government grants mainly represent * BT BY F IR E BT R

incentives awarded by the local governments
to support the Group’s operation. There were
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
attached to these grants.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 275

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

6 FRBADRF

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

A S B H BB R MR R (GEA) BA

charging/(crediting): TRIBEER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR®T T ARETT
Cost of services provided TR AR TS A AN 170,527 172,722
Depreciation of property, Mm% WE K&
plant and equipment RETE 13 2,540 2,427
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 i1 & E T & 14(a) 4,733 5,342
Amortisation of other Hithmp EE#E~
intangible assets* 16 771 797
Research and development costs ~ #f Bk 2K 64,771 61,090
Lease payments not included Tt AHEBE
in the measurement of FFEMHEERK
lease liabilities 14(c) 142 126
Bank interest income RITH B WA 5 (26,292) (26,668)
Government grants I T #76 B 5 (13,040) (11,671)
Investment income from financial &2 FET AIBEEH
assets at fair value through TREERN
profit or loss BEWA 5 (584) (500)
Gain on lease modifications MEEska 5 (50) (13)
Gain on terminations of leases ~ #&X [FFE WS 5 (11) -
Foreign exchange gain, net SNEE YT 2 ) H R 5 (4,858) (2,286)
Loss on de-registration KM
of a subsidiary NRIHEE - 8
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BER
property, plant and equipment  FREIBEE Z &8 27 3
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 2,230 2,180
Employee benefit expense 1B B @ AR <
(excluding directors’ and chief (TBIEEER
executive’s remuneration FEITEABH
(note 8)): (FF7E8) )
Wages and salaries TERES 147,770 140,499
Pension scheme contributions** iR {K 4 5t &I 3k * 6,019 3,623
Staff welfare expense B TRAMXZ 751 1,078
Total #Et 154,540 145,200
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting): (continued)

BR

A (88)

A B H BB E MR R (GEA) BA
TREKRES : (8)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PiaE AR®T T AR®ETF T
Impairment of financial ERIEEREFR
assets, net:
Impairment of trade 2 5 WA
receivables, net VEREDEEE] 18 9,333 17,607
Impairment of other H Ath & W K IE
receivables, net BB FER 19 3,528 6,472
Total HEt 12,861 24,079
Fair value losses, net: NHEBEFRE -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRE
through profit or loss WERLEE
- mandatorily classified as —BH DR
such, including those ItEER - B
held for trading FIEEERSZ 444 —
* The amortisation of other intangible assets is included * R\ AE#H ARGBRERR

in “Cost of sales”, “Administrative expenses”, “Research
and development costs” and “Selling and distribution
expenses” in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

*x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used
by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing

level of contributions.
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

FINANCE COSTS 7. BHBARAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B ARDITIAT
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARETT

Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) FEBEF L (MizE 14(b)) 621 640

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENFTETHAEZ BN
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the BB EMAR - FEQBEAISE 383(1)
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section (@ ) (OROERAFT(FREEST
383(1)(@), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies HmERROE2HAEECFRNESER
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of FETHRAEFMET -
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:
Group
rEH
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Fees wE 480 480
Other emoluments: HEme -
Salaries, allowances and e EMEEYER
benefits in kind 2,768 1,310
Performance related bonuses RIFEMHTEAL 560 500
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIH R 18 16
Subtotal T 3,346 1,826
Total BET 3,826 2,306
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31 December 2024
2024F 12 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEHTM(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUFBITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive RERNZ N FRILIENITEEHE
directors during the year were as follows: 0T
2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Wang Danzhou F A 96 96
Du Yilin T 9 96
Wei Bin B, 96 96
Total #a 288 288
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAWEEMN TELIENTES
independent non-executive directors during the HENE (20234 : &) -

year (2023: Nil).

v
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAETFM(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) HITEE  AHITESBERFE
director and the chief executive THAE
Salaries,

allowances  Performance Pension

and benefits related scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e BRR RAHH B

we BNEHN i HE 3 @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR®TR AR®Tn AR%®Tn  ARRTR

2024 20245
Executive directors: HTESE:

Mr. Wu Yushu* REFLL 96 1,423 280 9 1,808

Ms. Wang Lifang THRFRT 96 1,345 280 9 1,730
Subtotal NGt 192 2,768 560 18 3,538
Non-executive director: FHTESE:

Mr. Fu Haitao skt - - - - =
Total st 192 2,768 560 18 3,538
2023 203%F
Executive directors: HTES

Mr. Wu Yushu* REFEES 96 657 250 8 1,011

Ms. Wang Lifang FHRRT 9% 653 250 8 1,007
Subtotal NG 192 1310 500 16 2,018
Non-executive director: FHTESE:

Mr. Fu Haitao Dh:)-Fit - - - = =
Total st 192 1310 500 16 2,018
& Mr. Wu Yushu was appointed as the chief & REFEERZERARRARE

executive of the Company. EITHAE
There was no arrangement under which a RERN - MEEFHEETHRAER
director or the chief executive waived or agreed RESX R EREEMEHMALHE -

to waive any remuneration during the year.
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year
included two directors (2023: two), none of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration for the remaining three (2023: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

TEBREHHNES

REARN IEEmRTMEEREMEE
EEAN(023F : MB) - EFMFIBH
REXHFES 88 T =%(2023F : =
BIWIEARREZEERFETHRAEN R
SHMEENEMFIBET :

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances e B4 EEBEK

and benefits in kind EYEF 3,382 2,554
Performance related bonus RIBEERTEAT 878 670
Pension scheme contributions RIS EHEIHE K 102 69
Total st 4,362 3,293

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

HMAT T RE EEERELTES
BABY BEHEEMARMT :

Number of employees

EE AH
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 #&TE
1,500,000 77T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 LR
2,000,000 % 7T 2 =
Total FE 3 3
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(a)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

INCOME TAX 10. FRGH
The major components of the income tax (@ AEBERFANMEHAXEEZE
expense of the Group during the year are BRE D DT -
analysed as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR¥TT
Current - Mainland China BVER — F A1 FR 89
Charge for the year AR A R TR 13,035 11,114
Overprovision in prior years BAFEBREEE (33) -
Deferred (note 25) EFER A (MRE 25) (4.677) (1,313)
Total tax charge for the year FAMBRABIEBEE 8,325 9,801

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Company and
its subsidiary are not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The statutory tax rate for the subsidiary in Hong
Kong is 16.5%. No Hong Kong profits tax on
the subsidiary has been provided as there was no
assessable profit arising in Hong Kong during the
year.

AEBARANEERKE RRITERR
AR PR DA [ A A SRR O )i
Mo REREEGNEN

REASHENABRLBENR
ISR - RRBREWE QR H
ARFRSHE NEBRE L BN
ERFTEH -

EEWNBRAAMETR XA
16.5% - HRNFAWEREBESE
JERTB R A - A BB A BE
IRBEEFETEME -
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

10.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(a)

The major components of the income tax
expense of the Group during the year are
analysed as follows: (continued)

The provision for current income tax in Mainland
China is based on a statutory tax rate of 25% of
the assessable profits of the PRC subsidiaries of
the Group as determined in accordance with the
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law.

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital was accredited as
a high and new technology enterprise (“HNTE")
in 2022 and the certification is valid for three
years. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital was entitled to
a preferential PRC Corporate Income tax rate of
15% (31 December 2023: 15%).

Certain of the subsidiaries, which operate
in Mainland China, are identified as Small
and Micro Enterprises and were entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 5% during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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MHE B =F - B E22024F12 A
31TABLEFE BMNPESHTER
15% M EEFBEPEMGHEE
(2023128318 : 15%) o
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10.
(b)

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to
profit before tax at the statutory rate in Mainland
China to the tax expense at the effective tax rate
is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

10. FriS% (&)
(b)y BRARPBEAMIREERRAEN
B T8 A 1) B A5 08 7 S 4R BB AR
FABENTRFAOERDT -

2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®ETF T
Profit before tax B 35 Bl A 120,148 110,741
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 12 B A M E B B R
25% in Mainland China 25% st EHHIE 30,037 27,685
Lower tax rates enacted by B R AR Y
local authority iR T (16,478) (15,100)
Adjustments in respect of HBEFENE H
current tax of previous years MIE{E H ' (33) -
Additional deductible allowance RESNO] HUR R B2 B AN
for research and BiE
development costs (7,004) (7,531)
Expenses not deductible for tax DL b3 63 283
Tax losses utilised from BEFEEHATIA
previous years &8 (3,048) (95)
Tax losses not recognised RERTIBERE 184 1,559
Effect of withholding tax at 5% 5% (20234 : 10%)
(2023: 10%) on the distributable ~ HYFEFOF: &
profits of the Group's 2N 5= [ ) AP B A
PRC subsidiaries (note 25) NIRRT Ve )
& (MisE 25) 4,604 3,000
Tax charge at the Group's IRAREEERR X
effective rate EMNHRIERX 8,325 9,801
Effective tax rate BERHE 6.9% 8.9%
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

11.

12.

DIVIDEND 11. BRE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Proposed final EEANERE
- HK12 cents —EiRE B 128
(2023: HK7.25 cents) (20234 : 7.25%1)
per ordinary share 50,000 30,000
Special dividend 5 RIS S
—2024: HK9.58 cents —2024%F : 9.58 &
(2023: Nil) (20234 : %) 39,505 =

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On 21 November 2024, the board of directors has
resolved to declare a special dividend of HK$9.58 cents
per ordinary share (2023: Nil), amounting to a total of
approximately RMB39,505,000 (2023: Nil), which has
been paid in 2024.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 410,210,244 (2023:
426,125,312) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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202412 A31 H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. B RREEREREEAELS

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE REF (%)
PARENT (continued)
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: BRERBRFNTIBBATEETE
2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARETT

Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary ARt EERERZT
equity holders of the parent, EORSHNCIRS NN
used in the basic earnings B ARG RN
per share calculation 110,649 102,032
Number of shares
RHOEA
2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
Shares g
Weighted average number of AR EBRERRZF
ordinary shares outstanding during I FARBITEINE B
the year used in the basic I E &
earnings per share calculation 410,210,244 426,125,312
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥  BEKRE
Office
Electronic equipment Leasehold Motor
equipment  and furniture  improvements vehicles Total
WARE BEN=
Btk kx4 %8 RE by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR

31 December 2024 2024128310
At 1 January 2024: R2024F1 18
Cost A 12,762 393 2,527 792 16,474
Accumulated depreciation ZHNE (8,660) (327) (1,937) (480) (11,404)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,102 66 590 312 5,070
At 1 January 2024, R20245E1A18

net of accumulated depreciation MR ZHTE 4,102 66 590 312 5,070
Additions HE 2,418 - - - 2,418
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-ZHEAR

(note 29) (MizE29) % - 30 - 54
Disposals & (46) (13) - - (59)
Depreciation provided EnzRmmE(Te)

during the year (note 6) (2,022) (10) (379) (129) (2,540)
At 31 December 2024, R2024E12 8318

net of accumulated depreciation MR 2EIE 4,476 43 24 183 4,943
At 31 December 2024: R20245 128318 :
Cost A 14,956 370 2,049 792 18,167
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (10,480) (327) (1,808) (609) (13,224)
Net carrying amount REEE 4,476 43 LA 183 4,943
31 December 2023 2023128310
At 1 January 2023: R2023F1A18 :
Cost A 9,793 374 2,458 792 13,417
Accumulated depreciation it E (6,944) (290) (1,449) (351) (9,034)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,849 84 1,009 441 4,383
At 1 January 2023, R2023F1 818

net of accumulated depreciation MR &8 2,849 84 1,009 441 4,383
Additions E 3,030 19 69 - 3,118
Disposals hE (4) S = = @
Depreciation provided FRHRHME (S

during the year (note 6) (1,773) (37) (488) (129) (2,427)
At 31 December 2023, R2023F12A318

net of accumulated depreciation MR ZFNE 4,102 66 590 312 5,070
At 31 December 2023: ®2023F12 7318 :
Cost XA 12,762 393 2,527 792 16,474
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (8,660) (327) (1,937) (480) (11,404)
Net carrying amount RERE 4,102 66 590 312 5,070
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

LEASES 14. 88

The Group as a lessee EEEEREBEA

The Group has lease contracts for office premises and AEEEHARELENRAEMER
other equipment used in its operations. Leases of office HtmREILHEGN - HAEWEM
premises generally have lease terms between 2 and AMEB—MRB2ESF - AR ERS
5 years. Other equipment is generally of low value EREEREK . —RME @ Z&EBTE
individually. Generally, the Group is restricted from RAEBEINEEREHEEEE -
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the

Group.

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use

(a) FEREEE
RER > AEBEFEREEENRR

“=4

assets and the movements during the year are as BEREHNAT :

follows:

Office premises

i NEL Y E S

RMB’000

ARMT T

As at 1 January 2023 1)2023F1H1H 6,854

Additions NE 12,457

Reduction as a result of lease modifications HH E S E £ R HIR (479)

Depreciation charge (note 6) TERZ (MiEe) (5,342)

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1% 2023F 12 A318 K

20241 A1 H 13,490

Additions NE 1,644
Additions as a result of acquisition of EWE—RWBRRIEERN

a subsidiary (note 29) ANE (KI5E29) 896

Reduction as a result of lease modifications R E S E A HIR (253)

Reduction as a result of termination of leases  F#& 1FFHEE £ B (162)

Depreciation charge (note 6) TERXZ (Kizke) (4,733)

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 10,882
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE(HE)

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the REAR - HEABNREERE
movements during the year are as follows: /N
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Carrying amount at 1 January »1 A1 BHEREE 14,237 7,127
New leases EE 1,644 12,457
Additions as a result of acquisition W EE — KK B A 7
of a subsidiary (note 29) EERRE (MIFE29) 896 -
Accretion of interest B R S IEE
recognised (note 7) (f3E7) 621 640
Reduction as a result of A E S B E A/
lease modifications ClpES (303) (492)
Reduction as a result of A EEEEAEREDR
termination of leases (173) -
Payments (N (5,142) (5,495)
Carrying amount at 31 December 712 A 31 HRERHEE 11,780 14,237
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER o 4,678 4,211
Non-current portion FETRENER D 7,102 10,026

ME & B EHE RS TR 815 8K
AE35WEE ©

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE(E)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss (o) REZEINEEAEFENS
in relation to leases are as follows: BT :
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEN A 621 640
Depreciation charge of CREEENTERX

right-of-use assets 4,733 5,342
Gains on leases modifications HEEkkas (50) (13)
Gains on termination of leases LIS WS (11) -
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEERE

low-value assets (included in BN

administrative expenses GtATTEAX R

and cost of sales) SHERKA) 13 4
Expense relating to short-term B HAI A Y

leases (included in administrative RS (AT AfTIEX
expenses, selling and distribution B - $HE K5 84

expenses, and cost of sales) Pz RSHE R A ) 129 122
Total amount recognised in RERERN RS
profit or loss 5,435 6,095
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is (d) HERSRHABEENIK
disclosed in note 30(c) to the financial &R HMIEE30(c) °
statements.
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

15. GOODWILL 15. BHE
RMB’000
AR®TR
Cost at 1 January 2024 72024 1 A1 BRIAA -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) WHE—RME AR (M1EE29) 11,551
Cost and net carrying amount R2024F 12 A31 BH
at 31 December 2024 BN N BR R E 11,551

At 31 December 2024: M2024%F 12 A31H :
Cost N 11,551
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE -

BREFE 11,551

Net carrying amount

B R E R

BRXBGAHPVBENBEIEZTEE
BEReELBMETRERND -

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to Zhonghui Medical cash-generating unit for
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the Zhonghui Medical cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The gross margin applied to
the cash flow projections is 41%. The terminal growth
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 0.00%. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
10.4%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the Zhonghui Medical cash-generating unit for 31
December 2024. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Gross margin - Gross margin is based on the average
gross margin on the budget year.
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Terminal growth rate - The forecasted terminal growth
rate is based on management expectations and does
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
industry relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Discount rate - The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of industrial products and electronic
products industries, discount rates and raw materials
price inflation are consistent with external information
sources.

With regards to the assessment of the value in use
of the Zhonghui Medical cash-generating unit, the
directors of the Company believe that reasonable
possible changes in above key assumptions would not
lead to the carrying value of the Zhonghui Medical
cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable amount
as at 31 December 2024.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

& ()

EERENE (8

KT RF - BRI RE T ENE
BENEY BTHRBRRSEELSM
MERRITENRBTHRRE o

HEE-RRANEREARHAEE
% REEERENEBEERR -

BRIXERRETFERITENMS®
ReBARBRIER  FTREXRLREMH
B LRESNAERERE B

AP EBERRCEAEMEREED
AEME > ARAEZTAR R AR
BRNEEAREHHTEEHTEER
ReELBMRMERBR 20244 12
A31BMAREEEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HMEREE

Patents
Software and licences Total
Bt SRERTT et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETn AR¥Tn AR¥TrR
31 December 2024 202412 A31H
Cost at 1 January 2024, 1K2024F1 A1 H/
net of accumulated AR - fBR RETEESE
amortization 1,085 - 1,085
Additions NE 1,005 - 1,005
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—KME AR
(note 29) (Ft=E29) - 637 637
Amortisation provided FNFHEREE
during the year (note 6) (K¥5Ee6) (675) (96) (771)
At 31 December 2024 K2024F 12 A31H 1,415 541 1,956
At 31 December 2024: MR2024%F12H31H :
Cost P AR 6,333 637 6,970
Accumulated amortisation Rt (4,918) (96) (5,014)
Net carrying amount ARME A 1,415 541 1,956
31 December 2023 202312 H31H
At 1 January 2023: M2023F1H18 -
Cost %N 5,036 - 5,036
Accumulated amortisation RET#E (3,446) - (3,446)
Net carrying amount FREVEE 1,590 - 1,590
Cost at 1 January 2023, M2023F1A18H8
net of accumulated AR - 3Rk BT EE e
amortization 1,590 - 1,590
Additions NE 292 - 292
Amortisation provided FNET IR B 8
during the year (note 6) (fysE6) (797) —~ (797)
At 31 December 2023 KR2023F12H31H 1,085 - 1,085
At 31 December 2023 and MR2023F 12 A31H K
at 1 January 2024: 20241 A1 8 :
Cost P 7S 5,328 = 5,328
Accumulated amortisation RETEE Y (4,243) - (4,243)
Net carrying amount FREVFE 1,085 - 1,085
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 293
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

INVENTORIES 17. FE&
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®FT T AREFIT
Contract fulfilment costs JB #I KA 1,085 1,561

The above costs incurred to fulfil contracts relate to
provision of Data Insight Solutions and are recognised to
costs of sales when the related services are transferred
to customers. The amount recognised during the year
was RMB1,561,000 (2023: RMB2,317,000).

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Ll B 1T A #OPTEE A MO AR AN EL 4R 4 BUR
RRFARAFTRER  WHRBABRSER
EXFPRERRBHEENRAE - FAERH
S E A AR 1,561,0007T(20234F © A
R#2,317,0007T) °

18. BEZRUREREWRRE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Trade receivables =) e 123,476 111,351

Notes receivable i E S 3,887 2,222
Impairment RIE (32,863) (23,530)

Net carrying amount FREVHE 94,500 90,043
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly AEBEERZXFNESKANEER

on credit. The credit terms granted generally ranged
from 7 days to 120 days, depending on the specific
payment terms in each contract. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

F o IRHEMNEER-—KBNF7HE120
H SFEHhEHNFEXMERM
o REESREFBERBIEHERESR
JEWFRIE - SR EEE T HB T B
o REBEWKRINE HERFBL LT
BEEMERRBKEMEAERER - &
SEBGRIE B »
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 18. BEZEWREREKEE(E)
(continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the RBERR BEFRUFBERRS A
end of the reporting period, based on the transaction HRREERERNREITOT

dates and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Within 6 months 6fEA A 71,307 67,147
6 to 12 months 6= 121&@AH 10,026 11,653
1 to 2 years 1224 7,173 8,268
2 to 3 years 2E3F 2,107 753
Total st 90,613 87,821
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B RWHIBERREBEREERSWT

trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

At beginning of year RFH) 23,530 6,322

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFE(MEE) 9,333 17,607

Amount written off as uncollectible WEH AR EI M SRR - (399)
At end of year RER 32,863 23,530

The increase in the loss allowance of RMB9,333,000 BIEREEHE MM AR 9,333,0007T(2023
(2023: RMB17,208,000) was due to an increase of F: AR¥17,208,0007T) * Ty ERER
trade receivable which were aged over 1 year and past #8381 F B E @A E 5 WIS hnFT
due. B o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWREREKERE ()
(continued)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting RERSAHRABRBEEETRED
date using a provision matrix to measure expected - AstEEHEEEE BEXEE
credit losses. The provision rates are based on the days REEBEUEBEEXANZERFE 234
past due for groupings of various customer segments AlEE AR BUEE TE o & nt & RS = i1
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the BER BE¥RHEAEBEERSRE BB
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money SRBEBBATEN BRI AREL
and reasonable and supportable information that EARATBRANESIERAISEER - — &M
is available at the reporting date about past events, T BHRWHIBEERMR T ATHE
current conditions and forecasts of future economic TZEHNITHE -
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off
if past due and are not subject to enforcement activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXFEAERBEEREAENEHEAR
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a SEEZRWRIEFRAZEERRNE
provision matrix: ¥
As at 31 December 2024 2024 12A31H
Gross Expected
carrying credit Expected
amount loss rate credit loss
BHEE HHEE
HEREE BiE® BE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR TR
Current BHA 34,196 1.2% 426
Past due: BER
Within 1 year 1A 55,183 9.7% 5,340
Between 1 and 2 years 15245 15,846 58.4% 9,249
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 15,127 97.3% 14,724
Over 3 years 3ENE 3,124 100.00% 3,124
Total #st 123,476 26.61% 32,863
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
2024F 12 A31H

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

(continued)
As at 31 December 2023

18. EZRWARERERELE(E)

M2023%12 A31H

Gross Expected

carrying credit Expected

amount loss rate credit loss

BHEEE EHEE

HEREE BEX g

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTTT ARETT

Current BHA 31,517 2.1% 648
Past due: B

Within 1 year 1A 58,820 9.8% 5,777

Between 1 and 2 years 15245 17,638 78.9% 13,909

Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 2,702 93.3% 2,522

Over 3 years 3EPALE 674 100.0% 674

Total #Et 111,351 21.1% 23,530

AEBREREREBEONRESS—FAR - A
BEARBHITAIRE ©

The Group’s notes receivable are all aged within one
year and neither past due nor impaired.

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. FE{t:1E - HttEWRER Hit

OTHER ASSETS BE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Prepayments TR FRIE 4,372 3,900
Prepaid expenses AR 511 713
Other receivables H A FEURIR 13,145 14,609
Prepayment for repurchase of shares & [B1 f% {7 & 1+ 7018 1,804 35,659
Other assets Hih&E 1,652 1,572
21,484 56,453
Impairment loss VERIEN R (10,325) (6,797)
Total B 11,159 49,656
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19.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of
the reporting period. The Group has applied the
general approach to provide for expected credit losses
for non-trade other receivables under HKFRS 9. The
Group considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for
forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating the
expected credit loss rate.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group estimated the
expected credit losses for other receivables to be
RMB10,325,000 (31 December 2023: RMB6,797,000).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables were as follows:

19.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

RNRIE - b BWRTE R B
EE (&)

WES TR RERRET AEEZR
BEBYBRELERELIFEA R
RIFEFEMEWFIBENTAHEEER
AHREE - AREEFERBEERR
RREBELERERYREBEMNEERE
RESIBIELRE -

MR2024F12831H AEBEFH
tEKKRENTEHEEBEEAARK
10,325,00070(20234 12 8318 : AR
¥ 6,797,000 7T) °

Hip EUGRIRR ERNEEREESHIT

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR®ETF T

At beginning of year F1) 6,797 325

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFE(ME6) 3,528 6,472

At end of year FR 10,325 6,797
Other receivables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured HMmEWREBERARE  BEAKERE

and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

20. CONTRACT ASSETS 20. EREE
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
2024 F 2023 % 20234
12A31H 128318 1B1A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AR®TET ARETE

Contract assets arising from: KENATEER
EREE :
Sale of Smart Health HESZREEREE

Management Cloud

1,523 = =

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue
earned from the sale of Smart Health Management
Cloud as the receipt of consideration is conditional
on successful completion of assurance-type warranty
periods. Upon completion of assurance-type warranty
periods and receipt the client evaluation forms, the
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified
to trade receivables. The increase in contract assets in
2024 was the result of increase in the ongoing sale
of Smart Health Management Cloud at the end of 31
December 2024.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,

the Group estimated the expected credit loss on
contract assets to be minimal.
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20.

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 20.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for

EREE(E)

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

R12A31H ' ERAEEMKLBXEERN

contract assets as at 31 December is as follows: TEEARERAGN R ¢
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Within one year —FNKN 1,523 -

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

RAVEFABRENEMEE

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREF T
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELETIRE -
BT ERE 47,884 —
Unlisted equity investments, JEFTARIERE -
at fair value A ERE 50 -
Total maEt 47,934 -
Analysed into: DR
Current mE 47,934 =

The above unlisted investments which represented
certain financial products issued by commercial banks
in Mainland China with a maturity period within one
year, and private funds issued by portfolio company in
Mainland China, could be redeemed at any time. The
fair values of the financial assets approximate to their
costs plus expected interest. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely

payments of principal and interest.

b3 EHERE R B AR ERRTER
THETHRE-FANSBRER LT
Bk EAE A F TR A RER & R
MALEES SREENAFEEHEMK

K T B AR o

HRZERENE

MREREYFEINAZRANE - &
BORBIDERRAFEFABEZN TR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. RERREEZEEY
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTER 61,904 61,804
Time deposits EETER 555,540 571,532
Subtotal Nt 617,444 633,336
Less: o
Current portion: BNEAER 5 -
Non-pledged time deposits with FREX A5 B[R B B B
original maturity of over R =18 A gy B
three months when acquired FEHITFR (448,006) (344,028)
Non-current portion: FERNEAEE 5
Non-pledged time deposits with RESHREIEIE
original maturity of over KR=EAK
three months when acquired IR EEFER (105,723) (165,377)
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEZEED 63,715 123,931
Denominated in: AT E®EHE -
RMB AR 29,326 90,220
us$ ETT 34,256 33,475
SG$ ¥ N3 T 24 141
HK$ BT 109 95
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEZEEY 63,715 123,931
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23.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. BeRESEEY(HE)
(continued)
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, AR ERLBREMER A
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange i AR IR A B SN B IR R 1) IR A
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, E SERNEEERRTE) AEEEE
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, FRBEREETIEEFENRITHEAR
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other EABRRAME -
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based RITIREBERTARITERAEE
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made B)FEBHIMAE o EEHFROERT R
for varying periods from 13 days to 36 months and 13RE36HATE - WIRE T E T
earn interest at the fixed time deposit rates. The A EHFDMAE - RITEHRRTEHTFK
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with FEANOBHTEZARELHNERRIFAR
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. 1T e
TRADE PAYABLES 23. BESENFIA
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ETF T
Trade payables B ENRIA 16,618 13,109
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302 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

B2 RNFIEGE)
RBEEHR ERNBRZEHNEZ RN

23. TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 23.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as KIBRRER AT -
follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR¥TT
Within 3 months m3@EAA 13,910 11,128
3 to 6 months 3 %6 @A 1,311 366
6 to 12 months 6 =12 @A 219 1,326
Over 1 years 1 FUE 1,178 289
Total B 16,618 13,109

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

BEHORNRERIETE S —RNOBER
normally settled within 90 days. i)

£ o
24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24. HitENKIBAREER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Payroll payables JE 11 35 M 26,249 26,497
Contract liabilities (a) aHEE@Q) 25,766 28,698
Tax payables other than corporate e IR
income tax (EEMFHERIN) 5,759 4,379
Other payables (b) H 0 FE A 5RIE (b) 5,939 3,966
Total ey 63,713 63,540
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24. BE#ENFEREFTER(E)
(continued)

(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHEaEFBWT:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
2024 F 20234 2023
12A31H 12H31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTRT

Short-term advances W& HER AT

received from customers FTREFE T A
Data Insight Solutions B RERBARTR 8,128 12,023 17,379
Data-driven Publications HURTRB) M KBS

and Events 3,142 4,278 8,362
Saa$S products SaaS E 14,496 12,397 10,256
Total HRET 25,766 28,698 35,997
Contract liabilities include short-term advances BRBEBERERB AW E
received before the services are rendered. The HATETFIE - R2024 FHIMM A&
decrease in contract liabilities during the year HNEERLEERHNESFER
2024 was mainly due to the decrease in short- B % P Y BN Y B4R IR 75 B R Y
term advances received from customers in % HATE T SRIBR A PR -

relation to the provision of services at the end of
each of the year.

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and (b) HMENZKEATTERKENKE

o

(Al

repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

25.

DEFERRED TAX 25. REBIIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities RmEBHA BEEMBEERBENE
during the reporting period are as follows: R -
31 December 2024 2024%12H31H
Deferred tax assets EEHBEE
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
financial
assets at fair Total
Impairment  Impairment value through deferred
of trade of other Lease profit tax
receivables  receivables liabilities or loss assets
BRAYE
TtABHN
SREE
EaEN HitrfE EEW BEHE
RERE  WRERE HERE ATERE EEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR  AR%TR
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1R18 3,384 - 1,973 - 5,357
Deferred tax credited/(charged) o EREF A/ (1B &)
profit or loss during the year BaEMELHE
(note 10) (M&E10) 1,502 2,581 (47) 164 4,200
Gross deferred tax assets at 7202412 A31 A
31 December 2024 EREREEERE 4,886 2,581 1,926 164 9,557
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. JRIERHE(E)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities RBEHAN EEHEEERBENE
during the reporting period are as follows: (continued) BT - (8)
31 December 2024 (continued) 202412 A 318 (&)
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHEAR
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
financial Fair value
assets at fair ~ adjustments Total
value through arising from deferred
Withholding  Right-of-use profit acquisition of tax
taxes assets orloss  asubsidiary liabilities
RAYE

ST ARRH KiR-X

SREE HEAT

EEN EEH BEHE
BB KAREE  AVESE AVESER AREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR®TR  ARMTr AR®TR  ARRTR

At 1 January 2024 R202451R18 3,000 1,902 - - 4,902
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) B —FHB Al
(Bt 29) - - - 32 32

Deferred tax charged/(credited) o ERBE,/(GEA)
profit or loss during the year BaEMELHE

(note 10) (BzE10) 4,604 87 115 (5) 4,627
Reduction as a result of TRBELREIR
dividend paid (5,104) - - - (5,104)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at R2024%E12 83181
31 December 2024 EXHEEEER 2,500 1,815 115 27 4,457
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. IEEHIE(E)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities R EHA REEHBEERABGENE
during the reporting period are as follows: (continued) BT - (8)
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
Deferred tax assets EETRIBEE
Impairment Total
of trade Lease deferred
receivables liabilities tax assets
=803 EIERTR
FIERE HEBE BERT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTET ARETT

At 1 January 2023 7R2023F1A1H 714 604 1,318
Deferred tax credited to profit or FFA T AIB2EH]
loss during the year (note 10)  JRIEFLIA

(F33E10) 2,670 1,369 4,039
Gross deferred tax assets at R20234F12 A31H
31 December 2023 HEETIIE & ERE 3,384 1,973 5,357
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEAE
Total
Withholding Right-of-use deferred tax
taxes assets liabilities
BRI
B HREEE BEEHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTR

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1,544 632 2,176
Deferred tax charged to profitor ~ FRNK BB
loss during the year (note 10) ERERIE
(FiEE10) 3,000 1,270 4,270
Reduction as a result of B R B E R BIR
dividend paid (1,544) - (1,544)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at MN2023F12 A31HA
31 December 2023 RERIBEERRE 3,000 1,902 4,902
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25.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of
the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

25. EEFIE(E)
RENTE  ETELCHELERAR
ERBBAARKRTIEN - U T AENE
BaReE ~ A= EEER BN DI -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE B IS AR M 5= R 133
in the consolidated statement of VIRIETITE & R FE

financial position

7,742 3,455

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 454 B #AR N K Fh #E3R
in the consolidated statement of VIRETRIE B RF R

financial position

(2,642) (3,000)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the following item:

WA NEB ERETEHREE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Tax losses THIAESE

34,428 50,649
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

25.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The above tax losses arising in Mainland China that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax arrangement between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
applicable rate is 5% for the Group (2023: 10%).

At the end of reporting period, the directors of the
Company, based on the Group's operation and
expansion plan, estimated that part of the retained
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries would be retained
in Mainland China for use in future operations and
investments. At 31 December 2024, deferred tax
of RMB2,500,000 (2023: RMB3,000,000) has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB259,430,000 at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: RMB260,960,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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25.

IEFERE (48)
A LR B AU E A BT IRE IR —
ERFANNE AEBERRERD &
) o I FERR i A AT AR X 1R SH B IR S
BWASTAIRE R ERZFEERE
REEHBEE -

H it A S B A B E 5 F B R A S &)
ZENBARIHMNBE2008F1H1 B
EXERNRBIAMD R EBMNTENR -
i P B A B INR B B T R AR
FIERIERH - BT IRABRETEN
K KEBBEAMMER5% (2023
F:10%) °

RMEBHKR AR AIESREASEN
LERBERE - EETPEME QAR
RBAMNH D HREECPEAH - LA
RARREERKE - 12024512 A 31
B ERXAEEEFE R ERR
PE & A #0 4N TE 0 B0 e B B 8 B Y JE 4K
TE 0 B4 1 SRR I B 18 A R % 2,500,000
J0(2023F : A R ¥3,000,0007T ) °
M2024F 128318 K B R & &
MEABENHENPE AN B A REK
EEANERMEZERABHAARKE
259,430,0007T(2023% 12 8318 : A
% 260,960,0007T) °
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31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 26. REARERZRAG
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %F
Authorised: AR
2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 %
(2023: 2,000,000,000) (2023 :
ordinary shares of 2,000,000,000 %)
US$0.01 each SREE0.01ETH
US$'000 FETT 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
451,770,000 (2023: 451,770,000) 451,770,000 iz
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each (20234 :
451,770,000 %)
BREMEO0.01ETH
US$'000 FET 4,518 4,518
RMB’000 ARET T 30,384 30,384
A summary of movements in the Company’s share RARBRAREBHTENAT ¢
capital is as follows:
Number of Share Treasury
shares in issue capital shares
81T
RHEE &N EFRH
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Liks3 ARBT R ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1H 451,770,000 30,384 (101,121)
Shares repurchased E=AEE S0 () = = (77,977)
At 31 December 2023 7202312 A31H
and 1 January 2024 &2024%F1 A 1H 451,770,000 30,384 (179,098)
Shares repurchased & [l A% 17 (b) - - (28,437)
At 31 December 2024 1202412 A31H 451,770,000 30,384 (207,535)
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

26.

27.

SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
(continued)

Notes:

(a) In 2023, the Company purchased 16,228,000 of its
shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration
of approximately HK$86,459,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB77,977,000) for a share award
scheme.

(b) In 2024, the Company purchased 6,869,500 of its
shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration
of approximately HK$31,362,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB28,437,000) for a share award
scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statements of changes in
equity of the Group.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of shares issued and the consideration
received.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-
up capital, share premium and capital reserve of
the companies comprising the Group prior to the
incorporation of the Company, the reserve arising from
the reorganisation and acquisition of non-controlling
interests. Details of the movements in the capital
reserve are set out in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity.
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27.

BRAREFRS (F)

(@)  2023F @ KR EIBBMH RENETE - &
48 1% (8 4986,459,00008 TT(HEZER L
AR #77,977,000 7T ) 7E Bt 32 B BE @
16,228,000 & M7 ©

(b) 20244 - RRRIGDEREE - 1%
48 1R (B #931,362,00078 7T (B E R &
A R ¥ 28,437,000 7T ) 1£ Bt 32 B B8 [
6,869,500 iz i 5 °

e
AEERRAEERBEFENHES
BMEEHINAEEGREESEPDRE
5] o
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28.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

RESERVES (continued) 27. &% (&)
Statutory surplus reserve EEREREAE
In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, BERFEARNE AEBBRERNEE
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic WM E AR ESERB R R 10% (1R
enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their profit BRATESHENET) DEEAE
after tax, as determined in accordance with the relevant ERKRFERE BEHREGEINHIMER
PRC accounting standards, to their statutory surplus B150% &Lk - RIBFERRNEMEMN A
reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of their registered TRE - o EERBFEBITEBRBR
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the R HEERENREANEERTME
Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus K25% o
reserve may be converted to share capital, provided
that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.
PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28. BEEEAFEREZNIBLES
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS B AT
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material AEEBRBEERNFEERERAMMNE QA
non-controlling interests are set out below: FEIEEYAT
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
Percentage of equity interest held EIERERIFAN
by non-controlling interests: RERDLL
Sinohealth Jianshu R 2R 25.00% 25.00%
Zhonghui Medical A& 38.99% N/A iR
2024 2023
2024 % 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Profit for the year allocated DB T IEIE AR 2 Y
to non-controlling interests: FRmA -
Sinohealth Jianshu AR X 48 715
Zhonghui Medical FEER 387 N/A TN
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87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28. BEEAERERZNTSEES

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS Bt B A =] (48)
(continued)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Accumulated balances of RS B R
non-controlling interests at FEIE IR R AT AR
the reporting date:

Sinohealth Jianshu RS
Zhonghui Medical HEEE

(4,542) (4,590)
1,323 N/A TNER”

* Zhonghui Medical was acquired as an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group from 3 April 2024,
further details are included in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

BREEAFERESNT I ES
P 8 2 B) (48)

TR LA B QR MG E RS
E o PTIEE R AR A 7 fEH 8H A8
TR

2024 2024 F
Sinohealth Zhonghui
Jianshu Medical
hERE hEER
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Revenue WA - 10,855
Total expenses Sz 42 %8 (92) (9,101)
Profit for the year F A5 194 1,756
Total comprehensive income for FRNEEW=ETE
the year 194 1,756
Current assets mMENEE 115 10,472
Non-current assets JEMEBNEE 1 549
Current liabilities mENBE (18,285) (6,304)
Non-current liabilities JEMBARE - (206)
Net cash flows from operating activities #X & /EBFT1SIR &
MEFRE 68 2,896
Net cash flows used in KREEBFARE
investing activities mEFER - (4,845)
Net cash flows (used in)/from MEEE(FTA),/ 5
financing activities REMEFHE (140) 1,781
Net decrease in cash and ReERRSEZEY
cash equivalents B FEE (72) (168)
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

BREAFERERNBIER
B 18 2~ =) (4&)

2023 2023 F

Sinohealth Zhonghui
Jianshu Medical
AR 2K REEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AR¥TT
Total expenses Fx 4258 (2,817) N/A NER”
Loss for the year FAEE (4,753) N/A NE "
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2HEELTE (4,753) N/A NE "
Current assets MENE EE 204 N/A NER”
Non-current assets EMEBEE 920 N/A "
Current liabilities RBEE (18,728) N/A i
Non-current liabilities EmBAE (759) N/A N

Net cash flows from operating activities 4% 4 /E B FT1SIR &
mE R 192 N/A @A

Net cash flows from investing activities &% & /B TSR &
mEF 50 N/A i

Net cash flows used in BEEBFTARS
financing activities mEFER (230) N/A NE R

Net increase in cash and ReRBAEEZEEY
cash equivalents HANFEER 12 N/A NE "

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION 29. ¥BEH

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information and
Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership), a non-wholly owned partnership of
Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, the executive
directors of the Company, entered into an equity
transfer agreement and a partnership property share
transfer agreement for the acquisition of 50.6% equity
interests in Zhonghui Medical at a consideration of
RMB12,239,000. On 3 April 2024, the Company
completed the acquisition of Zhonghui Medical,
which was settled by cash of RMB12,239,000. Upon
completion of the acquisition, Zhonghui Medical
became an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.
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29.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

29. ¥BE6t(E&E)
hEEEAKREIENTHIIEERA

Zhonghui Medical as at the date of acquisition were as BZATFEEAT
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
NS
EROAFEE
Notes RMB’000
L AR®EF T
Property, plant and equipment M -~ B REE 13 54
Patents and licences B RBE 16 637
Right-of-use assets ERERE 14(a) 896
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTA S 267
Inventories BE 54
Trade and notes receivables B 5 WA K EREE 751
Prepayments and other receivables TE R I8 Ko E Ath FE YR IE 114
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFABENEREE
profit or loss 1,506
Trade payables B 5 ENIA (1,802)
Other payables and accruals Hith et 5B R EGTE A (189)
Lease liabilities MEAE 14(b) (896)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMRIBEEE 25 (32)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEFEZHANEE
FEER 1,360
Non-controlling interests FEVERR A 2 (672)
Goodwill on acquisition WHEmE 11,551
Satisfied by cash NIREHEE 12,239
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87 5 ¥ 2R B 5E

31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

29.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 29. ¥BEOH(E)
The fair values of the trade receivables and other B 5 FE WK TE To B th i Yk I8 pA UK BE B
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted Bz RAFED R AARET51,0007T K&
to RMB751,000 and RMB 114,000, respectively. The AR®114,0007T - & 5 EWFIE RHA
gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and FEWRIER & XN RIBEES R AARKE
other receivables were RMB751,000 and RMB114,000, 751,000t R AR® 114,000 7T © & 4K
respectively, of which the full contractual amounts are EIEET Al 28 m o
expected to be collectible.
The goodwill of RMB11,551,000 recognised above EXEmRNEmEARK 11,551,0007T
comprises a set of copyrights of Multi-disciplinary BE— R ZE2RGEMDT) & ERHF
Treatment (MDT) collaboration software and the value MW E £ 2 W IEB K E X1 E A
of benefits arising from the acquisition which are w=EE WRBEEBGTEAFEI8HE
neither separable nor contractual and therefore do not JEEE UWTHERARBEEENE
meet the criteria for recognition as intangible assets o HEBEERNERRARMETE D
under HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. None of the goodwill i Bl TR
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.
Since the acquisition, Zhonghui Medical has contributed BUWENR  FEEBEEHAEEKA
RMB10,855,000 to the Group's revenue and B Bt A R #10,855,000C © W HH =
RMB 1,756,000 to the consolidated profit for the year 2024 F 12 A3 B IEFEMNEZEE &N E
ended 31 December 2024. FAAER® 1,756,000 7T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of WaeHRNFEINET BRAEEKA
the year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the ERAEEFERMNEIRBARE
Group for the year would have been RMB405,975,000 405,975,000 & A R #112,579,000
and RMB112,579,000, respectively. L ©
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the EARE—FENBARNBERESNT
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows: PN
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Cash consideration ReRE (12,239)
Cash and bank balances acquired FTEE VIR & R ERTTAE 4 267
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FAREERSCREMENEER
included in cash flows from investing activities ~ R&EEW R L F5E (11,972)
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30. mERERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transaction (a) EEFREXRH
During the year, the Group had non-cash RERN - NREBRBPAEYENE
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities ERHERNERAREEREESR
of RMB 1,644,000 (2023: RMB12,457,000) BIHEERERARK 1,644,000
in respect of lease arrangements for office t(20234F : A R ¥12,457,000
premises. JL) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) BIETBELENEEEE
financing activities
Dividend
Lease liabilities payables
HEAE FEAT AR 2
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTIT ARBTT

At 1 January 2023 R2023F 1 A1H 7,127 -
New leases HEE 12,457 —
Dividends declared EEIREKE - 15,753
Reduction as a result of H S & E £ B ER

lease modifications (492) -
Changes from financing cash flows BEIR&REEH) (5,495) (15,753)
Interest expense FMERX 640 -
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 14,237 -
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

30. ZREBEET

fi B Rk (4])

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) RMETBEENEEEE(H)
financing activities (continued)
Dividend
Lease liabilities payables
HEAE ERARE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR®T T
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%F12 A31H
January 2024 N2024%1 A1 H 14,237 —
New leases g 1,644 -
Additions as a result of acquisition W& — KK B A A
of a subsidiary (note 29) EERRE (M5 29) 896 —
Dividends declared EEIRKE - 69,505
Reduction as a result of A E & EERHEIR
lease modifications (303) -
Reduction as a result of A 4% | F & 2 A B EIR
termination of leases (173) -
Changes from financing cash flows @& IR &%= & (5,142) (69,505)
Interest expense FMERAX 621 -
At 31 December 2024 1K2024F12A31H 11,780 -
() Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESARHAEX
The total cash outflow for leases included in STAGREEREERERNEERESR
the consolidated statement of cash flows is as HAAZENT -
follows:
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Within operating activities &7 ZEBA 142 126
Within financing activities BMEEHA 5,142 5,495
Total #Et 5,284 5,621
31. COMMITMENTS 31. &=

RBERAR » AEE W E TR EANEE
(20235128318 : &) -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any significant commitments (31 December 2023: Nil).
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BB R 5
AEENESHEBH T :

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32.

The Group's principal related parties are as follows:

Relationship with B A F]

Company the Company AT Y BA 1%

Wellmark Link Limited  Shareholder BERR AT IR

WLF Investment Shareholder WLF Investment  RE

Holdings Limited Holdings
Limited

Mr. Wu Yushu Director and key REITERE EERTEERAB
management personnel

Ms. Wang Lifang Director and key FHRIF L EERFEEBAER
management personnel

Mr. Fu Haitao Non-executive ~EsEE FEHMITEER
director and key FEEEAB
management personnel

Ms. Wu Meirong Intermediate shareholder REBTHL SIS ES

Ms. Yi Xuhui Key management ZBEL + FEEBAR
personnel

Mr. Su Caihua Key management personnel A ERE FEEBAB

Mr. Li Junguo Key management personnel THEBELEAE FEEEAB

Zhonghui Medical* An entity influenced REEE REERETEE
significantly by a director, BERATENER
Mr. Wu Yushu (20244
(before 3 April 2024) 4 A3HAT)
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31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEBAERSZ (&)

(continued)

The Group’s principal related parties are as follows:

(continued)

AEBNTIZ@BOOT - (&)

Relationship with B A F]

Company the Company AT Y EA 1%

Guangzhou Yishutong  An entity influenced BN 5868 REERETEE
Technology significantly by a director, B ERAF] BERATENER
Company Limited Mr. Wu Yushu

Foshan Heheng Equity  An entity influenced ARl XREFRETRE
Investment Partnership  significantly by directors, KREGRLE REFF L
(Limited Partnership) Mr. Wu Yushu and (BRE) BEAFENETE

Ms. Wang Lifang

Guangzhou Runer An entity influenced BN R XBRRREBR T
Ophthalmic significantly by a REEY BAXENER
Biotechnology shareholder, BB R AR
Company Limited Ms. Wu Meirong

Guangzhou Zerui An entity influenced BRZEmEEE XBRRREBR T
Pharmaceutical significantly by a BRAA BEAFENER

Company Limited

shareholder,
Ms. Wu Meirong

Guangzhou Yipinhong  An entity influenced BN —mAlHlEE SBRRREDLT
Pharmaceutical significantly by a BRAA BEAFENER

Medicine
Company Limited

shareholder,
Ms. Wu Meirong

& FREEEN2024F4 3B AKRA
AIF A A o

* Zhonghui Medical became a subsidiary of the
Company on 3 April 2024.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥ 2% B 5E

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

32. BMLXRES (&)

(@)  The Group had the following transactions with (a) FAAREBEHEMEE H CEBEUTR
related parties during the year: CE
2024 2023
20245 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Sales to related parties: BB 7 &
Guangzhou Yishutong BN 58058
Technology Company Limited BB R QA - 59
Guangzhou Runer ENEREREY
Ophthalmic Biotechnology B ERAF]
Company Limited 138 94
Guangzhou Zerui BRI EImEEE
Pharmaceutical Company Limited BRAR] 18 24
Guangzhou Yipinhong JEE M — dm AT 1| %
Pharmaceutical Medicine BRAA
Company Limited - 18
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

€)

The Group had the following transactions with

32. BABAREZ (&)

(a) HFAAKBEREEBT ZEAENATR

related parties during the year: (continued) % (&)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Purchases of services from

related parties*:

) BRES TT BB B RS *:

Guangzhou Yishutong BN 5 86E

Technology Company Limited BEBR AR 16 371
Zhonghui Medical HEER 319 1,308
Depreciation of right-of-use ERAEEERTE

assets***: 641 504
Ms. Wu Meirong REBXT 641 504
Interest expense on lease HEAEM

liabilities™ **: R BRI S ***: 53 51
Ms. Wu Meirong REBTXL 53 51

* %

* kK

The sales to the related parties were made
according to the prices and terms mutually
agreed between the parties.

The purchases from the related parties were
made according to the prices and terms
mutually agreed between the parties.

The depreciation of right-of-use assets and
interest expense on lease liabilities related to
the leases of the offices from related party
pursuant to the terms of the agreements
signed between the Group and the related
party. The Group's lease liabilities due to the
related parties are included in note 14(b) to the
financial statements.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

€)

The Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year: (continued)

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information and
Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership), entered into an equity
transfer agreement and a partnership property
share transfer agreement for the acquisition of
50.6% equity interests in Zhonghui Medical at
a consideration of RMB12,239,000. On 3 April
2024, the Company completed the acquisition
of Zhonghui Medical, which was settled by cash
of RMB12,239,000. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Zhonghui Medical became an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Group had the following outstanding
balances with related parties:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

32. BBARE (&)

(a) HFRAAKBEREEBT ZEAENATR
2 (&)

MR2024F2 A58 - AEREMEAHLE
EREREGRLE(ERER) K
FEEES0.6% RER LR EE EHZ
REBLEVENEEEDZ  WER
BAAR12,239,0007T © R20245 4
A3H AAARITEAKEFRERE  ZK
BIAE S ARM 12,239,000 T4 HE - Ik
Bk PEBEXNARNRAAINMBEE
HFEEWBARF -

by AEERHBEHFIEATREES
%

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Due from Guangzhou FEW BN S Bam Rt

Yishutong Technology AR A RIHYRRIA *

Company Limited * 53 -
Due from Ms. Wu Meirong* JEW R E B 2+ 5/ * 124 45
Due to Guangzhou Yishutong e BN ZEmEt %

Technology Company Limited * AR RE]HITRIA * - 126
Due to Guangzhou Runer JEA<F )M P AR AR At

Ophthalmic Biotechnology EYRB AR AR

Company Limited * B I8 * 82 59
Due to Zhonghui Medical* JE AN R B B R ) RKIE - 247

* The above amounts due from/to the related
parties were trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

* bt WA BB 75 SRR R
BMHE  BEAF  FHER
BREREER -
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BBARS (&)
(continued)
(0 Compensation of key management personnel of (0 ZAEEFZEEEAENFHMN
the Group:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARETT

Salaries, allowances and e EEREWREA

benefits in kind 4,252 2,665
Performance related bonuses FIRBMHTEAT 960 930
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIH R 36 35
Total compensation paid to ENFEFEEREAED

key management personnel o) RG] 5,248 3,630
Further details of directors’ and the chief BEENRERITBRABHFINE —LFS
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to RV BRERMIFES o

the financial statements.
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of reporting period

are as follows:

31 December 2024

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 325
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

33. BEREINERMTIA
RBERAR SEeR T ANEAREN
™

2024F12H831H

Financial assets cRMEE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRAVE  REHEKKN
FFABEMN HI|BRA]
TREE TREE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARBTT AREBTRT

Trade and notes receivables B 5 W GIE Kk
EW IR - 94,500 94,500

Financial assets included in FFATER IR -

prepayments, other o fE W SR8 &

receivables and other assets HMEENSMEE - 2,820 2,820
Financial assets at fair value BEATFEFABRD

through profit or loss TREE 47,934 - 47,934
Due from related parties & Wiz A Bt 75 k3B - 177 177
Time deposits TEHIFER - 553,729 553,729
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFAEEZEEY - 63,715 63,715
Total HET 47,934 714,941 762,875
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. REFIZEsHWERMITE(E)

(continued)
31 December 2024 (continued)

202412 A 31 H (&)

Financial liabilities Ea- =L
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
TR SH RN R
TR E A&
RMB'000
ARET T
Trade payables B ENIA 16,618
Financial liabilities included in other SFAHMEMRIEREER
payables and accruals NEeRBE 5,939
Due to a related party FET — R BAEE 75 518 82
Lease liabilities HEaE 11,780
Total 15 34,419
31 December 2023 202312 H31H
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
TR SH R R
PIBRA R E E
RMB'000
ARET T
Trade and notes receivables B 5 WA &
FEWEIR 90,043
Financial assets included in prepayments, ST ATERFIA -
other receivables and other assets H fib e U 5k I8 &
EMEENESRMEE 7,812
Due from a related party JE U8 — & Rt 5 R IE 45
Time deposits EBER 509,405
Cash and cash equivalents RekASZEEY 123,931
Total FEES 731,236
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥ 2% B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31 H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. REFIZsHWERMTE(E)

(continued)

31 December 2023 (continued)

202312 A 31 H (&)

Financial liabilities EL L

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REEKAR
FIBRM SR B (&
RMB'000
ARETT
Trade payables B S ENIA 13,109

Financial liabilities included in FFAHMENRIBEREGTER
other payables and accruals NEREE 3,966
Due to related parties J& {<F B Bge 77 5RIE 432
Lease liabilities MEBE 14,237
Total 45 31,744
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31 December 2024
2024 F12 A31H

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, time deposits, trade and notes
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, the current portion of lease liabilities and
amounts due from/to related parties approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease
liabilities has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as
a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
lease liabilities as at the end of each of the reporting
period were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which
represent certain financial products issued by
commercial banks in Mainland China and private funds
issued by portfolio company in Mainland China. The
Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on the market interest rates of instruments
with similar terms and risks.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment at
fair value through profit and loss, management has
estimated the potential effect of using reasonably
possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation model.
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34.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥ 2% B 5E

31 December 2024
202412 A31 H

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 34. €@ TEAAFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

(%&)

RFERER
TRINRAEESH I AN A FEE

B :

BRFEAENEE

M20245%12 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERAT AR TETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

E-DN

RERMS  EARAEER THER

HRME BARRE AR
(B18R) (F2#%) (E3#4) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETR

Financial assets at fair value AT EFTABZEN

through profit or loss EREE - 47,884 50 47,934
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥R R Bl 5

31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group did not have any financial assets measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2023.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level
3 during the year are as follow:

Unlisted equity investment at fair value through profit
and loss

34.

ERMIAAFERAFEER
(&)

ANEEER(E)

R2023F 12 A318 AEBIEED
FTEFAEZEHMEE °

FAFIRAFEA=ENESHOT ¢

BAFHESF ARSI EHRERE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARET T

At 1 January m1A1H - -
Purchases BE 50 =
At 31 December ®w12A31H 50 =

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: Nil).
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBIJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Fluctuations in exchange rates between the RMB and
other currencies in which the Group conducts business
may affect the Group's financial condition and results
of operations. The Group seeks to limit its exposure
to foreign currency risk by minimising its net foreign
currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the foreign currency exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit
before tax (arising from foreign currency denominated
financial instruments).

35.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

BEEREREEERBE
AREENTELRHIABKRATET
ABENeREELRASLIREERE
) o %ﬁéﬂlﬂmiﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁ
EREEEES  ASEHEER THEAM
CMEENEBRE PINHLEEEEREES
WE S RBGRIENE R FIEA -

$$l§ﬂIEFEWEKH e 5 SN E

[ fg D/\J—L //lb@]éiﬂﬁ°§

%A*ﬁﬁﬁiaﬁﬁi TH [ f 89 B
 HERRBMAT o

SMEE LB

%EHMEI%% REYSIBEBEN
c AEBREXBMEANARE
Eﬁmm%MET%Am$EImM%
MARELERE - AEBBEREFI
BRI RERIK - BRI BISMNE R

TRETRBEMREMAEMEER
FAZEMBERT » REBE RS AT S
(FARIMNEFHER @ B T AR ) S5
[EXRSIEAI LB BFRE o
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

35.

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

BEREE B ERBER(E)

Foreign currency risk (continued) SN R e ()
Change in Increase/
rate of (decrease)
foreign in profit
currency before tax
BRBE AR R
INESTE =B ) 2, (E)
% RMB’000
% AR®T

31 December 2024 202412 A 31H
If the RMB weakens against the US$ i AR#E X TRV B 5 20,425
If the RMB strengthens against MARE R ETHE

the US$ 5 (20,425)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ i A R B TTEz(E 5 6
If the RMB strengthens against WM ARBELETHE

the HK$ 5 (6)
If the RMB weakens against the SG$ s AR EE 531 13 eEz B 5 1
If the RMB strengthens against fied A B2 6 3,37 b3k T HHE

the SG$ 5 (1
31 December 2023 202312 H31H
If the RMB weakens against the US$ W ARME X E T E 5 18,588
If the RMB strengthens against MARE N ETHE

the US$ (18,588)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ i A REE 5B Bz (B 5 5
If the RMB strengthens against M AR A THE

the HK$ 5 (5)
If the RMB weakens against the SG$  fifi AR X #7103 LBz (B 5 8
If the RMB strengthens against fisl A R 530 3 o AHE

the SG$ 5 (8)
Credit risk EE R

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

ZERF U

Bi o

AEEERERTREBRINESH
ETRS - AEBMRERMAREE
BRRETR BN AR ARESER
R 8



35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification at 31 December. The amounts presented

are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 5 ¥ 2R B 5%

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

35. MBEREEEERBER(E)

EERK(E)

B R F ARG
TRABBEAEEEEBR(EFEER
BEER  RIEABANE T M EK
RSB N TERESEMENNEEEER
BeERE - ARR12 A31 BERE R
SRS HEASHEEMNAR
HE -

R2024512A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8A%RS
EEESE HRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Ka FREE EZRR k(@RS @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR%TR AR%TR
Contract assets* aREE - - - 1,523 1,523
Trade receivables* B 5 lsE - - - 123,476 123,476
Notes receivable** R+ 3,887 - - - 3,887
Financial assets included STABRE
in prepayments, other At EWHIER
receivables and other assets HtEENSREE
~ Normal** —Jeg ot 2,820 - - - 2,820
- Doubtful** — A+ - - 10,325 - 10,325
Due from related parties Fe R 7 508 177 - - - 177
Time deposits EHER
— Not yet past due — HABH 553,729 - - - 553,729
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEN
— Not yet past due — WA 63,715 - - - 63,715
Total @it 624,328 - 10,325 124,999 759,652
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(continued)

As at 31 December 2023

=ERR(E)
RE AR FAREER ()

M2023%12 A31H

B EkEEE R ERBER (&)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12fEREH
EERSE HRAEEREE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-K& EoER EZRR Bitrt b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR®TR AR®Tn AR%Trn  AR%Tx
Trade receivables* 8 HRMGIR - - - 111,351 111,351
Notes receivable** e 2,222 - = - 2,222
Financial assets included STABRE
in prepayments, other At WA R
receivables and other assets HtEENESREE
- Normal** =lEk o6 4,284 - - - 4,284
- Doubtful** — g+ - 10,000 325 - 10,325
Due from a related party Felh—am% h A 45 2 = = 45
Time deposits EHER
— Not yet past due — WA 509,405 = = - 509,405
Cash and cash equivalents RERFAEEEN
— Not yet past due — WABH 123,931 - - - 123,931
Total @it 639,887 10,000 325 111,351 761,563
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

*

**

For trade receivables and contract assets to which the
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
further information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in notes 18 and 20 to the financial statements,
respectively.

The credit quality of notes receivable and the financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets are considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no significant concentrations of
credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables,
other receivables and contract assets are disclosed
in notes 18, 19 and 20 to the financial statements,

respectively.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&7 15 ¥ 2% Bid 5F

31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

BEREE B ERBER(E)

&R (E)
BRi5 B R FREER (&)

RAEERBEERAMLELTEZNES
BUWREREREEMS @ EREE
B b 3 — 2 A K 9 Bl RS B 75 R 3% B
18N 20 FE -

*  RWERBERFTAENRE - EMEK
REMEMEENSREEFEER
EZEcREESYRBH AYEE
HETEREENEERRB VT
BARKEIZNFHRRBIER] - &
H eRMEENEEERREA/IA
5t e

HRASEERERAREBRIFNSE
ZHETRS REERRETEER -
SERBR I FEEAKFTNER -

EHEASEMEERE S EINHIE - E4
ERFERERAEEEEANEFEERR
WE—FTEEEED IR BERERME
18~ 19 K204 5%
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 HERBEEEERKRE(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk RBESRR

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and REEERERERFAEEREEERAR
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management RORERBFEEEBMKT  UREE
of the Group to finance the operations and mitigate RtEekREReRERSHRRE

the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as RBEBR - BREBESAORBERAR - K
at the end of reporting period, based on the contractual SEeRABEMNIEHERNAT
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group 31 December 2024
A58 20245128318
Less than 3t0 12 Over
Ondemand 3 months months 1 to 3 years 3 years Total

BEX OR3ER 3E2(8R 1E3F  3FNUL st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTIR AR®TR AR%T:R

Trade payables ESENTE 2,708 13,910 - - - 16,618
Lease liabilities HERE - 1431 3,827 6,833 775 12,866
Due to a related party R —2 AR 82 - - - - 82
Financial liabilities included in sTARMERTIER

other payables and accruals EitBRMERAE 5,939 - - - - 5,939
Total b 8,729 15,341 3,827 6,833 775 35,505
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 H¥EMRESEBEERBEE(E)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) nBESRER(E)

Group 31 December 2023
A&HE 2023F12 A31H
Less than 3t0 12 Over
Ondemand 3 months months  1to 3 years 3 years Total
BEX SR3@A 3Z2128R  1E3F  3FNLE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR%TR AR%TR ARETE
Trade payables ESENTE 1,981 11,128 - - - 13,109
Lease liabilities BERE - 1,170 3,640 7,162 3,545 15,517
Due to related parties FE(S R 7 SR 432 - - - - 432
Financial liabilities included in STARMERTER
other payables and accruals B ERNERAR 3,966 - - - - 3,966
Total b 6,379 12,298 3,640 7,162 3,545 33,024

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

ERERE
AEEEAEENTIEZAER/RELRE
BRHEQCENENLERBRENEANL
R PUXFHEEBMEANCRRER -

REERBEEGRGNELCRIEBEE
ZEBEBEEEEARBIHHET
AE - BERNAREAEE  A5H
AREART N TFTREMNRKRS - REES
FRELZFETHRG - AEBTZEM
SNEBEMOERNFZTRKARG - REZE
20245 202312 A3 BIEFE - &
BEAHWEBERE BRIEFBETRE
1t »
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total equity,
was 14.4% as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: approximately 13.9%). The gearing ratios as at
the end of reporting period were as follows:

B EkEEE R ERBER (&)

EARAEE(E)
AEEUNEARBBELRERERN BX
BREEDNEREBERINBERSTES
&£ R 2024512 A31HA14.4% (2023
F12A31H:413.9%) - RIREHK
BEABELERNT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETTT

Total liability YN 102,089 97,287

Total equity R 708,807 700,454

Gearing ratio BERBREEE 14.4% 13.9%
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 36. HEHEREE

No significant events that require additional disclosure
or adjustments occurred after the reporting period.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. A2 RIE#EARRE
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

BREARRARNHRE RN BAM AR

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as BERAT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 5 -
Investment in a subsidiary R—RHBRAMIRE - -
Total non-current assets IEREBEERE 5 =
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, other receivables TARNFRIA - H it U FRIA
and other assets NHEMEE 2,107 36,051
Due from subsidiaries AN E 159,259 180,420
Cash and cash equivalents ReERAEEZEEY 34,309 33,450
Time deposits EBTE R 372,588 344,028
Total current assets MENEELE 568,263 593,949
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBEREFER 188 3
Due to subsidiaries JEAS B /B R B ZRIE 212,957 232,084
Total current liabilities MBI B EESR 213,145 232,087
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 355,118 361,862
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REERE 355,123 361,862
Net assets EEFE 355,123 361,862
EQUITY iz #E
Share capital [N 30,384 30,384
Treasury shares JERER N gp) (207,535) (179,098)
Reserves (note) e (M) 532,274 510,576
Total equity s 355,123 361,862
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31 December 2024
2024 12 A31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

37. RRBMBIRRR(E)

Note: B &E -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RAGIEEBEOBEAT
Share Retained
premium profits Total
i1 5= B REE & A BET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 477,339 28,662 506,001
Total comprehensive income FAZEBALRE
for the year - 20,328 20,328
Dividend declared and paid RN AR B = (15,753) (15,753)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 12 A318 K
1 January 2024 20241 A1 H 477,339 33,237 510,576
Total comprehensive income FAZEBALRE
for the year - 91,203 91,203
Dividend declared and paid TR &SRS = (69,505) (69,505)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H 477,339 54,935 532,274

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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IIAlII
[Al]

" Al-MDT”

[AlI-MDT |

" Acquisition”

[ SIE |

"“Articles of Association”

[HEA =240

“Audit Committee”
[EBEZEET]

“Board”

-
"B2C”

[B2C ]

"CG Code”

[exEA~T Al

“China” or “PRC"

[ e

DEFINITIONS

artificial intelligence
ALE R

artificial intelligence multi-disciplinary treatment, it refers to the
customized health management solution we provide for medical
examination users, which uses Al technology to conduct multi-
disciplinary comprehensive analysis and evaluation of medical
examination reports of medical examination users

ALBRZEaRERMABRAPEREN TSRS EARAT
- EMBARMEERAPNEBRREETZENES DITERT

oF

the acquisition of 50.6% equity interests in the Zhonghui Medical
held directly and indirectly by the Foshan Heheng Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (1L & ERERE SR DEBRER)),
pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement and the Partnership Property
Share Transfer Agreement
BRIBREEZERENEBOEVENRE R R - WEHILSBERE
REGREXR(BRER) B LERFANTEERES0.6% kg

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
ARG AEBEZMA (BCRRER])

the audit committee of the Board
EEETRNEZLZES

the board of Directors

R

Business-to-Customer, selling products and services directly to
consumers

Business-to-Customer * B HEAHEE HEE R MRS

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules
LR AIMER C1 TR T ATA

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report
only and except where the context requires otherwise, references in
this annual report to “China” or “PRC" do not include Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

mEARANE - BERKTFHINE RRIMNEXERT - LNERFR
WIRIR[ R E ] - HAEEEE - RFISHNTRERRGE
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DEFINITIONS

“CHIS"

728 ] &

"

“Connected Person(s)

[EEAL ¥
"CPEQ”

[FAEe ] ¥
“Company”

[T ¥

“Contractual Arrangements”

[ & %% HE ] 5
“CMB”
[CMB] 5

Chinese Health Industry Intelligence Information System, one of
the Group’s SaaS products that provides customers with industry
information inquiry, retail data inquiry, drug database and other
functions

TEREEXRTRIBERRAS  AEE —RSaaSEm * RELIERHET
REAEH  TEWBBRENR  EnBBESHE

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules
ET R BIRE T R &

Health Industry (International) Ecological Conference, China’s health
industry forward-looking ecological conference

REEX(BR)ERAS  PRRFEEXNEENERSE

Sinohealth Holdings Limited, an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 March 2019 and registered as
a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
on 7 July 2021

REEERBER AR - —RKR2019F3 4B EHS S TMA A
EHRRERAR]  URBERRFRAE 16510 2021F7 A7 BEM B
FEBERQR]

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by Zhongkang
Technology, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE
Shareholders and the Other VIE Shareholders, as applicable, on 8 June
2021 and 6 May 2022, the details of which are described in the section
headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus of the Company
A ER - PEEMNMEMB AR - A2 50 B AR & A th A] &
MR BEBRE(NER)N2021F6 A8H K2022F 56 BFIH)
—RINEHLH  FRAHBR2HARNRRBRERIGOTH | —&

A platform launched in 2023 by a research team from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, Shenzhen. It serves as a benchmark for
evaluating Chinese medical question-answering systems, with an aim
to provide a standardized assessment platform for the performance of
large language models (LLMs) in the medical field
ZFERHBEERXARZBORIDARBEER 2023 FHEHAHT XES
FEFFRAEE  EE/AUESTER (LLMs) £ B2 REHRHTEL
HEFA
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”CRO"

[ & R FTA

“Digital human”

[#F A

“Equity Transfer Agreement”

[ B2 R W

"Director(s)"”

[E%]

“DTP”

[DTP]

"

“Eligible Participant

“FY2023"
[2023 81 4F ]

“FY2024"
[2024 84 4F ]

DEFINITIONS

Contract Research Organization, An academic or commercial scientific
institution that provides specialized services in the research and
development process of basic medicine and clinical medicine for
pharmaceutical enterprises, medical institutions, small and medium-sized
medical device R&D enterprises and other institutions through contract
EREMEAS  RAGRTARKRELK BERE T/ BEERE
EMMECERERBEARBENGABZEMHBETREZTERLR
BH — 2 sk R TR 2

A virtual human figure resembling a real person simulated by computer

technology
BEAERRMEREREL —EARUEANERATER

Equity Transfer Agreement of Zhonghui Medical dated 5 February
2024 entered into between Sinohealth Information, a subsidiary of the
Group and the Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (L & ERERE S B E(BRE )
TEEM(AEENB AR BEILSEREREAREX(ARER)
20242 A5 BRIV WP EBRBRESZ =

the director(s) of the Company
RARIES

The direct-to-patient pharmacy model refers to the model in which
patients purchase drugs directly from pharmacies and receive
professional guidance and services after obtaining prescriptions from
hospitals

BEEEMBENEERS  ABEEBREGEHE  REEEER
BEmMmITESEEEGERBHOER

any individual being an Employee Participant, Related Entity Participant
or Service Provider, provided such person is not a connected person of
the Group

EHAEE20EE  HHEEB2EEXRBEERENEA - BZALL
FEAREBMMBAEAL

\

financial year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12 A31 BNV HRFE

financial year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12 A31 BB KRERE
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344 DEFINITIONS

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong public offering and international offering of the Shares

[E2IREE] ¥ BRIPHNBEAREE NBEREE

“Group” or “We" the Company and its subsidiaries

[ANE=E 5kl F i ¥ RARRHENEBE AR

"HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

(%] EREEE®BET

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[&#E ] R EEBRRTTHER

“ISO" International Organization for Standardization

[soJ B BR AR R (L AR Ak

“Lingtong” one of the products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment,
which is a digital marketing empowerment system that helps customers
efficiently formulate deployment strategies, improve deployment
efficiency, track marketing effects in real time and collect feed-back on
decision-making

[ <R | BPEEARREXBKRBEET —REm > EPHEFSHHERMER
&~ RRITIRABURR - BIRF IR S SH AR - RIMARK A BT & Al aE
/\%ﬁ

“Listing Date” 12 July 2022, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
and from which dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on
the Stock Exchange

[ EmEH] 20227 128 » B ER A £ MR E A B % B ERAE
B X P E B B B

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

[EmR 8]

"MASC”

[X2g

“Model Code”

e UN

B praE s LR A

Health Traffic Conference, our conference platform focused on traffic
research and value interaction

RERERERNS  BMAERNFINREREREERENGZET
AN

=

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRBIMER CIFAE EHEITAEFETES X HNRETH
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“Medbench”

[ Medbench 5
“NLP”

[NLP | 5

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZ B2 5
“020"
[020] 5

“Partnership Property Share
Transfer Agreement”

[EREXMENTE i
R

DEFINITIONS

A ranking and assessment platform for LLMs jointly launched by
Shanghai Artificial Intelligence Laboratory (Shanghai Al Lab) and
Shanghai Digital Medicine Innovation Center. It leverages the expertise
and knowledge reserves of top medical institutions to provide
comprehensive, professional and scientific performance evaluation
benchmarks for Chinese medical LLMs
ZEBERLBAIERERE(LBAERE)HE LEMBTESZE
M OBSEHNBERARINTATE  KEBREREENER
REBRNARGEE  RPNBREARUREHR2E - X - BEELE
A2ZE

Natural Language Processing, an interdisciplinary subject in the fields
of computer science, artificial intelligence and linguistics. It mainly
studies how to make computers have the ability to understand, process,
generate and simulate human language, so as to realize natural dialogue
with humans. Through natural language processing technology,
machine translation, question answering system, sentiment analysis, text
summarization and other applications can be realized

BAEBSTRE FTEMRNE  ATERMNEs AN —ERXXE
B FEMRNAIEAEHEEIER  BIE - ARAERAEZEEN
Be - WMBREARETEAYE - BBEEABTRERIM - AT
BHKEE  HEES  BRONT  XAREBEZEER

the nomination committee of the Board
BEEETRNIERELEE

Online To Offline, a form of transaction in which goods or services are
booked or placed online and delivered offline

Online To Offline * BMERIELR LTAFI K T B - F T ERRTH
—RBR TN

Property Share Transfer Agreement of Guangzhou Kanghui Caizhi
Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) dated 5
February 2024 entered into between the Sinohealth Information, a
subsidiary of the Group, and the the Foshan Heheng Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (L& B EIR E G B E(BRER))
PEREM(AEEMBLR) BHILSEREREAREE(ERER)
MR2024F2 ASBEIUHMBMNERENEEXEESREX(BERE
BMENREZ R
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DEFINITIONS

“PHCF"
L=
“Prospectus”

[ARER]

“Remuneration Committee’

B

“Reporting Period”
[ & B

"RMB”
[ARH ]

“S3aS"

[SaaS|

MSCRM "

[ERBEFRARERE ]

" SFO”

[E5 R AE D

“Share Option Scheme”
[RERRERT 2l )

“Share Award Scheme”

[t 2R =t & ]

U

Pharma & Healthcare Conference and Fair, our event held for healthcare
industry players

BERMXZIAE  RARRREXZ2EHESERNEDY

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2022 in connection with
the Global Offering
AARIAEA2022F 6 A28 BAMEHREENRRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXg MRNFHEES

Twelve months ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31HIt+=

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

FEEEERARRE

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery
model in which software and associated data are centrally hosted

B ENARTS - — R B IR S AR R - S MR SR AT E
& 1F

Social Customer Relationship Management, engaging with customers
through social media and use technology to disseminate, capture and
analyze customer data to discover customer needs and maintain long-
term customer relationships. Emphasizes customer engagement and
two-way interaction more than traditional Customer Relationship
Management

HRAEFAFRER  BEMRXERBRETFES  MARMFRE
- ERMOMEFEE  NERELFRUMEFRIANT SR -
RESREFPHAAEERATF2ENERE S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
BRENEST EFHRAERS

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 27 April 2022
RRBR2022F 4 A 27 BERAHBRE 2

the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 5 December 2022
ARRAFR 2022 F 12 A 5 BERMH XD 2B+ &
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“Share(s)"”

[ Btn |

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ A% 3R |

“SIC”

[SIC]

“Sinohealth Information”

[FFERER]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B8 52 Ffr |

“tertiary hospitals”

[ =F %&b

“TMEC”

[FREEARK

iz

|

At

“Top List of the Most
Promising Artificial
Intelligence Enterprises
in Guangzhou”

[N EERE N
ATEGEEEEE |

DEFINITIONS

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of US$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company
RARRAFFIREEO0.01 ETH L HEAA

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EESTEDN

One of the SaaS products within the Group’s Smart Retail Cloud
business segment, that provide pharmacies with comprehensive services
such as operation management, membership management, category
management, smart marketing, chronic disease management and
pharmaceutical services.

AEEEETEEEXBKRM—NSaaSEm * REERHELEERE -
S8EE  mBEEE TRl BREE  BEERBFHESMURS

Guangzhou Sinohealth Information Co., Ltd (BN EEAKDBRA
A]), a joint stock company with limited liability established in the PRC on
20 December 2007 and deemed to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
BMAEERBRNDBRAT - —FKR2007F12 420 BEFBEKIL
WD BRATF - RIBENLHHEER/RRARNEZENBE AR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARSMARAT

tertiary-grade A class hospitals, which belong to the highest level in
the classification of hospitals pursuant to the classification of medical
institutions in accordance with China’s existing Hospital Classification
Management Measures and other regulations

2HE=AFEFELR  KRTPBERKBEROREERE)FNHREE D
MWEBEMERR - ERBREREDPHZRSRA

the whole industry chain ecological conference we held for the Chinese
medicine market segment

BASTHPEEAIMERNNEEXRBERAE

the top list of the most promising artificial intelligence enterprises in
Guangzhou under the guidance of Guangzhou Science and Technology
Bureau and selected by Guangzhou Technology Financial Group

EEMMHMERMBEENAENNMREBREEFTENEMNFZEA
BRENDANIBECEEE
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DEFINITIONS

“Trust”

M5+t

“Trustee”

[ZFEA

“US$”

=

“VIE Shareholders”
(AT S ERBARR

"Yilingtong”

“Zhongkang Technology”

[P EERH

“Zhonghui Medical”

[PEEE

u%u

[% ]

the trust constituted by the Trust Deed
HIEERIBBK (ST

Futu Trustee Limited, a professional trustee appointed under the Trust
Deed to act as trustee of the Trust

BRERARAR  REGARBHRIDR/EEITANERZTA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

KXBEEEE®RT

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, being the registered shareholders
of Sinohealth Information

REFAELEREFFTLL - IRREMNELKRE

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Retail Cloud business segment,
which provides customers with integrated contents including customized
data-driven marketing solution, improving deployment efficiency,
tracking marketing effects in real time and collecting feedback on
decision-making

BHEEZTEEEBRME —KSaaSEm - REFPRERESEEHIBIE
SRE) L HARA TR - RARMHR - AIRRME HIRERBAKSE

—BIERAT

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (BN E&F
B AR A A, a company established in the PRC with limited liability
on 8 April 2019, which is directly owned as to 100% by Sinohealth
Technology Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
BINPREFRRBRLAAF - —KMN2019F 4 A8 B EF BIAIZH
ARAF > HPEREZEMSBRAREEFSE100% #Ea @ REAEE
WEZEE2EME QT

Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical Technology Company Limited (/&2
BRI AR AR, a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 28 December 2021, a subsidiary of the Group
BEMPEEEMRAERAR  —KN2021412 A28 AEF B
WERAR - KEAEBEHMHEAQR]

Percent

Bt

Sinohealth Holdings Limited | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



|

Sinohealth Hidg

PERIEIR
EEBRERARF

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

Al



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	核心財務及運營數據
	財務摘要
	董事長致辭
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告 
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告 
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註 
	釋義
	封底



